

## Working time options over the life course: Changing social security structures



Working time options over the life course: Changing social security structures

**Authors:** Ute Klammer and Saskia Keuzenkamp, in collaboration with Inmaculada Cebrián, Colette Fagan, Christina Klenner and Gloria Moreno.

Coordinators: Dominique Anxo and Jean-Yves Boulin

**Research Institute:** Centre for European Labour Market Studies HB (CELMS HB), Gothenburg, Sweden.

**Foundation project:** A new organisation of time over working life **Research Manager:** Hubert Krieger and Robert Anderson



## Working time options over the life course: Changing social security structures

Cataloguing data can be found at the end of this publication

Luxembourg: Office for Official Publications of the European Communities, 2005

ISBN 92-897-0925-1

© European Foundation for the Improvement of Living and Working Conditions, 2005

For rights of translation or reproduction, applications should be made to the Director, European Foundation for the Improvement of Living and Working Conditions, Wyattville Road, Loughlinstown, Dublin 18, Ireland.

The European Foundation for the Improvement of Living and Working Conditions is an autonomous body of the European Union, created to assist in the formulation of future policy on social and work-related matters. Further information can be found on the Foundation website at www.eurofound.eu.int.

European Foundation for the Improvement of Living and Working Conditions Wyattville Road Loughlinstown Dublin 18 Ireland Telephone: (+353 1) 204 31 00 Fax: (+353 1) 282 42 09 / 282 64 56 Email: postmaster@eurofound.eu.int www.eurofound.eu.int

Printed in Denmark

## Foreword

How can employees manage better the conflicting time constraints which surface in the middle of their life (the so-called 'rush hour of life') – time for having and raising children, caring for dependants, investing in lifelong learning, building a house and progressing in their career? How can they avoid a further shrinking of their working life as a result of later entry into and earlier exit from the labour market, with the ensuing negative consequences for their quality of life and for the economic sustainability of social security systems?

With the Lisbon Agenda, the European Union has committed itself to a fundamental reform process. This includes, among other things, a restructuring of its labour markets, social security systems and working time regimes. In the light of this policy orientation, the Foundation has undertaken an exploration of the implications arising from such a re-shaping of time, income and social security provisions over an individual's life course.

A life course policy perspective explores the possibilities of saving and spending time and income over the life course, with the possibility of shifting larger amounts between various life phases. Additional policy instruments cover tax, education, housing and training. Using this life course approach, it is possible to develop more sophisticated and targeted policies to cope with new and diverse work biographies through a restructuring of working time arrangements and related income and social security provisions.

It is clear that a life course approach can open up a new intellectual arena for a discussion of the reform of labour markets and social security systems within the remit of the Lisbon Agenda. We trust that this report can add some substance to the on-going debate on the necessary social innovations in European societies at the beginning of the third millennium.

Willy Buschak Acting Director

## Contents

Foreword		v
Introduction		1
	Policy context	1
	The life course perspective	2
	Key objectives of report	4
	Data and methodology	5
	Overview of Foundation research into the life course	7
1 – Welfare sta	ate regimes and working time options	9
	Different welfare state regimes	9
2 – Institutiona	al framework for working time arrangements	21
	Life phase-specific working time options	25
	Working time options for the whole life course	30
	Combined working time options in selected countries	40
	Conclusions	41
3 – Flexible wo	orking time options, income and social security	45
	Employment interruptions	45
	Part-time work	54
	Flexible distribution of working time	58
	Contribution of social security to household income over life course	60
4 – Flexible wo	orking time options and social security systems	65
	Employment interruptions	65
	Part-time work	67
	Flexible distribution of working time	74
5 – Adapting s	ocial security to flexible life courses	77
	Summary	77
	Policy implications	80
Bibliography		83
Appendix	Working time options in six European countries	87

## Introduction

This report contributes to the ongoing debate on necessary social innovations in European societies at the beginning of the third millennium. One new idea centres on the development of an analytical and normative life course approach and the development of integrated life course policies in Europe. This issue has been taken up in the context of a research programme initiated by the European Foundation for the Improvement of Living and Working Conditions (hereafter called 'the Foundation') on 'A new organisation of time over working life' and the possible positive repercussions on the quality of life of employees in Europe. The specific focus of this report is on institutional arrangements of available working time options and their effect on the social security system.

#### **Policy context**

Within the Lisbon Agenda, the European Union (EU) has committed itself to a fundamental reform process. This includes, among other things, a reform of its labour markets, social security systems and working time regimes. The reform process is accompanied with hopes, but also with a degree of anxiety and uncertainty:

- hopes to adapt the basic principles of the European social model of solidarity, social justice and competitiveness to the challenges of EU enlargement, globalisation and increased competition, demographic change, an emerging knowledge society, a feminisation of employment, and more pluralistic and individualistic life styles;
- anxiety and uncertainty with regard to an increasing risk of unemployment and, in particular, frequent and/or long-term unemployment, income poverty, deprived living conditions and social exclusion.

European policymakers are nowadays confronted with the twin challenge of increased complexity of the necessary reform agenda and reduced room for manoeuvre of public policy. The latter is mainly due to the enhanced influence of multinational companies operating in worldwide integrated markets for goods, services and capital, as well as the extent of public debts accumulated in many developed countries after World War II. Within the discourse on the reform agenda, this report provides a contribution on one important aspect – the development of a new time and working time policy over the life course.

In such a situation, public policy is looking for intelligent inputs to the social reform agenda, aiming at a win-win-win scenario for employees (citizens), companies and the state. Inputs to this agenda should provide:

- sustainable solutions based on a holistic and analytical approach, recognising the important role of time and creating an early warning system for unintended effects;
- realistic and effective policy proposals that increase the room for manoeuvre of the welfare state by achieving high levels of employment, financial sustainability of the social security system and reduction of public debt;
- visible prospects of improving the quality of life of people in active employment by combining more effectively demands from paid work with demands from private life during the whole life course;

• a 'new deal' combining sufficient flexibility and competitiveness of companies with higher levels of flexibility and employment/income security for workers.

Responding to this agenda, some 'think tanks' and forward-looking decision-makers in government and social partner organisations around Europe have discovered (or rediscovered, in some cases) the usefulness of an analytical life course approach and of integrated life course policies for the reorganisation of time, income and social security provision over the life course. This life course approach is seen as an instrument to increase an understanding of complex and dynamic processes in the labour market and its long-term interrelation with the social security system over the whole work-life biography.

Using this life course approach, it is possible to develop more sophisticated and targeted policies to cope with new and diverse work biographies through a restructuring of working time arrangements and related income and social security provisions. It provides preventive and holistic policies giving a positive input to the protracted reform debate in Europe, which is often accompanied by defensive 'status quo' thinking and worries about the future of a solidarity-based European social model. Thus, a life course approach can open up a new intellectual arena for a fruitful discussion of the reform of labour markets and social security systems within the remit of the Lisbon Agenda.

#### The life course perspective

The life course perspective, rooted within very different academic traditions, is an analytical framework that aims to highlight the developmental and dynamic components of human lives, institutions and organisations. One of the main features of the life course approach is to acknowledge the crucial role that time (in its various dimensions) plays in the understanding of individual behaviour and structural changes in society. Another important dimension of the life course approach is its attempt to take a holistic view, in that the analysis no longer focuses on specific events, phases or demographic groups as being discrete and fixed, but rather considers the entire life trajectory as the basic framework for policy analysis and evaluation.

Hence, to take a life course perspective is to acknowledge that time and history are core concepts and that individuals, households and institutions are subject to change over time. It is also a way of recognising that time is a social construction and that both the collective representation of time and the way in which modern societies shape the sequence and timing of major life events (such as education, employment, marriage, childbirth, retirement) are rooted in existing social norms, values and the prevailing institutional structure. The major implication of such an approach is that life courses are both individually and socially constructed and therefore subject to historical change.

In addition, a life course perspective supports an integrated policy approach on, for example, work–life balance – one that goes beyond a specific life phase perspective or an approach focusing solely on the work–family interrelation. Such a policy covers the whole life course and should integrate all relevant life domains (including initial education and training, lifelong learning, care for children and older people, voluntary work, etc). It considers the possibilities of saving and spending time and income over the life course, with the possibility of shifting larger amounts

between various life phases. Additional policy instruments cover tax, education, housing and training. The overarching logic of this life course approach suggests a general policy shift to more preventive and enabling policies, instead of reactive and passive income-support policies.

The report focuses within this wider framework on the important aspect of the reorganisation of time, income and social security provisions over the life course. It responds to challenges for policymakers by providing innovative solutions to vigorously discussed policy issues, including:

- How to enable employees to better manage conflicting time demands in the middle of their life course (the so-called 'rush hour of life') for having children, caring for dependants, investing in lifelong learning, building a house and starting a career?
- How to avoid a further compression of the working life course through later entry into and earlier exit from the labour market, and its negative impact on the quality of life of employees and on the financial sustainability of social security systems?
- How to respond to the higher participation of women in paid employment and the destandardisation of the 'male breadwinner' model?
- How to reform working time options in order to support new work biographies more effectively?
- Identifying to what extent the current patterns of labour market integration and working time profiles over the life course affect the sustainability of social protection systems, and how to adapt these systems to the new demographic and socio-economic constraints?
- Identifying to what extent the national design of the social protection system (in terms of incentives and disincentives) establishes different incentive structures for households' patterns of labour market integration and working time profiles over the life course?
- How to respond to the growing heterogeneity of life styles, individual needs and preferences in the wake of the individualisation process, coupled with more erratic employment trajectories, and how to avoid the outcome of collective policies and public interventions becoming less predictable, more complex and uncertain?

The current reforms of the social protection systems of EU Member States – particularly the various reforms of pension systems initiated in several European countries and the EU employment strategy as designed during the Lisbon, Stockholm and Barcelona summits<sup>1</sup> – are primarily intended to cope with the imbalances mainly by influencing labour supply, time and income allocation over the life course. One of the major objectives of these reforms is to increase the overall employment rate, which, among other things, requires an increased participation of female workers and older workers. In several Member States with traditional gender divisions of labour, such a policy has to be complemented by a proactive policy that allows men and women to better balance their work and family commitments and enables older workers to remain in employment.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> More explicitly, the four pillars adopted as guidelines for the employment policy in Luxembourg (1997), in particular the issues related to employability, adaptability and gender/equal opportunity. The conclusions adopted during the Lisbon Summit (2000) clearly linked the economic and social development of Europe and the enhancement of its international competitiveness to the development of a knowledge-based society. The guidelines adopted during the Barcelona Summit (2001) were to increase the employment rate of men and women. These documents highlight the prominent role that time allocation plays in the development of a knowledge-based society (noticeably through the concept of lifelong learning) in a context of changing work organisation and ageing of the European population, as well as the necessity to rethink the gender roles in a context of changing family structures.

In this report, much emphasis is placed on empirical evidence of the effect of working time options over the life course and their impact on social security arrangements. Two main dimensions are covered – the effect on an individual's income and social protection, and the effect on the financial sustainability of the social protection system.

The concept of the life course perspective is not new within the social security debate; in fact, it has played an important role since the 1960s. However it has recently regained attention in the context of demographic change, changing work biographies and the discussions on a new organisation of time (and income) throughout working life.

Some of the European Commission's more recent strategies and publications explicitly or implicitly take up the life course perspective. For example, highlighting such concepts as lifelong learning and active ageing, the Commission's 2003 text on guidelines for the employment policies of Member States (referring also to the joint report from the Commission and the Council, *Increasing labour force participation and promoting active ageing*, adopted on 7 March 2002), states: 'This requires developing comprehensive national strategies based on a life course approach'.

Seen from the employee's perspective, it is crucial to look at the long-term effects of time options and time arrangements (e.g. the impact of working time changes, of voluntary or involuntary interruptions in the employment career, of unpaid work) on the actual state and the further development of his or her social protection. Spending a certain period of time in a flexible or parttime job might have hardly any impact on one's social protection in one country, but may have a great impact in another country. Moreover, within one single country, it might not leave any trace in some employees' social protection, but might lead to dead-end roads and poverty for other groups of employees. Only when the dynamic dimension of time is included in the analysis does the impact of different time arrangements on one's social protection become obvious. Hence, the reforms of social protection systems ought to consider the diversity in the patterns of labour market integration over the life course and the uneven distribution of risks, by limiting the cost of necessary work interruptions linked to parenting and care activities, or involuntary employment disruptions such as unemployment, disability or sickness.

#### Key objectives of report

The objectives of this report are threefold:

- Firstly, relevant working time options are described and analysed. Working time options are the prevailing institutional and legal possibilities (e.g. statutory regulations, collective agreements, etc) to opt for various working time patterns, such as reduced full-time hours, part-time work, extended leave for family or educational reasons, and flexible arrangements including working time accounts. Working time options are taken up and applied by households and companies within their working time arrangements. The report distinguishes between working time options relevant for specific life phases and those relevant for several life phases or for the whole working life course. In addition, it identifies a design of working time options conducive to an employee perspective.
- Secondly, the report examines working time options and their effect on income and social security of the individual or family. Three groups of relevant issues are discussed: interruption of work biography, reduced working hours and flexible working schemes.

Thirdly, focus is placed on the financial sustainability of social security systems and the interrelationship with individual or combined working time options. The analysis follows the same logic as in the second step.

The final part of the report provides a summary of the main results and elaborates a series of policy implications.

#### Data and methodology

This study focuses on a sample of six European countries – France, Germany, the Netherlands, Spain, Sweden and the United Kingdom. These cover a wide spectrum of the potential societal systems, with variations in labour market characteristics, welfare state regimes, gender relations, level of participation and working time patterns. As the selected countries diverge significantly in terms of social protection systems, working time and gender regimes, they illustrate the impact of the institutional structure on the gender division of paid work and income development over the life course.

In order to properly identify the current patterns of working time options, working time arrangements and income development over the life course, the report provides an analytical framework of household types based on a mix between ageing and changes in household composition (marital status, parental status). This sequencing of major life events makes it possible to visualise and identify major transitions over time and therefore to compare the patterns of labour market integration, working time arrangements and income developments over the life course. The current situation of these different households is compared using harmonised cross-sectional data taken from the ECHP.<sup>2</sup> The cross-country variations in the life course profile of employment trajectories and working time patterns can then be related to the prevailing legal, institutional and social framework, with a particular focus on gender, working time and social protection regimes, as well as on companies' human resource management strategies.

In order to limit the number of cases, the countries are sometimes clustered into broad 'employment' and 'welfare state' regimes, taking into account the regulations of working time (parttime, career breaks, etc) and the legal possibilities of redistributing working time and income during different life phases. Analysing the extent of labour market integration over the life course across different employment and welfare state regimes might be a good way of isolating the role of the overall institutional framework on time and income distribution over the life course. By linking the various regulatory and social protection systems to the country's current time allocation patterns, it is possible to assess the impact of the overall institutional framework on time allocation over the life course.

This methodological choice has consisted of selecting a range of household categories coinciding with different transitions and phases in the life course, namely:

 transition out of the parental home and entry into the labour market (young single people without children);

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Longitudinal data that takes into account past events ('event history') as well as the current situation is required for some types of life course analysis, but not for the focus of this study. This methodological issue is discussed further in Chapter 1.

- union formation (cohabiting couples without children);
- parenting (differentiating couples according to the age of children);
- mid-life 'empty nest' period (middle-aged couples without cohabiting children);
- elderly phase and exit out of the labour market (couples older than 60 years of age).

Although this simulated life course approach is not longitudinal and is mainly based on the last available data from the European Community Household Panel (ECHP) in 2000,<sup>3</sup> it can serve as a heuristic device and a first approximation to identify cross-country differences in the patterns of labour market transitions and integration over the life course, and to assess the influence of the societal context on the prevailing gender division of labour. However, one needs to be cautious in interpreting the results and to bear in mind the usual drawbacks associated with cross-sectional analysis, in particular the difficulties of disentangling age, group and period effects.

Life course analysis requires a careful and explicit treatment of stages and critical events. As mentioned previously, the growing heterogeneity of individual trajectories makes it increasingly complex to analyse the life course in a consistent and predictive way by using a predetermined sequence of life phases.

In its initial formulation, the traditional family cycle approach coincided with a historical period characterised by an apparent homogeneity and stability of household behaviour regarding household formation and development over the life span (Glick, 1947). The normative dimension of the family cycle approach also corresponded with norms and values dominantly prevailing during the 1950-60s in Western countries. This conceptualisation of life course, which assumes a 'natural sequence' of predetermined stages in a family's progression from marriage to widowhood, as well as its focus on the 'nuclear family', has been increasingly criticised. Recent developments – such as the increase of consensual unions, growing instability of marriage, increasing importance of reconstituted families (step-families and also cohabiting couples with children from previous unions) and lone-parent households – clearly reveal that household composition and the timing of transitions are social constructions and, therefore, subject to historical change, and that the traditional family cycle approach suffers from serious conceptual drawbacks.

Despite its limitations, the variant and extension of the traditional family cycle model used in this study presents some advantages in a cross-country comparative perspective. The schematic representation of the life course is based on a sequence of stages related to household formation and transformation over the life course. The report distinguishes eight major life stages:

- young childless single people (under 36 years);
- young couples (women under 40 years old) without children;
- couples with pre-school children (under seven years old);
- couples with the youngest child aged between seven and 12 years;
- couples with the youngest child aged between 13 and 17 years;
- couples with cohabiting children older than 18 years;

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> In a prior analysis, two years of the ECHP (1995 and 2000) were selected and compared, but the differences in the patterns of labour market integration and income development were not significant.

- mid-life couples without cohabiting children ('empty nest'), women older than 40 and under 60 years old;
- older couples without cohabiting children, where both spouses are older than 60 years.

#### Overview of Foundation research into the life course

The 2001–2005 Foundation project, A new organisation of time over working life, has looked into the development of an analytical life course approach with the aim of defining an integrated life course policy. When it concludes, the work will have resulted in the publication of four reports.

The first phase of the research produced a report entitled *A new organisation of time over working life* (Naegele *et al*, 2003). This report placed the debate about the new organisation of individual time within a European policy perspective. It developed an analytical framework for different time options, showing how these can contribute significantly to a better quality of life. Giving an overview of innovative developments in selected EU Member States, it focused in particular on time policies in the Netherlands and Denmark.

The second phase of research generated two reports. The first is the present report, which analyses the institutional arrangements of relevant working time options from a life course perspective and their effects on social security arrangements.

A second report (the third in the series) will also be published, and will provide concrete examples of the new organisation of time throughout working life by analysing different innovative work biographies and new company practices which have responded to the challenge.

Finally, to complete the research, an integrated report will present a policy-oriented summary based on the first three reports and on other relevant research results in the field.

# Welfare state regimes and working time options

The following discussion aims at investigating time options and arrangements over the life course against the background of existing social protection schemes. An attempt is made to answer the question whether typical patterns can be found in different welfare state regimes and which regimes seem to be more favourable in terms of a new, more flexible organisation of time over working life. The discussion starts with a description of the general relations between welfare states, working time options/arrangements and social security. This is followed by an examination in which working time options/arrangements, as well as some relevant labour market indicators, are linked to the different European welfare state regimes.

#### Different welfare state regimes

The relationships between working time options/arrangements and social security differ from country to country. The field to be analysed can be described as a triangle, as illustrated in Figure 1.

As regards the different countries and the time options they offer (relation 1 in Figure 1), this topic is central to Chapter 2 of this report in which the relation between countries and the take-up of different time options is discussed in detail. To illustrate 'relation 1' of Figure 1, Tables 1–8 analyse different options and arrangements according to welfare state regime.<sup>4</sup> The selection of data is based on the assumption that, besides the existence of and individual access to working time schemes and exit schemes, additional factors must be examined. These factors include the general (and gender-specific) employment and unemployment rates, and the way in which young people entering the labour market and older people close to retirement are integrated into the workforce, as well as 'enabling' factors for employment, such as childcare facilities.



Figure 1 Working time options and social security in different welfare states

Source: Authors' illustration.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Following the typology of Esping-Andersen (1990), with later extension to include the Mediterranean type.

As Tables 1–8 reveal, the different welfare state regimes show remarkable differences as far as the labour market integration over the life course is concerned. It can be assumed that a part of the cross-regime disparities can be ascribed to institutional factors, such as the existence of leave options and the availability of childcare (see also Klammer and Daly, 2003; Anxo, 2004).

#### Scandinavian welfare regime

As Table 1 shows, in the EU Member States belonging to the Scandinavian welfare state regime (i.e. Sweden, Denmark and Finland, and to some extent the Netherlands), a high labour market integration of the male and in particular female workforce over the whole period of working life is characteristic (employment rate of about three-quarters of all citizens aged 15-64 years). This aligns with relatively low unemployment rates (2002).<sup>5</sup> A high proportion of young people (15-24 years) are integrated into the labour market, particularly in Denmark and the Netherlands. Among Swedish, Danish and Finnish couples, less than one in five households are one-earner households. Except for the Netherlands, part-time rates are moderate, and part time usually means 'long' or 'regular' part time (i.e. not a 'marginal' or 'short' part-time job with a small number of working hours).

Table 1	Employment,	gender	models	of	working	time	and	childcare	provisions	in	the
	Scandinavian welfare state regime										

Employment rates (% of population 15-64 years) (total/ male/female, 2002) and unemployment rates (% of labour force 15+ years) (total/ male/female, 2002)	Average usual working hours of full-time/part-time employees	Average age and flexibility of labour market entry; youth employment rate (15-24 years, 2002)	Average age and flexibility of labour market exit; (average retirement age, 2001; employment rate 55-65 years, 2002)	Dominant gender model(s); working time arrangements of working age couples (men FT/ women FT; m FT/w PT; m FT/ w inactive)	Coverage of public childcare (children less than three years/children between three years and school age, in %, 2000)
Employment rates:	Full-time: below EU	High/early labour	Average retirement	Two-earner	High coverage for
high for both sexes	average (39.1)	market integration	age moderate, but	household; low	children three years
SE: 74/75/72		of young people in	high labour market	gender gap; in NL,	and older, except
DK: 76/80/72	Part-time: SE and FI	DK and NL,	integration of	1.5 earner model,	for FI; coverage for
FI: 68/70/66	above EU average	moderate in SE	elderly workers in	high gender gap.	small children far
NL: 74/82/66	(19.5)	and FI	SE and DK		above European
Unemployment rates:		SE: 43		SE: 43/27/17	average in SE and
low, but high in Fl	SE: 37.2/22.3	DK: 64	Average retirement	DK: 55/22/13	DK, but very low in
SE: 5/5/5	DK: 37.5/18.5	FI: 41	age:	FI: 55/9/18	NL
DK: 5/4/5	FI: 37.2/20.6	NL: 70	SE: 62	NL: 16/38/36	
FI: 9/9/9	NL: 37.3/19.2		DK: 62		SE: 48/80
NL: 3/3/3			FI: 62		DK: 64/91
			NL: 61		FI: 22/66
			Employment rate		NL: 6/98
			55-64 years:		
			SE: 68		
			DK: 58		
			FI: 48		
			NL: 42		

Countries: Sweden (SE), Denmark (DK), Finland (FI), Netherlands (NL, mixed system)

Looking at the institutional factors, generous leave schemes and a high coverage of public childcare obviously belong to the enabling factors of ongoing participation in the labour market, particularly

 $<sup>^{\</sup>rm 5}~$  In Finland, unemployment is higher and the employment rate somewhat lower.

for women. Within the former 15 EU Member States (EU15), Denmark and Sweden are the leading countries in the field of public childcare for small children (under three years old). All Scandinavian countries provide parental leave options beyond maternity leave, ranging from 13 weeks in the Netherlands to 18 months in Sweden. All countries give parents some flexibility as to when they want to take parental leave (e.g. until the eighth or ninth birthday of the child) and they allow the combination of parental leave with part-time work.

As Table 2 shows, another particularity of the Scandinavian welfare state regime (especially Sweden and Denmark) is that it tries to encourage fathers to take parental leave (through 'daddy days/months', etc). All countries provide further exit options for care to cover emergencies, such as care for sick children or dying family members. The Scandinavian countries also have exit schemes (regulated at different levels) that allow workers to take time off for training or for personal reasons.<sup>6</sup> Working time accounts and other flexible working time schemes are quite widespread. At the upper end of the working life, it is remarkable that the actual retirement age is relatively high in the Scandinavian countries (62 years; NL: 61 years), compared with most other EU countries, and a high percentage of older people, aged 55–65 years, still work (especially in Sweden).

Exit options for care work: maternity and parental leave	Exit options for emergency care and care of elderly people	Other exit options (e.g. for training, leisure)	Part-time options; part-time rates (% of total employment) (total/male/female, 2002)	Flexible distribution of working time, working time accounts
Maternity leave: in all countries. Usually, a part is compulsory. (Maximum) duration in weeks: SE: 12; DK: 52 (including parental leave); NL: 16; FI: 105 days mother, 18 days father. Additional parental leave rights in all Scandinavian countries, usually combined with part-time options and some time flexibility. (Maximum) duration of parental leave: SE: 18 months until child is eight years, two months exclusively for fathers; DK: one year (including maternity leave) until child is nine; FI: 158 days until child is three; NL: 13 weeks full-time or up to six months part-	short-term exit options	Leave schemes for several reasons (e.g. for training, leisure) had been intro- duced in DK, but have partly been abolished again. System of career breaks in NL can be used for training (2-6 months, up to three times). In FI, study leave for employed adults (up to two years), and leave for people changing jobs. In SE, right to unlimited educational leave.	Very high part-time rate in NL, moderate in the other countries (with dominant model of long part time) SE: 22/11/33 DK: 20/11/30 FI: 13/8/18 NL: 44/21/73	In FI and SE, the share of workers with fixed start and end is relatively low (about 60%). In FI, SE and DK, working time accounts are quite widespread; main level or regulation: sectoral agreements. NL: plans concerning more flexible distribution of time over working life

Table 2	Working time options t	hroughout wor	r <mark>king life i</mark>	n the	Scandinavian	welfare state
	regime					

Countries: Sweden (SE), Denmark (DK), Finland (FI), Netherlands (NL, mixed system)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> In Denmark, however, sabbatical schemes were cut back again in the 1990s when labour shortage became a problem.

Based on the indicators analysed, the following features seem to be characteristic of the distribution of working time in a life course perspective in the Scandinavian welfare state model: a large amount of working hours over the lifetime for both sexes, with early labour market entry and late labour market exit, moderate part-time rates with a focus on long part time, and high continuity in spite of some temporary exit options for care work and training. Compared with other welfare state types, this implies that work is relatively evenly distributed along the lines of sex, age and family type (with some exceptions in Finland because of high unemployment and in the Netherlands because of high levels of part-time work for women).

As far as the institutional background is concerned, generous and flexible leave schemes, as well as a highly developed public sector offering social services such as childcare support, enable the continuing labour market participation of both sexes. Other important elements are individualised tax systems that do not (or only weakly) support the male breadwinner model and (some) universalistic social security benefits based on the idea of citizenship. Some of these characteristics, however, mainly apply to Denmark and Sweden, whereas the Netherlands combines leave options and universal benefits with low public services and ongoing support for the (modified) breadwinner model (see below for a detailed analysis).

#### Conservative/corporatist welfare regime

If one looks at the EU countries that are usually described as conservative/corporatist welfare states (i.e. Germany, France, Belgium, Austria and Luxembourg)<sup>7</sup>, some differences become obvious when compared to the Scandinavian states, as Tables 3 and 4 show.

On average, the proportion of the population of working age that is actually working is much lower than in the Scandinavian countries. In Germany, France and Belgium, high exclusion through unemployment is one decisive factor. On an age scale, it is remarkable that, on average, young people start their working lives later and elderly people retire earlier. Both features are typical, especially for Belgium, France and Luxembourg. In addition, employment rates for women are much lower than in the Scandinavian welfare states; in Germany, France and Belgium, they are below 60%, compared with more than 70% in Sweden and Denmark. When living with a partner, between one-fourth (Belgium) and one-third (Austria and Germany) of all women are not active in the labour market.

Again, some characteristics of the conservative/corporatist welfare state and regulatory framework can be identified that promote these features of integration/exclusion from the labour market over the life course. A range of push-and-pull factors contribute to part-time work and the discontinuous labour market participation of women. Parental leave schemes, allowing departure from the labour market for up to three years per child (Germany, France and Austria), contribute to this situation, combined with a low coverage of public childcare for small children, particularly in Germany and Austria (but not in France and Belgium).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> In some classifications, the Netherlands is also regarded as belonging to this group.

Table 3	Employment, gender models of working time and childcare provisi	ons in the
	conservative/corporatist welfare state regime	

Employment rates (% of population 15-64 years) (total/ male/female, 2002) and unemployment rates (% of labour force 15+ years) (total/male/female, 2002)	Average usual working hours of full-time/part-time employees	Average age and flexibility of labour market entry; youth employment rate (15-24 years, 2002)	Average age and flexibility of labour market exit; (average retirement age, 2001; employ- ment rate 55-65 years, 2002)	Dominant gender model(s); working time arrangements of working age couples (men FT/ women FT; m FT/w PT; m FT/ w inactive)	Coverage of public childcare (children less than three years/children between three years and school age, in %, 2000)
Employment rates:	Full-time: BE and FR	In particular in FR,	Average retirement	Differentiated	High coverage for
for men, a bit lower	below EU average	BE and LU, low/late	age low, in	working time	children three years
than in the Scandinavian	(39.1); LU, DE and	labour market	particular in BE, FR	arrangements of	and older in FR and
countries (much lower	AT above EU	integration of young	and LU; low labour	couples, but combin-	BE; much lower in
in BE); for women, much	average.	people	market integration	ation of FT/FT is still	DE and AT.
lower than in the		DE: 46	of elderly workers.	rare compared with	
Scandinavian countries,	Part-time: DE below	FR: 30		Scandinavian	Low coverage for
in particular in BE and LU	EU average (19.5);	BE: 29	Average retirement	countries; sequential	small children in DE
DE: 65/72/59	LU, AT, BE and FR	AT: 52	age:	models for mothers.	and AT.
FR: 63/70/57	above EU average.	LU: 32	DE: 61	DE: 26/26/36	DE: 10/78
BE: 60/68/51			FR: 58	FR: 38/19/31	FR: 29/99
AT: 69/76/63	DE: 40.9/18.1		BE: 57	BE: 40/25/25	BE: 30/97
LU: 64/76/52	FR: 38.6/23.2		AT: 60	AT: 36/21/33	AT: 4/68
	BE: 37.6/21.9		LU: 57	LU: n.a.	LU: n.a.
Unemployment rates:	AT: 40.9/22.7				
high in DE and FR; low	LU: 39.9/20.7		Employment rate		
in AT and LU			55-64 years:		
DE: 9/9/8			DE: 38		
FR: 9/8/10			FR: 35		
BE: 7/7/8			BE: 27		
AT: 4/4/5			AT: 30		
LU: 3/2/4			LU: 28		

Countries: Germany (DE), France (FR), Belgium (BE), Austria (AT), Luxembourg (LU)

Although flexible working time arrangements are quite widespread (e.g. working time accounts in Germany), leaving the labour market sometimes appears to be the only answer for women in reconciling family and work. Another widespread option for women is part-time work: the part-time work rate for women in Germany, Belgium and Austria (not in France) is somewhat higher than in the Scandinavian countries of Sweden and Denmark. However, part time often means short part time in these countries, compared with long part time in the Scandinavian countries. Inactivity or marginal activity of married women is supported by benefits in some social security systems and by the system of joint income taxation, particularly in Germany.

As far as labour market integration along the age scale is concerned, it can be assumed that the relatively high level of regulation and dismissal protection for the core workforce contributes (among other factors, such as prolonged education) to the late labour market entry of younger people. With regard to early exit of elderly workers, a high level of decommodification (i.e. independence from wage income) through social security benefits coincides with the early exclusion from the workforce: elderly workers who become unemployed can often claim unemployment benefits for a relatively long period and pre-retirement schemes still support an early exit from the labour market (e.g. in Germany).

Exit options for care work: maternity and parental leave	Exit options for emergency care and care of elderly people	Other exit options (e.g. for training, leisure)	Part-time options; part-time rates (% of total employ- ment) (total/male/female, 2002)	Flexible distribution of working time, working time accounts
Maternity leave: in all	Some regulations	DE: short-term	Low part-time rate for	Flexible working time
countries. Level of	(e.g. in DE) to take time	educational leave	men, high rate for	arrangements are
regulation: European	off for sick children.	schemes regulated by	women (big gender gap);	particularly widespread
law/national law.		the Länder. Sabbatical	marginal part-time	in FR and DE.
Usually, a part is compul-	In FR, BE and AT, rights	models regulated in	widespread in DE.	In DE, working time
sory. (Maximum) duration	to take leave, or to claim	collective and company	DE: 21/5 (1998)/	accounts are common
in weeks:	part-time (FR and AT),	agreements; job rotation	36 (1998)	(coverage: about 40% of
DE: 14; FR: 16; BE: 15;	to care for ill or dying	legally introduced	FR: 16/5/29	employees), with a
AT: 16; LU: 16.	family members.	in 2002.	BE: 19/6/37	growing share of long-
Additional parental leave	No such right in DE.		AT: 20/6/38	term/life-time accounts.
rights and some flexibility		FR: legal right to up to	LU: 11/2/25	
as to when this time has		one year of time off for		Main level of regulation:
to be taken exist in most		training.		DE: collective agreements
'conservative' countries.				and company-level
Special part-time options		AT: employees can claim		agreements.
for parents in DE and FR;		6-12 months off and use		FR: law (working time
on arrangement with		them for education.		reduction) and collective
employer in AT.				agreements.
(Maximum) duration of		BE: time credit system		
parental leave in years:		(for career breaks up to		Less flexible working time
AT: three; FR: three		one year).		arrangements in LU, AT
(flexible); DE: three				and BE.
(until child is eight years);				
BE: three months until				
child is four years;				
LU: first two years				

### Table 4Working time options throughout working life in the conservative/corporatist<br/>welfare state regime

Countries: Germany (DE), France (FR), Belgium (BE), Austria (AT), Luxembourg (LU)

#### Liberal welfare regime

The so-called liberal welfare states (in the EU15, the UK and Ireland) are well known for their low level of decommodification through social security benefits. This creates a higher obligation to earn one's living by continuous labour market participation throughout the whole time span of working life. Exit options for care work, as well as other interruption schemes, are relatively poor. Tables 5 and 6 show the situation in both of these countries.

The labour market participation of men is high. Women's employment rates, however, are much lower than in Sweden or Denmark. In particular, many Irish women are inactive in the labour market. As the investigation of couples reveals, the traditional role model is still strong in Ireland: almost every second woman (45%) living with a working-age partner is not active in the labour market. British women are much more often economically active, but they often choose a part-time job (44%), many of which are short part time.

Employment rates (% of population 15-64 years) (total/male/female, 2002) and unemploy- ment rates (% of labour force	Average usual working hours of full-time/part-time employees	Average age and flexibility of labour market entry; youth employment rate (15-24 years, 2002)	Average age and flexibility of labour market exit; (average retirement age, 2001; employment rate 55-65 years, 2002)	Dominant gender model(s); working time arrangements of working age couples (men FT/ women FT; m FT/w PT;	Coverage of public childcare (children less than three years/children between three years and school age, in %, 2000)
15+ years) (total/male/female, 2002)				m FT/ w inactive)	
Employment rates:	Full-time: below EU	Moderate labour	Average retirement	When living as	Comparatively low
for men, quite high;	average (39.1)	market integration	age relatively high;	couples, the Irish	coverage of (public)
for women, much lower		of younger people	moderate labour	gender model is	childcare for
than in the Scandinavian	Part-time: below EU	IE: 48	market integration	much more	children aged three
countries, in particular	average (19.5)	UK: 56	of elderly workers.	traditional (more	years and older. For
in IE.				wives inactive in the	small children,
IE: 65/75/55	IE: 39.0/18.5		Average retirement	labour market)	coverage is about
UK: 72/78/65	UK: 41.0/18.3		age:	than in UK.	1/3, which is above
Unemployment rates:			IE: 63	IE: 25/21/45	the EU15 average
middle, a bit lower for			UK: 62	UK: 36/28/26	IE: 38/56
women					*UK: 34/60
IE: 4/5/4			Employment rate		(*England only)
UK: 5/6/5			55-64:		
			IE: 48		
			UK: 54		

## Table 5Employment, gender models of working time and childcare provisions in the<br/>liberal welfare state regime

Countries: United Kingdom (UK), Ireland (IE)

#### Table 6 Working time options throughout working life in the liberal welfare state regime

Exit options for care work: maternity and parental leave	Exit options for emergency care and care of elderly people	Other exit options (e.g. for training, leisure)	Part-time options; part- time rates (% of total employment) (total/male/female, 2002)	Flexible distribution of working time, working time accounts
Maternity leave: in	In UK, right to take time	No legal rights for career	Part-time rate for men a	In both IE and UK, the
both countries. Level of	off for cases of	breaks for training, etc;	little higher than in	share of workers with
regulation: European	emergency	only some agreements	conservative countries.	fixed daily working time
law/national law. Usually,		with the employer/at	Part-time jobs for women	is low. In UK, working
a part is compulsory.		company level	are often short part time.	time accounts are very
(Maximum) duration in			IE: 17/7/30	widespread; in IE,
weeks:			UK: 25/9/44	many workers have
IE: 18; UK: 26.				mutually agreed on self-
				determined working
Additional parental leave				times.
only in UK and relatively				
short:				Level of regulation:
UK: 13 weeks until child				mostly company or
is five years				workplace level.

Countries: United Kingdom (UK), Ireland (IE)

Unlike the conservative/corporatist welfare states, the situation in these liberal welfare states is not the result of high financial support for the breadwinner model. Instead, it can be regarded as a common strategy to cope with personal time needs, such as care (the coverage of public childcare for children aged three and older is far below the European average). As far as the distribution of working time throughout age groups is concerned, the following features become obvious: at the lower age of working life (among young people), labour market integration is much higher than in the conservative welfare states, while at the upper end, people retire on average later than in the conservative welfare state regime. In both Ireland and the UK, young people finish school and their professional education on average earlier than in some of the conservative countries, and social security systems (e.g. the British 'New Deal') focus on the labour market integration of young people. For older workers, early exit options are also very limited because of the existing pensions schemes and the low level of benefits provided for old age.

All in all, the liberal welfare state model shows a concentration of working time on men (similar to the conservative/corporatist welfare state model, but different to the Scandinavian model). However, it does not show the same level of concentration of a person's lifetime working hours on the middle years, the so-called 'rush hour of life' (making it different to the conservative model, but similar to the Scandinavian one).

#### Mediterranean welfare regime

As far as the Mediterranean welfare states are concerned, several studies have shown that, in many respects, Portugal is a very untypical case, particularly in terms of the (high) level and continuity of female labour market participation and the prevailing gender model. This is reaffirmed by the results shown in Tables 7 and 8.

As far as the other three Mediterranean countries (Italy, Spain and Greece) are concerned, the following working time features are notable. The overall rate of people in gainful employment is below 60% of people of working age and is therefore much lower than in the other three welfare state regimes (Scandinavian, conservative/corporatist and liberal). This results mainly from the very low rate of women in employment (42–44%, depending on the country). Unemployment plays an important role in labour market exclusion in general and particularly for women – in Italy, Spain and Greece, the unemployment rate for women is about twice as high as the unemployment rate for men. Unemployment is also very much centred on young people: in all three countries, the proportion of people aged 15–24 years in employment is far below average (only 26–33%, depending on the country) and far below the average rate of youth employment in the liberal and Scandinavian welfare states. At the upper end of working life, the picture is similar to the conservative countries – only a low proportion of citizens aged 55–65 years are still working (much fewer than in the liberal and Scandinavian countries). Average retirement is also lower than in the latter two welfare state regimes.

As has frequently been pointed out (see, for example, Bettio and Villa, 1998), the Mediterranean countries are still characterised by a relatively traditional gender model. The welfare system relies heavily on the family and in particular on women as providers of care work. The public coverage of childcare to date is quite high in Italy and Spain for children aged three years and older, but it is still far below average in Greece. It is particularly low in all Mediterranean countries for children below the age of three years.

Table 7	Employment, gender models of working time and childcare provisions in the
	Mediterranean welfare state regime

Employment rates (% of population 15-64 years) (total/male/female, 2002) and unemployment rates (% of labour force 15+ years)	Average usual working hours of full-time/part-time employees	Average age and flexibility of labour market entry; youth employment rate (15-24 years, 2002)	Average age and flexibility of labour market exit; (average retirement age, 2001; employment rate 55-65 years, 2002)	Dominant gender model(s); working time arrangements of working age couples (men FT/ women FT; m FT/w PT; m FT/	Coverage of public childcare (children less than three years/children between three years and school age, in %, 2000)
(total/male/female,				w inactive)	
2002)					
Employment rates:	Full-time: except for	Low/late labour	Average retirement	Wide gap between	Very low coverage
Low labour market	IT, about EU average	market integration	age low in IT and EL,	male and female	for small children.
participation of women	(39.1)	of young people	higher in PT; low	employment rates;	Mixed picture for
(PT is the exception)		(moderate in PT)	labour market	traditional gender	coverage of older
ES: 58/73/44	Part-time: except for	ES: 33	integration of	model with high	children, with very
IT: 56/69/42	ES, above EU	IT: 26	elderly workers,	percentage of	low rates in EL, but
EL: 57/71/43	average (19.5)	EL: 27	except for PT.	inactive women in	high rates in IT.
PT: 68/76/61	ES: 38.9/17.8	PT: 42	Average retirement	couples. Exception:	ES: 5/84
	IT: 35.0/21.4		age:	high share of double	IT: 6/95
Unemployment rates:	EL: 40.2/20.1		ES: 61	earner couples in PT.	EL: 3/46
high (except for PT),	PT: 38.9/20.1		IT: 59	ES: 26/6/60	PT: 12/75
particularly high for			EL: 60	IT: 30/12/49	
women			PT: 62	EL: 32/9/46	
ES: 11/8/16				PT: 57/7/27	
IT: 9/7/12			Employment rate		
EL: 10/7/15			55-64 years:		
PT: 5/4/6			ES: 40		
			IT: 29		
			EL: 40		
			PT: 51		

Countries: Spain (ES), Italy (IT), Greece (EL), Portugal (PT, within limits)

Exit options for care work: maternity and parental leave	nity and emergency care and care (e.g. for training, leisure) part-time rates ve of elderly people (% of total emplo		Part-time options; part-time rates (% of total employment) (total/male/female, 2002)	Flexible distribution of working time, working time accounts
Maternity leave: in all	All four Mediterranean	In IT, employees can claim		In all Mediterranean
countries. Level of	countries provide rights	time off for training after		countries, the share of
regulation: European	to take some time off to	some years in company	part-time rate	employees with flexible
law/national law.	care for ill children.	(up to 11 months in	ES: 8/3/17	working times is low.
Long maternity leave in		working life); some	IT: 9/4/17	Working time accounts
Mediterranean countries.	IT and EL have some	collective agreements	EL: 5/2/8	are rare (but exist a little
Usually, a part is	rights to care for sick or	provide leave for study	PT: 11/7/16	more often in IT and ES).
compulsory. (Maximum)	dying adult relatives.	reasons.		
duration in weeks or				Level of regulation of
months:		In ES, only public		flexible working times:
ES: 16 weeks;		servants can ask for time		sectoral agreements and
IT: five months;		off for training.		supplementary company-
EL: 17 weeks (more in				level agreements in ES
public sector);				and IT; hardly covered by
PT: four months.				sectoral agreements in EL and PT.
Additional parental				
leave rights exist in all				
Mediterranean countries;				
part-time rights for				
parents in IT and EL.				
(Maximum) duration of				
parental leave:				
ES: three years; IT: 10				
months until child is				
eight years; EL: 3.5				
months (two years in				
public sector);				
PT: three years.				

### Table 8 Working time options throughout working life in the Mediterranean welfare state regime

Countries: Spain (ES), Italy (IT), Greece (EL), Portugal (PT, within limits)

All Mediterranean countries have some exit options for parental leave, as well as for emergency care (for ill children; in Italy and Greece also for sick or dying adult family members), but these options are limited given the low coverage of public services. Flexible working time schemes, regulated at the level of collective agreements, have recently increased, at least in Italy and Spain. Part-time options, however, are still lacking. Only about 15% of all working women (less than 10% in Greece) have a part-time job. This leads to a sharp division among women. Whereas younger women or single women without children tend to work full time, a very high proportion of mothers are (at least temporarily) economically inactive: almost 50% of all women in working-age couples (even 60% in Spain) are not working.

In conclusion, the Mediterranean welfare state model has some similarities to the conservative/corporatist welfare states as far as the concentration of working time of prime-age men is concerned. The exclusion of women and young workers is quite visible as a feature in these Mediterranean countries. Unlike the conservative model, there is an additional concentration of female working time: due to a high discontinuity over working life for women living with a partner

(mainly mothers), there is a growing inequality of the working time amount over the life course between mothers/women in couples and other women.

To summarise, as the analysis has shown, the common welfare state regime types reveal specific features of working time options, arrangements and constraints for different age groups and sexes. A detailed analysis is provided in Chapter 2 on the institutional framework of available working time options and their importance for the life course of employees. It will focus on six selected countries (France, Germany, Netherlands, Spain, Sweden, and UK), representing the four welfare state regimes.

# Institutional framework for working time arrangements

Although many governmental policies and regulations influence each individual's life course, attempts to develop and implement an explicit life course policy are rather new and rare in Europe. This discussion will examine different institutional arrangements that facilitate or hinder particular working time transitions during the life course, focusing on working time options. These are not always labelled as 'life course policies' (more often they are not) and often originate from other aims, such as employment policies, family policies, the reconciliation of work and family life (care), or flexibilisation of the labour market. The working time options analysed here have been selected because, potentially<sup>8</sup>, they allow individuals to influence their own biographies. These options include the possibility for a temporary reduction or increase in working hours, maternity leave, paternity leave, parental leave, care leave, sabbaticals and career breaks, educational leave, working time accounts and flexible retirement.

These working time options are a part of the social structure in which individuals act and develop their life trajectories in work, family, education and social relations. They give opportunities to make certain choices regarding time allocation between work and social activities (such as care, vocational training, leisure or civic involvement) and set boundaries for those choices. These opportunities occur not only in a factual way (what can or cannot be done), but also in a normative way (which trajectories are considered as legitimate according to societal norms and supported by policies). The institutional framework definitely forms an important context for their past, present and future life course, although individuals should not be seen as passive executors within this institutional and normative environment.

This report analyses the institutional set-up framing working time options in six countries (France, Germany, Netherlands, Spain, Sweden and UK). These countries represent the four dominant welfare regimes in the former EU15. Although one has to appreciate the fact that, in reality, this framework is subject to changes over time and that the life course can and will be influenced by former and also by future working time options, the discussion here focuses on the present situation in these six countries.

The central question is how and to what extent the institutional framework facilitates or hinders different life trajectories and choices during different phases of the life course. The usefulness of the institutional framework of various working time options from a life course perspective depends on their general availability, access for different groups, their content, implementation and level of regulation.

Working time options can be regulated by different actors. It is possible to identify five levels at which the regulation of working time can be initiated and implemented (Anxo and O'Reilly, 2000, 2002):

supranational level, through the implementation of international regulations, such as EU directives;

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> 'Potentially' means in a situation where individuals have all the information and the capabilities to anticipate and exert control on the possible negative and positive impacts of their choices.

- national level, through the application of statutory legislation or collective agreements at national level;
- sectoral level, through collective bargaining applied to a range of companies or sectors;
- company level, through company collective agreements;
- individual level, through the employment contract concluded between an employer and an employee.

The level of regulation<sup>9</sup> is of great importance because this can lead to differences in opportunities. When the options are regulated at national level through statutory regulation or across-the-board collective agreements, all employees can benefit from them, while collective agreements at sectoral or company level will affect only a certain part of the labour force. Cross-country differences and disparities of working time options between sectors (for example, public or private sector) or between occupational categories are partly related to the prevailing institutional set-up regulating working time.

The following discussion presents a general, descriptive overview of the institutional framework in the six selected countries and of the conditions of use of the different working time options there. Are they subject to decision from the employer or are they a universal right? Are they paid or unpaid and for how long? Is there a right to go back to the same or a similar job? In order to assess the quality of the working time options and the extent to which they facilitate or hinder particular working time transitions during the life course, it is also important to consider their long-term impact. Chapter 3 provides an analysis of the long-term consequences of working time options on the individual's income development and access to social security. Of course, it would also have been relevant to assess whether these working time options entail negative (or positive) consequences on the career development of their users, but this kind of qualitative information is missing. However, Chapter 3 will provide clear evidence of the gender impact of the existence, or non-existence, of such working time options and of their conditions as far as labour market participation and the number of working hours performed are concerned.

Here, the focus is on the potential importance of the available working time options for individuals' life course trajectories. What is their importance in principle for facilitating different life trajectories? Table 9 links the relevant working time options to the different phases and transitions in the life course, using the eight major stages of the stylised life course, as outlined in the Introduction.

From Table 9, irrespective of their conditions, a distinction can be made between working time options that are designed for specific life stages and those that may be used at any time during the working life. Maternity leave, paternity leave and parental leave are restricted to working parents

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Of course, the incidence, coexistence and/or prevalence of each of these levels of regulation varies considerably in Europe. Furthermore, the various levels may be interrelated. For example, the general principles could be defined by law at national level (or supranational, as is the case for parental leave with the 1996 EU Directive), while the conditions of enforcement and implementation are defined at sectoral and/or company level. In this case, which is more and more common in EU countries, reference is made to the term 'dispositive law' (Supiot, 1998): the consequences for the employee who enters into one scheme or another may vary considerably from one country to another, but also in the same country from one sector to another, and even from one company to another. This is why it is important to have a set of individual and universal prescriptive rights that are defined at the supranational or national level.

(with cohabiting children), and only older workers will use flexible retirement. Hence, in some countries, the eligibility right to these working time options is restricted to certain categories of households and to specific life stages, and are also conditional on the approval of the employer.<sup>10</sup> Besides life stage-specific working time options, there are also overarching working time options available during the whole working life course. These include the reduction or increase of working hours, care leave, sabbaticals and career breaks, educational leave, flexitime and long-term working time accounts.<sup>11</sup>

	Young single people	Young couples	Couples with pre-school children	Couples with children aged 7-12 years	Couples with children aged 13-17 years	Couples with children aged over 17 years	Middle- aged couples ('empty nest')	Older couples (both over 60 years)
Reduce/increase working								
hours	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Maternity leave			+					
Paternity leave			+					
Parental leave			+	+				
Care leave	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Sabbaticals and career								
breaks	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Educational leave	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Working time accounts	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Flexible retirement							+	+

Table 9Working time options in relation to life course

How to judge the significance of a working time option in a life course perspective from an employee point of view? In addition, how to relate the employee perspective to the needs of companies for more flexibility and increased competitiveness, and to the objectives of governments for high employment rates and the financial sustainability of the social security system?

From an employee point of view, individual working time options, their combinations and their relationship with social security arrangements should be based on a new equilibrium between, on the one hand, support for long-term integration or reintegration into paid employment and, on the other, independence from the labour market in certain situations or certain life phases. Within such a framework, individual employees should be protected against unacceptable flexibility, empowered through financial means and given rights to choose desired forms of flexibility. These general principles can be broken down into key criteria to judge the significance of a working time option for employees throughout their life course:

- support for continuity in paid employment;
- protection and help against involuntary discontinuity;
- support for desired discontinuity related to lifelong learning, care and other non-market activities;

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> For example, in the UK, only parents of children younger than six years old have a right to request a temporary reduction of working hours. There is no guaranteed right. The employer can refuse on many grounds. The only right is that of requesting the reduction and the obligation of the employer to consider this request seriously and provide a written justification of any refusal.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> In this overview, the Belgian time credit system is not included. It covers more than just parental leave and allows people to withdraw partially or fully from the labour market for a fixed period of time. It is strongly embedded in the social security system.

• effective support in transitions.

Elaborating on these criteria, working time options should have the following characteristics for employees who want to combine paid employment with care responsibilities or other non-market activities:

- be predictable and reliable;
- allow flexibility to deal with unexpected family issues;
- provide options related to a variation of working time duration;
- allow for time-out phases;
- minimise weekend and night work.

The extent to which working time options support continuity and upward mobility in the labour market is important. This includes the long-term prospects of people with atypical employment contracts, such as fixed-term contracts, contracts with temporary agencies and certain types of part-time contracts. The main question is whether these unstable employment conditions lead to dead-end options in the work biography, or whether these conditions provide entry jobs into the labour market combined with positive progress in the work career in the long term. Within the context of this report, the focus will be on part-time work.

An additional aspect of a sustainable work biography in the emerging knowledge society is access to lifelong learning, which improves the individual's employability and supports prospects of continuous employment over the life course. Here, available educational leave and its detailed provisions are examined.

Support for transitions is the final major criterion. In this respect, the discussion here focuses mainly on early and flexible retirement. Early retirement may be useful and necessary for specific groups of workers with demanding (detrimental) working conditions throughout their work biography. In general, however, early retirement leads to a compression of the working life course, with negative effects on personal stress, access to lifelong learning, reduced fertility and loss in personal income. It also has a negative influence on the overall employment level, the utilisation of human capital and the financial sustainability of the pension system. More promising are retirement schemes that provide a flexible retirement age and that enable employees to decide on the timing and conditions of their exit from the labour market.

All of these measures and their effect on employees from a life course perspective have to be measured against the impact on flexibility and competitiveness of companies. The ideal type of working time options has to balance the flexibility requirements of employees and companies, secure employment biographies for employees based on high levels of employability and meet the requirements of companies to grow and survive in increasingly competitive product and service markets. This win-win scenario has to be widened to a win-win-win scenario to include the third party involved – government. Obviously, working time options are strongly related to government interests because they influence the sustainability of social security arrangements, employment levels and available human capital.

The next stage is to describe the content of the working time options available in the six European countries selected for this study and to elaborate on their significance at the different stages and transitions within the life course. At the end of this chapter, the analysis focuses on the quality of the overall institutional working time options within each country, examining the width and depth of the combined arrangements and how they align from a life course perspective.

#### Life phase-specific working time options

#### Maternity and paternity leave

Maternity leave is, of course, solely relevant for working women who become mothers. For them, it is of major importance in order to prevent them from involuntarily leaving the labour force. The right to maternity leave is essential in order to enable women to return to their jobs after they have given birth.

All European countries have statutory regulations for maternity leave. In the six countries studied, the leave is shortest in Sweden and Germany (14 weeks), but one has to consider that in these countries long parental leave options exist (see below). In the Netherlands, France and Spain, the duration is 16 weeks. In the event of multiple births, the leave is longer in France and Spain. In Spain, 10 of the 16 weeks may be transferred to the father and it is also possible to spread the leave over a longer period (the last 10 weeks can become 20 by working part time). In the UK, the law has been extended significantly under the Employment Act, 2002: since April 2003, maternity leave is a total of 52 weeks maximum (women with less than six months' service have a reduced entitlement to 26 weeks). Statutory maternity pay is now six weeks at 90% of salary plus 20 weeks at GBP £100 per week plus 26 weeks unpaid. In all countries, the maternity leave of employees is paid, although not always at 100% (Sweden and UK). For self-employed women, specific benefits are sometimes given (Germany, Netherlands and UK). In France, there are specific provisions regulated by their professional organisation. In Spain, self-employed women have the same rights as employees.

Although paternity leave is a sensible option for fathers, the leave is often very brief. While maternity leave is crucial for working women who will become mothers, the importance of paternity leave for the life course of working men is different. In the first place, since men are not the ones bearing and delivering children, there is no physical necessity for them to take a leave of absence. Secondly, the limited paternity leave provisions do not enable fathers to 'grow into their role of caretakers'. The impact of paternity leave for their income, future career or their role as caretakers (combined with that of a worker) is limited both in the short and long term.

In all six countries except Germany, fathers are entitled to paternity leave. It is often of short duration: two days in the Netherlands and Spain (but in Spain part of the maternity leave can be transferred to the father) and 10 days in Sweden. In France (since 2002) and in the UK (since April 2003), fathers can take up to 14 days' paternity leave. The short duration of this leave makes it clear that this provision is not really meant to facilitate the transition to fatherhood.<sup>12</sup> In the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> However, the symbolic recent trend observed in some countries of increasing paternity leave (up to two weeks in France and UK) could be a way of creating an incentive for fathers to be more involved in taking a part of the parental leave. From a family policy point of view, paternity leave aims at encouraging fathers to be more involved in the raising of their children.

Netherlands and Spain, the two-days' leave is fully paid. In France, the first three days are fully paid and after that, a daily allowance is granted, which (as for maternity leave) preserves the net income for those fathers whose income is under the social security ceiling. In the UK, fathers receive £100 or 90% of the employee's average weekly earnings if the wage is lower than this flat-rate payment. In Sweden, the compensation level is 80% of the income entitling to a sickness benefit. In Germany, many collective agreements provide two or three days off after the birth for the father.

In all countries, the social partners can increase the length of the leave and the level of payment of maternity and paternity leave. In the UK, many public sector employees are granted improved provisions. Formal improvement is also more likely to be found in large private companies than in small ones (Cully *et al*, 1999). In a study by the Dutch Labour Inspectorate about the content of collective agreements at the end of 2000, it was found that 8% of these agreements contained provisions about an additional right to extra unpaid maternity leave, varying from an extra two weeks to three months. As regards paternity leave, 15% of the collective agreements increased the length of the leave by a couple of days; in 3% of the agreements, fathers are entitled to take unpaid leave.

What is the life course relevance of maternity and paternity leave? Both working time options have a strong phase-specific effect in modern welfare states. The strongest life course effect is the stabilisation of women's attachment to paid work by giving women a legal right to return to their job after birth. Other conditions of maternity leave, such as length and replacement income, increase the choice of women between returning earlier to work or taking up more care activities for their child. Since maternity covers a fairly short period of time overall, these different conditions have no strong life course effect.

However, good paternity regulations for fathers, providing higher replacement incomes and a longer duration, may have an effect on a higher labour force participation of women. If this institutional arrangement leads to a higher take-up of paternity leave by men, women may interpret this as a signal of greater openness of men to share more equally the burden of childcare through the whole family phase.

#### **Parental leave**

In principle, parental leave enables people to combine their role as a worker with that of a parent. For some people (mostly women), this might be a means of keeping their relation to the labour market, whereas without such a right they might quit their jobs, as appears to be the practice in some countries. For others (men), this might persuade them to shift the balance in their life to a combination trajectory instead of a breadwinner one, although this might be only temporary. Compared with part-time work, which often is of a long duration, parental leave is relatively short. The consequences for the life course will therefore be more limited (in terms of present and future income, social security rights and career options), although, similar to maternity leave, parental leave can provide a crucial bridge that improves labour market integration across the life course.

Subject to an EU directive (1996) providing a minimum of three months' parental leave available until the child has reached the age of eight years, this option has progressively been introduced in all EU Member States. Consequently, in the six countries studied, working fathers and mothers are

entitled to parental leave. The quality of this regulation varies greatly between the countries in terms of income replacement and duration of leave. In the Netherlands, Spain and UK, the statutory parental leave is unpaid (and in the case of the UK, has only recently been introduced), while in Sweden, Germany and France, it is partially paid. The duration and flexibility of parental leave also differs between countries, and the extent to which this stage within the life course is facilitated varies greatly.

In Sweden, parents can get partially paid leave (income-related) for a total of 480 days, corresponding to an average of 240 days per parent, with full job security on return. One parent can transfer days to the other parent, with an exception of 60 days. The 480 days can be used on a full-time or part-time basis until the child is eight years old. The level of income replacement depends on the length of the leave. During the first 390 days, an income-related compensation is granted of 80% of the previous earnings (up to a ceiling of  $\leq 2,600$  per month). After that, a flat-rate benefit will be paid (for three months).

In Germany, the duration of parental leave is longer (up to three years), but the income compensation is much lower. A parent can get up to  $\in$ 300 per month following the fully paid maternity leave, but on a means-tested basis. The benefit will be  $\in$ 450 if the parental leave is restricted to one year. Due to the income threshold, in 2001 about 90% of the parents received some benefit and many of them for only half a year, after which the income threshold is lowered again. A recently implemented further reduction of the income thresholds will lead to an additional decrease of eligibility ratios. The parental leave can be taken on a part-time basis (maximum 30 hours' work per week). After the leave, one has the right to return to the same or a similar job.

In France, the basic length of parental leave is one year, with a possibility of extending the leave during two more years, until the child has reached the age of three. From January 2004, parents who decide to stop their activity in order to take care of their child until the age of three years receive a monthly allowance of €340 if the activity is totally interrupted, €219.75 if the activity is half-time or less, and €126.77 if the activity is reduced between 50% and 80% (open to those who have worked two years during the previous period). This allowance comes on top of a universal basic allowance of €160 per month, provided until the child is three years old. Those who prefer to continue to work while breast-feeding their child are entitled to a 'free choice allowance', ranging from €151 up to €354 depending on the household resources. This allowance also comes on top of the universal allowance. At the end of the parental leave, the employee may return to their job again or to a similar one. But, in fact, after three years of absence, poorly qualified women – who constitute the overwhelming majority of the applicants – face many difficulties in re-entering the labour market.<sup>13</sup>

In the other three countries studied (Spain, Netherlands and UK), parental leave is unpaid. Of these three, Spain has the longest parental leave regulation. A parent can take up to one year of leave, with a possibility of extending this to three years after birth, but after the first year, returning to the same job is no longer guaranteed.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> Studies show that men represent only 2% of employees who take up this possibility. The women concerned are mainly blue-collar workers and low-skilled employees (79% of men and 84% of women).
In the Netherlands, both parents have a right to unpaid leave up to a maximum of 13 times the number of their weekly working hours. According to the law, parental leave can only be taken on a part-time basis (maximum 50% of the working week), but if the employer agrees, other options are allowed. The law also says that the leave should be taken in one period of half a year at the most, but again deviations are allowed when the employer agrees. The right to parental leave applies to each child under eight years of age. As in Sweden, parents have full job security on return.

The UK was the last country to transpose into law the EU directive on parental leave. According to the Employment Relations Act (December 1999), parents are entitled to 13 weeks of unpaid leave, to be taken up to five years from the date of the birth (18 years for a disabled child). The leave can be taken in blocks of one week or more, up to four weeks per year. As of April 2003, a new provision exists that gives parents the right to apply for reduced or flexible working hours. Employers are obliged to consider this seriously. Employees retain their employment contract while on leave.

By collective agreements, the social partners can make other arrangements (e.g. on the length and payment of the leave). In Sweden, for example, some employers compensate for the gap between the previous income and the benefits. In the UK, some employers have introduced limited paid leave. In Spain, improvements by collective agreements are rare, but, on the other hand, there are a great number of informal work–family arrangements within companies.

In the Netherlands, many collective agreements contain provisions for parental leave. Research from the Dutch Labour Inspectorate in 2002 shows that 6% of collective agreements have arrangements for partial payment (varying between 25% and 75% of wages). In 20% of collective agreements, a longer leave is made possible (ranging from six months to four years). In 16% of collective agreements, full-time leave is possible, and in 6%, other provisions are made (for example, the possibility of saving for a longer leave period or for payment during the leave). There are, however, also collective agreements that reduce the right to parental leave: 10% contain a limitation on the age of the child (ceiling of four years instead of eight).

The life course relevance of parental leave arrangements depends on several stipulations in the working time options. The bridging between paid work and family responsibilities through parental leave can be provided in two ways: either through the combination of part-time and paid leave, or through a sequential organisation of full-time leave followed by the re-start of paid work. It is important to provide a choice for parents to choose between both models. Existing evidence seems to indicate that a combination model may be less detrimental for the future work career than a sequential practice, which potentially weakens the situation of mothers in the internal labour market (loss of qualification and of informal contacts). This is of particular relevance if, through a close succession of births, women stay out of paid employment for a longer period of time, which may lead to a general detachment from being involved in paid work.

A further stipulation concerns the time period available for parental leave according to the age of the child. In general, longer periods for using parental leave rights provide more flexibility for parents. Replacement income is another factor: higher replacement income increases the choice of employees to avail of parental leave and may influence a more equal uptake between men and women.

Finally, a fixed share of fathers in the total amount of available parental leave may lead to a higher uptake of men, with a subsequent positive effect on the labour force attachment of women. This may also have a positive effect on recruitment practices of companies: the more even the take-up of parental leave between men and women, the less discriminatory will be recruitment practices against women of child-bearing age.

### Flexible and early retirement

For employees, flexible retirement schemes can be very attractive, both for people who want to continue working after the legal pension age and for those who want to reduce their working time in advance of their complete retirement. Flexible retirement schemes can, to a certain extent, be linked with working time accounts in case employees anticipate retiring on a flexible basis by saving for this in earlier life phases.

For more than 20 years, early retirement schemes were extensively used in Europe (at one time in France, for example, almost 500,000 persons were involved in such schemes). However, the trend now in Europe is to replace early retirement schemes with flexible retirement schemes. Except for the Netherlands and UK, all countries studied have some statutory regulation for flexible retirement. In Sweden, Germany, France and Spain, employees are allowed to reduce their working hours, combined with some financial compensation. However, most of the current schemes in Europe are used for gradual early retirement and governments also tend to limit the use of these schemes. (In France, the 2003 law concerning pension reform abolished this kind of scheme from January 2005.)

In Sweden, employees aged between 61 and 64 years may reduce their working hours (15%, 50% or 75%) or take early retirement. However, the former, rather generous replacement rates connected with the scheme on flexible retirement (*delpension*) have been eliminated. In addition, the actual pension age has been postponed to the age of 67 years. People aged 61 years or more, who are employed by the government, have the possibility of working part time (50%) and being retired for the remainder.

In Germany and France, a legal framework exists (no statutory right) that has to be agreed by collective agreements. Employees aged 55 years or more may reduce their weekly working hours by 50%. In addition, collective or company agreements can guarantee a higher income and/or compensate for the pension deduction. In Germany, there are many specific regulations at company or sectoral level. At the end of 2001, 666 collective agreements (covering more than 16 million employees) contained regulations for phased retirement. In France, companies have to conclude an agreement with the state in order for the employee to benefit from a wage supplement; in 2001, there were more than 200,000 people on early retirement, 20% of them through a gradual early retirement scheme.

In Spain, a distinction is made between 'partial retirement' and 'flexible retirement'. 'Partial retirement' refers to people who, before or at retirement age, reduce their working time and start receiving pension payments. In this case (for workers under 65 years, who have to be 60 or older and meet the requirements to receive a retirement pension), a 'solidarity contract' (*contrato de relevo*) for the hiring of a young person has to be signed. 'Flexible retirement' is for people who are receiving retirement pensions but who decide to (partially) go back to work. In this case, the

pension is reduced in proportion to the amount of work done. In addition to these schemes, 'early retirement' is regulated in a restrictive way, although companies (especially in some sectors, such as banking) do reach agreements with their workers to pay them, first, unemployment benefits and then compensation until retirement age. No precise statistics exist on this practice, which was significant in some industrial sectors in the early 1980s and continues to exist in certain companies and specific sectors (banking, most notably, as mentioned above).

In the Netherlands, there is no statutory law, but 90% of the collective agreements have regulations for early or flexible retirement, with some financial compensation. Fiscal law facilitates this system.

In the UK, there is no legal framework at all. The government plans to reform the state pension and tax system to remove disincentives to flexible retirement and encourage later retirement, but this will not come into force before 2010. At present, employers are able to use any surplus funds in company pension schemes to fund early retirement schemes. However, their motivation to do so does not have much to do with life course policy, but rather is concerned with reducing their workforce.

There seems to be an emerging consensus in Europe that universal access to early retirement has negative effects from a life course perspective. It leads to a further compression of the working life course, with knock-on effects of increased stress in the 'rush hour of life'. It also reduces the probability of participation of older workers in lifelong learning due to a reduced return on investment of learning and training costs for the individual and for the companies. In addition, universal access has a negative influence on the financial sustainability of the pension and health insurance systems. In this respect, countries that take decisive action to reduce or abolish universal access to early retirement provisions, combined with a preventive health policy for employees, contribute positively from a life course perspective.

However, less agreement exists on access to early retirement for particular groups of employees who have been exposed during their working lives often to extremely demanding physical and psychological conditions (e.g. steel workers, miners, building workers, air-traffic controllers, pilots, soldiers). Trade unions would argue vigorously for the retention of early retirement options for such groups of workers.

As far as flexible retirement is concerned, higher degrees of flexibility are seen in initiatives that increase the choice of employees, on the one hand, and enhance the probability of an on-average later retirement, on the other.

# Working time options for the whole life course

## Right to reduce or increase working hours temporarily

From a life course perspective, the possibility of reducing one's working hours and starting to work part time can, in principle, be of interest at any stage of the life course. Working temporarily reduced hours can enable people to combine work with education, care or other social activities (leisure, civic involvement, etc); for older workers, it can keep the workload bearable. This option can prevent people from leaving the labour force, which is good for their own present and future income, as well as for their career, and it is also good for society because, as workers, they keep contributing to the national income. However, as is well known, this option in practice is mainly used by women in order to combine work with motherhood, which leads to inequalities between men and women in terms of income, social security rights and career possibilities. Besides, one should bear in mind that, although the right to work part time can be evaluated in a positive way, part-time work can sometimes be an involuntary choice (e.g. when no full-time jobs are available or because of poor childcare provision).<sup>14</sup>

The combination of both the right to reduce working hours and the right to increase them gives workers the flexibility to adapt their working hours to their needs in different stages of the life course. Part-time work can be attractive as a temporary solution to combine labour and other activities, after which one might want to return to full-time work.

Although all six countries studied (with the exception of the UK) have a more or less welldeveloped statutory regulation on part-time work,<sup>15</sup> there are major differences concerning the possibilities for shifting from a full-time position to a part-time one. The table in the Appendix to this report shows that all six countries have some statutory regulation for the reduction of working hours. An important distinction exists between countries where employees are granted a legal right to reduce their working hours and countries where only a framework exists granting employees the right to request a reduction of working hours. A legal right to shift from a full-time job to a part-time job exists only in Sweden, Germany and the Netherlands. In France, Spain and the UK, employees are merely entitled to submit a request to switch from full-time to part-time work and the employer is bound to consider this request seriously. In France, there are legal regulations governing requests for part-time work for family reasons or governing part-time work at the request of the employee (temps partiel choisi), but the employer always has the possibility of refusing this request, although the refusal must be justified (Barthèlémy and Cette, 2002). In Spain, the existing regulation on parttime work focuses on the definition of part-time jobs, directives for the content of part-time contracts and the use of so-called 'replacement contracts', intended for partially retired workers (Cebrián et al, 2003). In the UK, the right to apply for a reduction of working hours is granted only to parents of children under six years of age or disabled children younger than 18 years.

Sometimes, the right to part-time work, or to ask for it, is limited to certain groups (parents in Sweden and UK) or to workers in certain companies (with at least 10 or 14 employees in the Netherlands and Germany), or it is subject to the acceptance of the employer and the availability of such part-time jobs in the company (in France). In France, the right to ask for part-time work for family reasons is more often found in the public sector, where women are generally entitled to work 80% of the normal working week (free Wednesday, which currently is a day-off for school children).

From a life course perspective, the possibility of moving from part-time to full-time work is as important as a move from full-time to part-time work. Only in the Netherlands does a statutory right exist to increase working hours. In principle, employers have to grant a request from their employees (unless there are major company interests at stake, such as lack of funds). In Sweden

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> Concerning involuntary part-time work, data from the Eurostat Labour Force Survey show sharp differences between countries. The proportion is highest in Greece, Italy, France and Finland, and particularly low in the Netherlands. The cultural dimension of what is considered as a voluntary or involuntary choice has to be taken into account when looking at cross-national data.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> At least referring to the 1997 EU Directive on part-time work.

and France, part-time employees who want to increase their working time have priority over new recruits for similar positions.

In most countries, the social partners can, and do, play an additional role. In the Netherlands, Germany and Sweden, it is common practice that the social partners are allowed to further develop working time regulations. As far as the adaptation of working hours is concerned, Dutch law permits deviation (diminishing of rights) by collective agreements only with regard to the right to increase working hours; the right to reduce working hours may not be affected. A recent inventory by the Dutch Labour Inspectorate shows that two out of the 122 largest collective agreements contained a clause on the reduction of working hours (about the number of times per year a request can be made and about the terms within which employers have to decide on the request). Seven of the agreements included clauses on the extension of working hours, six of them alleging that, in the case of vacancies, part-timers have priority in increasing their working hours.

In Germany, the law states that reasons for refusal can be defined by collective agreement, but the social partners have not done anything substantial with this issue.

In Sweden, the Working Hours Act is optional<sup>16</sup> and can be partly or entirely replaced through collective agreements at sectoral level and/or sometimes at company level. The contractual and negotiated nature of labour market regulation in general (almost 80% or 90% of the legislation is based on collective agreements), and working time arrangements in particular, gives rise to disparities in the negotiated standard (usual) working hours between bargaining areas and also between different categories of employees.

In France, it is up to the social partners (at sectoral or company level) to define the conditions and modes of implementation of the '*temps partiel choisi*' option: these agreements should regulate the procedure that the employee has to follow in asking for this kind of contract and the procedure through which the employer may refuse.

For Spain, it is not known how often collective agreements contain regulations on part-time work. Sometimes, regional laws are implemented, as in Catalonia where civil servants have a right to reduce their working hours without wage reduction in order to care for children younger than one year old. In the case of children under six or disabled relatives or incapacitated elders, Catalonian civil servants may reduce their working hours by one-third or one-fifth, taking a wage reduction of 33% or 20% respectively.

In the UK, working hours are largely regulated through collective agreements, decentralised to the company level.

From an employee's life course perspective, higher degrees of flexibility and of reversibility of daily, weekly, monthly and annual working hours are of great importance. This is probably one of the most important instruments. However, it remains a serious challenge how to combine demands of employee-driven flexibility for reduced and increased working hours over the life course with the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> While the law is optional, there are, nevertheless, certain mandatory provisions that apply to the working hours of young people (under 18 years).

demands of companies for more flexible provision of production and services. An equitable universal access for employees over the whole working life course has to be balanced with increased flexibility rights of employers or by a collective and self-regulated adaptation between employees. In any case, the implementation of any flexible arrangement needs professional and effective human resource management within each department and at company level.

### Care leave

In principle, the right to care leave can be important for all stages within the life course since employees can always be confronted with sick relatives. One can argue that parents might be faced more often with sick dependants than other workers, but there is always the possibility of other relatives needing care. Compared with the other 'care-related' leave options (such as parental, maternity and paternity leave), care leave can be seen as a provision for more incidental and urgent needs. It can help workers out when they are suddenly confronted with a sick or terminally ill relative. As such, it is of a different nature to parental leave, for which the need is more predictable and can, therefore, be planned in advance.

All six countries under analysis have some statutory regulation for care leave, most often enabling parents to take care of their sick children. Facilities for dependants other than children are not always present.

In Sweden, the law enables parents to take care leave for sick children (60 days per year and per child, up to the child's twelfth birthday and, when the child is disabled, up to 16 years old). Employees are also entitled to leave of absence or reduction of working time to take care of a relative (spouse, parent, sibling or child) who is seriously ill (60 days). The loss of income is compensated in accordance with the replacement rate for sickness benefit. According to another law (since 1998), employees have the right to take unpaid leave for pressing family reasons (such as a relative's sickness or accident).

In Germany, both parents can take up to 10 days' leave per year to take care of sick children. If they have more than one child, they are entitled to 25 days. Single parents have a right to twice as much leave. During the leave, a sick benefit is paid (70% of income). For elderly relatives, there is no statutory right for any type of leave, but a financial compensation is paid by the public care insurance for home care (paid to the person in need of care). There is no limit to the duration of this financial compensation.

In the Netherlands, employees are entitled to paid care leave of twice the number of working hours per week (per year). Thus, an employee who is working full time can take up to 10 days. This leave can be used for necessary care for children, partner and parents. The level of payment is at least 70% of the wage (paid by the employer).

In Spain, care leave is short, but paid. In the case of serious illness of a child or relative, employees have a right to two days of leave, paid in full by the employer, and five days in the event of having to travel to another town. Employees are also entitled to one year of unpaid leave to take care of a relative.

In France, care leave is unpaid. Employees have a right to three days' unpaid leave per year in the case of a child's illness or accident (five days if the child is under one year of age or if the employee has at least three children under 16 years). In addition to this, an employee may take leave or work part time for four months in the event of a serious illness of the child (this can be re-granted twice, up to one year, and the employee is granted a parental presence allowance), or in the event of a terminally ill dependent parent.

In the UK, the regulation for care leave is the most meagre and also rather vague. Employees are entitled to take a 'reasonable amount' of unpaid leave to deal with an emergency or unexpected situation involving a dependant.

Again, it can be said that the social partners can add to the regulations, but how often this really happens is not known for most countries. For the UK, a survey by the Chartered Institute of Personnel and Development shows that the proportion of member companies offering some form of leave to care for older relatives rose from 15% in 1999 to 27% in 2002.

What is the life course relevance of existing arrangements of care leave? Care leave has the important function of combining paid work and care responsibilities for women, who are the ones mainly availing of care leave. This function can be best served if it provides leave for caring for children as well as for dependent elderly relatives. Demand for care of older people will increase dramatically with the changing demographic structure of increased longevity (more need for care) and reduced fertility (less potential carers). Good part-time options have to be regarded as the closest functional equivalent to care leave. High flexibility, longer duration and relatively high replacement income provide conditions supporting the take-up of such leave, by leading to more sustainable work biographies for women. Cost distribution (individual employer or the state) will play an important role in order to avoid discriminatory recruitment practices of women.

### Sabbaticals and career breaks

The need for a sabbatical or a career break can, in principle, be felt at all stages of the life course, although less often at the beginning and end of the working life. A provision for sabbaticals and career breaks is especially relevant to those people who have spent some time in the labour market, or who are working in particularly arduous jobs and need a break, or workers who need all their time to take care of children or other relatives.

In the six countries studied, at present only Germany and the Netherlands have a legal regulation for a sabbatical (Germany) or career break (the Netherlands). However, no statutory right to this kind of leave exists in either of these countries. In Germany, a paragraph in the law on the right to reduce working hours states that employees can ask their employer for a sabbatical. This request has to be taken seriously by the employer. Normally, this sabbatical is unpaid, but in the case of an accumulation of time on a working time account, the leave can be financed by redistribution of one's own income. In the Netherlands, the possibility exists for a career break of at least two months and for at least one-third of the weekly working hours. This possibility, however, grants no legal right to take a career break; it is just that an option exists for a small amount of financial compensation ( $\in$ 3 per hour of leave, with a maximum of  $\in$ 490 per month). To be eligible for this option, several conditions have to be met, such as that the employee has to be replaced by someone who is unemployed (this was also the case in Belgium until 1992 in the framework of the career break scheme and also in Denmark during the 1990s<sup>17</sup>).

In France, employees who meet certain criteria of seniority in the company and/or in professional life<sup>18</sup> may ask for a sabbatical or career break. The employer may refuse or postpone the demand, but is bound to justify the decision.

In Sweden, 12 municipalities have launched a scheme for sabbaticals and career breaks, which as of January 2005 are intended to be generalised and extended to the whole country. Through this scheme, both private and public employees (with at least two years of employment) are entitled to take a sabbatical (for at least three months and at most one year), provided that the employer hires an unemployed person. The income replacement is 85% of the unemployment benefit the employee would have received if he/she were unemployed.

Information about regulations at sectoral level is scarce, but generally speaking, the social partners can make arrangements by collective agreements. In Germany, for example, the collective agreement for the public sector (BAT) contains the option of sabbatical leave. In the Netherlands, 35% of collective agreements in 2000 had a paragraph about career breaks; about 6% of the collective agreements contained a clause for payment (usually partial) of career breaks. Sometimes, the option for career breaks is part of a regulation for working time accounts or part of an 'à la carte' scheme. In the UK, some companies have schemes for career breaks that imply entitlement to a job (not necessarily one's own).

Career breaks and sabbaticals have great potential to ease combination stress in the 'rush hour of life' since they provide substantial time blocks. Guaranteeing the finance is paramount to people availing of these working time options. Intrapersonal finance, through individual savings or credits, makes them only possible for upper/middle-class professionals. The group of potential beneficiaries gets even smaller if one takes into account the fact that many private employers are apprehensive about employees taking such breaks. Their use is often interpreted as a lack of commitment to work, which may lead to a slower career progression. The question of a mere employers may have to balance the possible positive motivational effects against the loss of human capital for longer-term breaks and the practical challenges for the personnel department in finding a suitable replacement.

### **Educational leave**

In principle, a right to educational leave could be of interest to employees at all stages of the life course, although the need for this will be rather limited at the beginning and end of one's working life. As can be seen from the table in the Appendix, only Sweden, France and Spain have a universal right to (apply for) educational leave.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> Facing a high unemployment rate, the Danish government decided at the beginning of the 1990s to introduce long paid leave (parental, educational and sabbatical) in order to implement a kind of job rotation scheme: the employer was obliged to hire an unemployed person to replace employees who asked for such leave. Employees using this possibility were entitled to up to 80% of the maximum rate of unemployment benefit. In 1994, 13,000 employees took sabbatical leave, creating the same number of job opportunities. Conditions were progressively tightened, either from the point of view of the employee (less benefits) or the employer (substitute should have been unemployed for more than one year). This scheme was abolished at the end of the 1990s (Nätti, 1999; Madsen, 2002).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> Six years of professional experience is generally required, as a reference to the tradition of the sabbatical year that is a common rule in the academic world.

In Sweden, an unpaid right exists for educational leave, with no time limit on the length of the leave. Although the right is unpaid, a mixed system of grants and long-term public loans exists that facilitates the exercise of this right. The social partners can improve this regulation.

In France, employees have had the right since 1971 (with several improvements in 1991 and 1994) to ask for an individual educational leave of one year at most or of 1,200 hours in the case of parttime training. The leave can be partially paid through a benefit fund that is financed by companies, but also by a working time account since 1994 (see below). Collective agreements may extend the duration of this leave. In September 2003, a national collective agreement was concluded that gave employees the right to save 20 hours per year over six years, to be used for educational leave. This agreement was transcribed into the law relating to professional training and social dialogue on 4 May 2004. The law confirms the individual right to training (*droit individuel à la formation* or DIF) – also requiring the agreement of the employer – through which the employee could accumulate 20 hours a year during six years (120 hours). Training may take place during or outside working time, depending on the provisions of the sectoral or company agreement. If the training takes place outside working time, the employee is granted an allowance, amounting to up to 50% of their income. The DIF is transferable from one company to another in case of redundancy (with the exception of redundancy due to serious professional misdemeanour).

In Spain, employees have a right to apply for training leave, but since the number of places funded by training plans is limited, the right is not universal. Employees, including those in government, can enjoy up to 200 hours per year of training within the training plans funded by the Tripartite Training Foundation; this organisation also pays the employee's full wages during the training.

In Germany, no federal statutory regulation exists for educational leave. However, most *Länder* (except Bavaria, Baden-Württemberg, Saxony and Thuringia) have implemented a right to such leave for their public sector employees (five days per year). During leave, employees receive their income from the employer.

In the Netherlands and UK, there is no legal right at all, though, in the Netherlands, working time accounts can be used for this aim. However, collective agreements often contain regulations on educational leave. In 2001, 91% of the agreements included such clauses (Arbeidsinspectie, 2002). The duration is not always specified (where it is, it varies from one to 10 days); the leave is most often paid. In the UK, some employers provide options for educational leave. In 2000, one-fifth of employers had study leave provisions for at least some employees.

As will be seen in Chapter 4, different surveys concerning the development of collective bargaining on the issue of working time (Mermet and Gradev, 2003) or on the issue of lifelong learning (Foundation, 2002) highlight the growing importance of these subjects in the bargaining agenda of the social partners. The normative conditions of access to lifelong learning possibilities have been developed in countries like the Netherlands and France, as mentioned above, but also in Austria, Belgium, Denmark and Italy. Germany tends to favour bargaining at company level. Conversely, Portugal, Ireland, Greece and Luxembourg remain behind in this respect.

From the employee's life course perspective, the need for high adaptability based on high professional capacity and motivation (in other words, employability) is a core element of a

successful work biography. Companies, too, should have a genuine interest in a qualified and motivated workforce. Time and costs (direct and indirect opportunity cost) are important resources for the possibility of improving individual employability. Therefore, a right to educational leave with sufficient resources provided at the right time during the working life course is important. For actual implementation, it is obviously necessary for the cost and time distribution to be discussed between the individual employee and management, as well as the content and orientation of the training/education initiative.

### Working time accounts

From a life course perspective, long-term working time accounts are of special interest. With such an option, in principle, people can save up time or salary to finance any kind of leave (sometimes also early retirement) at a later stage in their life course. One could argue that, in theory, from a life course perspective, this is the most dynamic and flexible working time option. It is, in fact, a rather individualised arrangement<sup>19</sup> for people to redistribute their own time and income, but of course this has to be made possible and financially supported by employers and/or law and governments.

Before describing the situation in the six countries studied, it is necessary to define working time accounts and how they relate to other terms like 'annualised hours' and 'time banks', which also refer to a system of flexibilisation of working time over a certain period. If one looks only at schemes explicitly named working time accounts, one comes to the conclusion that the phenomenon is not widespread in most countries – with the exception of Germany. In a report on behalf of the Foundation, Fagan (2003) mentions only some sector agreements on time accounts in Italy and Sweden, in addition to the German working time accounts.

What is becoming quite common in many countries is the annualisation of working hours. Annualised hours or annualisation refers to schemes whereby employees' working time (and pay) is calculated and scheduled over the period of a year (or less) rather than on the basis of a week, as in more traditional working time schemes (for overview, see EIROnline, 2003).<sup>20</sup> Working time account is a more neutral phrase than annualisation in terms of time, as the reference period is no part of it. Time banking is also a neutral term in that respect, but used less often than working time accounts (mainly in Italy).

Here, the term working time account shall be defined as a system that enables employees to save and accumulate time (and/or money) in order to plan periods of time off work or periods of parttime work, which can be taken at a later phase of their life course. This allows employees to finance periods of training, to care for children or other dependent people, to pursue leisure prospects or to retire gradually.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> In Germany, where this practice is most widespread, working time accounts were often introduced for economic reasons (in order to adjust the work capacity to market requirements). In those cases, working time accounts are not an individualised option, but rather regulated at company or departmental level.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> These definitions also change from country to country. In France, annualisation refers to the possibility given to the employer to vary working hours over the year in order to face peaks and gaps in production. For employees, this means that their working time duration may vary from one period to another and the employer has to respect the legal/agreed working week duration as an average over the year. Under this definition, the employee has no say concerning the use of this scheme, which, however, is largely regulated by collective agreement at sectoral and/or company level. Annualised working time is a way of measuring working time of the individual on a yearly basis: 1,600 hours a year is now the reference in public administration (35 hours a week).

From a life course perspective, it is important to know how much time (or salary) can be saved for future leave and what is the overall period for balancing the working time. The more time (or salary) saved and the longer the overall period, the more flexibility is offered in adapting working time to different periods in the life course. Another important issue is the degree to which workers can influence the amount of working time and its distribution over time, because only if employees have some time sovereignty can they use a flexible working time scheme to structure their life course according to their needs. The potential impact also depends on the possibility or otherwise of transferring an account with a change of employer and the security that an account is protected in case of bankruptcy of the employer.<sup>21</sup> If conditions like this are not well covered, employees may not be willing to take the risk of using a working time account.

From the point of view of time sovereignty, a final distinction must be made between short-term accounts (which are to be found particularly in Germany and which seem to result from a compromise between production needs – annualisation as it is understood in France – and employee needs) and long-term accounts (which leave more room for employees to decide on when and how much time they will use, even if the employer may refuse, normally for serious reasons, the use of time credits at a particular time).

Currently, three of the six countries studied (Germany, Netherlands and France) provide statutory regulations on working time accounts. In Sweden, discussion is ongoing about this issue.

In Germany, a law on flexitime regulates social security protection in cases of discontinuous working time distribution. This is generally without collective financial compensation, but in the case of an accumulation of time on a working time account, employees themselves finance the leave. Many collective and company agreements regulate the conditions for the accumulation and withdrawal of time from the working time account.

In the Netherlands, employees are entitled to save 10% of their salary or working time per year for taking leave at a later stage in life. It is, in fact, a legal framework, for employees may only benefit from this provision in case the employer has a *verlofspaarregeling* or working time account. This may be used for study, care or holidays, but not for early retirement. At present, there is a vigorous debate between the Dutch Government and the social partners about the so-called 'life course regulation'. This regulation is (apart from other goals) meant to be used by employees for early or flexible retirement. As soon as it is implemented (1 January 2006, as proposed by Government), present fiscal options for early retirement will be restricted.

Provisions for working time accounts can also be found in collective agreements in the Netherlands. Research from the Dutch Labour Inspectorate shows that 53% of these agreements include some regulations on working time accounts. The aims for which the account can be used are sometimes extended (for example, to early retirement).

In France, there is a law (1994 and 2000) stating that sectoral or company agreements may implement a time account (*Compte Épargne Temp* or CET), which may be filled with annual paid

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> In Finland, an interesting suggestion has been made by AKAVA (trade union for high level professionals and academics) and STTK (trade union for nurses, technical engineers, police officers, etc): to create a special bank in which workers may deposit their working time accounts. This could be a way of mutualising working time accounts and extracting them from their individualistic dimension.

leave (not more than 10 days) or money (different bonuses and allowances, part of the individual wage increase, payment for overtime, possible contribution of the employer) or days off, which are linked to a working time reduction. This CET may be used either in time-off or in money. It can be used in the frame of part-time parental leave or care leave or for educational leave, but it has to be used within five years from the creation of the account.

This law has been transposed into a large portion of sectors: 40% had provided regulations on the CET in 2000, 22% in 2001, 15% in 2002.<sup>22</sup> At this level, the categories that may benefit from this kind of scheme are regulated (some tend to favour professional and staff management), as are the time elements that may be put in the working time account, the minimum duration of accumulated leave necessary to use it (not more than two months in some agreements) and the deadline for using it (normally five years, but could be extended to seven or even 10 years). Other agreements regulate the way of asking for the CET and the procedure used by employers to give their answer; further agreements regulate how to continue to contribute to social security provisions.

Working time accounts have given rise to interesting collective agreements in other countries. Recently, in Denmark, a framework agreement for central government employees (which, it was assumed, would also be taken over by the agreement covering local and municipal workers) allows individual employees to save up their free-time entitlements (free time in lieu of overtime, holidays and special free days) and take them all together at a later date.

In Sweden, in the last collective bargaining round of 2001, the social partners concluded the Industrial Agreement covering about 600,000 blue and white collar workers (approximately 20% of the gainfully employed population) in various sectors (chemical, textile, wood, engineering, etc). In the agreement, several changes on working time were introduced. For example, an arrangement called 'Life working time' in the wood, mining and engineering (metallurgy) sectors allows for 0.5% of labour income per year to be saved in a working time account. The savings account can be used to take leave or reduce working time, or may be taken out in cash (except in the engineering sector). It has been calculated that this account can give rise to a working time reduction of 50 hours per year. According to the same agreement, there is also the possibility of introducing a working time bank, which seems to be quite common within this bargaining area.

In conclusion, long-term working time accounts are of particular interest from a life course perspective because, potentially, they allow the shifting of more substantial amounts of time and income between different life phases. These kinds of arrangement are – in a life course perspective – different from flexitime accounts, which allow individual employees to adjust their daily working time within a given time corridor (core working time) to their individual preferences. Several empirical studies show that, for day-to-day time management, flexitime accounts are of great importance for stress reduction, effective combination of different time demands and improved life satisfaction for the individual.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> From one year to the next, the same sector may renegotiate the previous agreement.

## Combined working time options in selected countries

Having analysed individual working time options from a life course perspective, the following discussion will focus on the combined options available in the six countries selected for this study. In some countries, the package of available working time options gives significant support to employees to satisfy various time demands at different stages of their life course; in others, such options receive little support. Table 10 gives a qualitative assessment for each working time option, from very positive to very negative, in each of the six countries. It is a heuristic device, which needs to be backed-up by further in-depth research.

## Table 10 Working time options and their life course effects in six countries

	Sweden	Germany	Netherlands	France	Spain	UK
Reduce/increase working hours	+	+	+ +	-	-	-
Maternity leave	=	=	=	=	=	=
Paternity leave	=	-	=	=	=	=
Parental leave	+ +	+	+	=	=	=
Care leave	++	+	+	-	=	-
Sabbaticals and career breaks	=	+	+	=	-	=
Educational leave	+	=	-	+	+	-
Working time accounts	+	+ +	+ +	+ +	=	-
Flexible retirement	+	+	+	+	+	=
Early retirement	+ +	-	=	+	=	++

+ + Very positive life course effect

+ Positive life course effect

= Neutral life course effect

- Negative life course effect

- - Very negative life course effect

The assessment in Table 10 is based on negative or positive effects on the combination of time demands for paid employment and other activities in the various life phases. It incorporates, among other things, the following dimensions: general existence, universal availability, duration, flexibility for the distribution of time resources over a period of time, extent of replacement income and effects on labour market attachment over time.

The overview provided in Table 10 reveals two extremes and a middle position:

- Sweden and the Netherlands show a number of positive initiatives covering most life phases, being fairly universally available and positively influencing a long-term labour market attachment of women.
- In contrast, the UK has very few regulatory arrangements on working time options that are relevant from a life course perspective. This is not surprising considering the relatively low overall level of employment regulation in liberal welfare regimes.
- A middle position is seen in France and Germany. Spain is less developed than the other countries, but has more regulation than the UK as far as educational and flexible retirement is concerned.

## Conclusions

It is clear from the above discussion that the institutional framework for the arrangement of working time throughout the working life in the countries studied is diverse. The levels of regulation at which the options are initiated and implemented vary between the countries. The same can be said for the content and quality of the different options regarding suitable conditions from an employee-centred life course perspective. In Sweden, France, Germany and the Netherlands, relevant working time options are developed and implemented both by government and the social partners. At the other end of the continuum is the UK, where neither government nor the social partners are very active in developing working time options, although work–life balance policies have come to the fore in public policy debates and initiatives in recent years, connected closely to the business case argument which aims to enhance the utilisation of companies' workforces and, hence, productivity.

Looking at the different working time options and viewed from a life course perspective, one could argue that, in principle, a right to adapt working hours (reduce and increase), working time accounts, lifelong learning/training schemes and flexible retirement schemes offer the most support to the different needs of people during their life course (provided, of course, that the conditions are suitable). A right to adapt working hours offers people the possibility of reducing and increasing working hours for longer periods in their lives and of balancing work with other social, family, citizenship and leisure commitments. Working time accounts can have the same function, but are more appropriate for shorter periods in life during which people stop working because they want to spend time on other activities. Lifelong learning schemes, that could be linked to working time accounts, allow employees to orientate their working biographies differently, which is particularly important in the current context (induced by the European employment strategy) of lengthening the working life. Flexible retirement schemes allow employees to decide when they want to retire and under what conditions (duration of working time and income level). The other working time options are all connected to specific circumstances or episodes in the life course and vary in duration and in their impact on the life course.

Starting from this analysis, a distinction has been suggested between life event-specific working time options and life course-specific working time options, which theoretically allow for the building of controlled life biographies. Looking at developments in the European countries, the following points may be taken from the analysis:

- Most of the countries surveyed have implemented life event-specific working time options corresponding to specific life events, among which child-raising and family commitments are predominant.
- The most common trend during the last 20 years, as far as these life phases/events are concerned, has been a shift from short leave options (maternity) towards longer ones (combined maternity and parental leave).
- In addition, provisions have become more flexible by offering a choice between a complete time-limited exit out of work or a combination of care and paid work on a part-time basis.
- The main differentiation lies in the payment conditions of parental leave.
- Another difference is the possibility of returning to the same or a similar job (Sweden and Germany) and/or the sustainability of the employment contract (Sweden compared with UK).

- The involvement of fathers in their role of caretakers and combating the unequal position of men and women due to the birth of children is also differently regulated.
- Concerning early retirement, a shift can be observed towards the more dynamic approach of flexible retirement schemes (before or after the retirement age) and away from the more traditional early retirement schemes (through which employees used to retire definitively from the labour market before their legal retirement age).
- Flexible retirement schemes provide the opportunity of making another distinction between working time options leading to a controlled life course rather than an externally determined life course (or, in other words, working time options leading to a flexible life course rather than a standardised one). Currently, the introduction of flexible retirement schemes is generally linked to pension reforms, and aims at reinforcing the sustainability of pension provision through the lengthening of the working life. The increased number of working years necessary in order to receive a full pension induces a shift from the trend to a reduced life course towards a lengthened one, which could become a new standard in the future.

Life course-specific working time options are less common and have appeared recently. The following may be concluded:

- Although the six countries studied have regulations on part-time work, the right to reduce or increase working hours temporarily is regulated by statute only in the Netherlands, while in Germany there is a right only to reduce working hours. Moreover, the right to reduce working hours must be assessed while keeping in mind the conditions that surround part-time contracts, which are different from one country to another, even though there is an EU directive.
- During recent years, some countries have introduced regulations on working time accounts (Germany, Netherlands and France). This is a way of financing sabbaticals, lifelong learning periods or other career breaks, which until now were barely paid (even though there are statutory provisions for them in most of the countries surveyed). From a life course perspective, a distinction should be made between short-term and long-term working time accounts. The latter allow more controlled, flexible, de-standardised life course profiles, while the former are generally the result of a compromise between company needs and employee constraints, and are embedded in a standardised conception of the life course. Consequently, in the countries where working time accounts are regulated, one should also look at the scope and limits of how the working time accounts can be filled and at their conditions of use (e.g. after how much time or up to what amount of accumulated rights; limitations concerning the ways of using the working time accounts; limitations imposed by employers; transferability from one company to another).
- Individual lifelong learning accounts have also recently appeared. They aim to overcome the
  problems of financing training courses that are not directly linked to the job (this has spread in
  all countries except the UK).

As a general conclusion on the institutional framework for working time, three marked trends are found:

The first trend refers to the regulation of more dynamic working time options (life course-specific working time options), which, at least in theory, allow for the construction of individual biographies linked to the differentiated needs and lifestyles of employees.

- The second trend acknowledges the increasing orientation towards working time options that allow for longer periods of deviation from the standard working time regimes.
- The third trend concerns the level and mode of regulation of these working time options. During the last 25 years, there has been a trend towards the decentralisation of working time regulation in Europe (from legislation and/or national collective agreements or sector-level agreements towards company or unit agreements). However, regulations of the working time options designed from a life course perspective tend to be, in their general principles, regulated at a central level, mainly by law, even in countries where working regulations used to be ruled by collective agreements (the Netherlands constitutes a good example). Conversely, conditions and modes of enforcement tend to be regulated through sector or company agreements.

3

The following discussion analyses the relationships between flexible working time options and social security (relation 2 in Figure 1). For this purpose, social security is defined in a narrow sense, mainly focusing on financial issues.<sup>23</sup> At the same time, the analysis links social security to the relevant welfare state regime (relation 3 in Figure 1). Because of the multiple aspects that have to be considered, the analysis cannot cover all countries of the EU15, let alone EU25, but it does highlight interesting examples.

Two important fields are discussed in this chapter and in the following one. Here, the focus is on the perspective of the individual, his or her access to certain branches of social security and the benefits he or she can claim (in the short and long term). Chapter 4 deals with the financial impact of different working time arrangements on existing social security systems and their financial sustainability. Both chapters follow the same order, discussing three groups of issues that are relevant in many people's working lives because they can directly or indirectly influence access to social security and the level of benefits:

- interruptions in employment career or work biography (e.g. by unemployment or take-up of leave schemes);
- reduced working hours, in particular long and short part-time work;
- flexible working time schemes (e.g. working time accounts).

# **Employment interruptions**

Interruptions in the employment career can occur for different reasons. They can be the result of taking an existing leave option (e.g. maternity or parental leave, care leave, leave for training or sabbaticals during one's working life). They can also result from inactivity beyond such schemes, often, nevertheless, connected to care work (e.g. when women stay outside the labour market after parental leave or when they give up employment to care for an elderly relative). Interruptions can result from unemployment, or a late labour market entry or early exit, compared with what is regarded as a normal employment biography.

In terms of social protection and income options over the life course, the incidence and duration of employment interruptions differ widely across socio-economic groups within a single country and also between countries. The coverage depends on such factors as the degree to which the respective interruption is regarded as the result of a social risk that requires social protection or of a socially valuable (non-market) activity that deserves collective protection. Also of relevance to coverage is whether the interruption is regarded as voluntary or involuntary. Finally, the notion of an employment interruption requires a normative, but often not realised, concept of a full working life. This norm can differ from country to country, as is obvious from differences in legal retirement age.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> In a broader sense, legal rights (e.g. the right to claim part-time or parental leave) would also have to be regarded as part of social security.

### Unemployment

One of the employment interruptions most commonly accepted as a social risk and as involuntary is unemployment.<sup>24</sup> Although the definition of unemployment differs from country to country and, in addition, recent labour market reforms show a trend to redefine (and restrict) the idea of unemployment, so far all countries provide some sort of cash benefits to cover times of unemployment. Except for the liberal welfare states (UK and Ireland), where flat-rate benefits are paid, all EU countries provide income-related benefits, at least for the first phase of unemployment. Compared with other interruptions, income security for unemployment is therefore relatively well regulated, although in many countries not as well as it used to be some years ago.

Some important differences between countries and sub-groups of the workforce need to be mentioned. The differences concern the criteria for access to unemployment insurance, as well as the eligibility for earnings-related benefits. Sometimes, access is restricted to people with certain jobs, excluding, for example, self-employed people or the so-called 'sham' self-employed (Germany), or people with small jobs. In some countries, like France, even workers with small part-time jobs have access to unemployment insurance, whereas other countries restrict access for certain groups of part-timers. One example is Sweden, where people with small part-time jobs of less than 12 hours per week are not eligible; another example is Germany, where the threshold for access to social insurance used to be 15 hours per week or €325 per month until recently (April 2003) when the income threshold was raised to €400 per month and the time threshold was abolished.<sup>25</sup> These regulations can be regarded as barriers for a more flexible distribution of working time over the life course. Another barrier can be the requirement of a long insurance period prior to unemployment, particularly in combination with a short qualifying period during which this requirement has to be fulfilled.<sup>26</sup>

The level and maximum duration of unemployment benefits in most countries depend on the employee's work history. Another important factor for the duration of the earning replacement benefit is the age of the unemployed person (e.g. in Denmark, Greece, Germany and in particular Greece, where the duration only depends on age). Whereas the work history criterion refers to the idea of equivalence (between individual contributions and the resulting claim), the second follows another logic, reflecting the lower labour market chances that elderly unemployed people have in many countries. From a life course perspective, unemployment is therefore better protected in later stages of life in many countries.

If one considers the cross-country variation of the maximum duration of earning-replacement benefits (from some months, e.g. four months for certain groups of insured workers in Spain, to an unlimited claim, e.g. in Belgium), it becomes obvious that many unemployment periods are not

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> The notion of involuntary unemployment is actually highly controversial among economists as well as politicians. It cannot be denied that unemployment can also be a voluntary situation, e.g. in the case of frictional unemployment. Without going into detail about the complex border between voluntary and involuntary interruptions, it can be stated that the original idea behind collective unemployment insurance was the perception of unemployment as a risk that workers were (and are) involuntarily exposed to. This is also reflected by the fact that in many countries (e.g. Denmark, Greece, Spain, France, Luxembourg and Sweden), the involuntary nature of unemployment is still explicitly mentioned as one of the conditions for unemployment benefits (see MISSOC website: www.europa.eu.int/comm/ employment\_social/missoc/index\_en.html).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> This means that workers with low wages, below €400 per month, cannot even get access to unemployment insurance when they work more than 15 hours per week.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup> Example: The insurance requirements in France (six months out of the last 22 months) are easier to fulfil than those in Luxembourg (26 weeks out of the last year); the requirements in Germany and Denmark (52 weeks out of the last three years) are easier to fulfil than those in Austria (52 weeks out of the last two years).

covered by cash benefits in spite of existing unemployment systems and that unemployment can, therefore, threaten not only people's time allocation, but also their income over the life course. Reeligibility usually requires a new period of employment. In some countries (e.g. Sweden), enrolment in active labour market programmes can serve to fulfil the criteria required. In other countries (e.g. Germany), this 'revolving door effect' has been restricted in recent years. Active labour market measures have frequently become the precondition for eligibility to financial transfers during unemployment (as in the British 'New Deal' programmes or in the Danish system, where the period of unemployment, after which activation is compulsory, has been shortened several times). Young people who encounter problems in establishing themselves in the labour market often have limited access to cash benefits in the case of unemployment. To counter this, several countries (e.g. France, Netherlands, UK and Germany) have focused special active labour market programmes on this group. As far as cash benefits are concerned, however, the general picture is that work interruptions due to unemployment are better protected when they occur later in life and after a longer period of (insured) employment.

In countries where social protection strongly relies on statutory insurance (particularly 'conservative' countries, such as Germany and France), registered unemployment usually gives access to the healthcare system and the pension system. In the latter, pension claims are built up during unemployment, although to a reduced degree.

In countries where some medical treatment is granted for the whole population (e.g. Sweden as an example of the Scandinavian regime, the UK as an example of the liberal regime and Spain as an example of the Mediterranean regime), it is less important how employment interruptions are classified since basic rights to healthcare are not affected by employment status or the classification of employment interruptions. The same holds true for access to citizen-based basic pensions (e.g. in the Dutch AOW system or the Danish *folkepension-* system) and for systems that guarantee minimum pensions for needy elderly people (e.g. the new Swedish *garantipension*, the Spanish *pensione non contributiva* or the British Category D Retirement Pension). Where minimum pensions are based on a certain number of insurance years, however (such as the *minimum vieillesse* in France, the *trattamento minimo* in Italy or, with limited requirements, the British Basic State Pension/Category A Retirement Pension), periods of unemployment usually count for the required waiting period.

If social protection for unemployment phases seems to be quite privileged compared with other interruptions in the employment career, it has to be stated that this refers to most statutory 'first pillar systems' only.<sup>27</sup> As far as 'second pillar systems' are concerned (e.g. occupational pensions), unemployment usually leads to problems in building up one's claims for retirement age. This is particularly relevant in countries where second (and third) pillar systems are of considerable significance (as in the UK).

## Leave schemes

Compared with unemployment, leave schemes are usually less well protected. This does not apply to maternity leave, however: in most countries, a high wage replacement benefit is paid during

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> The term 'first pillar systems' is used to describe the statutory core systems of old age security (e.g. national pension insurance), whereas 'second pillar systems' are occupational pension systems, either compulsory or voluntary, that build on the first pension layer. The 'third pillar' covers private savings, etc. for old age.

maternity leave (e.g. 80% in Italy, 90% in the UK or Denmark, and even 100% in Germany and France). Job security is guaranteed and coverage by the statutory healthcare and pension systems is not negatively affected by the duration of maternity leave.<sup>28</sup> From a life course perspective, problems do not arise from social security coverage during maternity leave, but they can result from the distribution of costs: where employers have to bear a considerable part of the costs arising, this might influence their recruitment behaviour and restrict young women's chances in the labour market, which can have an effect on their whole future life course. In Denmark, the social partners decided in 2004 to start a collectively financed maternity fund to avoid this effect.

Subsequent times of parental leave are covered to a far lesser degree, even if the right to take leave beyond the regulations of the EU Directive on parental leave exists in many countries. Cash benefits are available only in a few European countries and are usually restricted to people with a certain employment record; they are also means-tested and the maximum level cannot replace a wage (e.g. maximum amount per month in 2002 in France was  $\in$ 484; in Luxembourg,  $\in$ 439; in Germany,  $\in$ 307– $\in$ 460<sup>29</sup>). Sweden is a rare exception in Europe – here, parental leave is compulsorily insured as a social risk and a wage replacement benefit of 80% is paid. Another problem is that the existing parental leave schemes do not always give an employment guarantee, even if they give the right to cash benefits (e.g. in the case of the French APE).

The coverage of eldercare leave is even more limited. To date, a legal right to interrupt work for eldercare only exists in a very limited number of European countries (e.g. Sweden and the Netherlands). In addition, this right is sometimes restricted to close relatives or to dying family members, or else the maximum period of time is very restricted.<sup>30</sup> The loss of present or future income for the carer is usually not perceived as a social risk and, therefore, not covered in most countries. Again, Sweden is an exception – here, the carer can receive an 80% wage replacement benefit for up to 60 days per person in need of care. Ireland and the UK also provide a carer allowance, but in these countries it is a means-tested benefit, restricted to needy carers, and has to be seen in the context of the low benefits provided within social assistance schemes. Where payments for private care are provided, it is usually the person in need of care who can claim the money (depending on the level of care needed), not the carer (e.g. in Germany, Netherlands and Denmark). The dominant idea behind this is to give the person in need of care some financial autonomy (an idea which is strong in the Netherlands, for example). The loss of employment income of carers, on the contrary, is not perceived as a risk that has to be covered collectively, at least not in a way that exceeds the protection of other inactive persons (see below).

However, carers are sometimes supported, as far as their future retirement income is concerned. In Spain, up to three years per child can be counted towards the pension system to cover periods of parental leave. In Germany, parents receive tax-financed pension claims equalling three years of full-time employment for each child born since 1992. The German social care insurance pays contributions for people engaged in private eldercare to the pension system. Yet, these

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup> The legal right to paternity leave that has been introduced in some countries can be regarded as symbolic in most cases (e.g. two days of paid leave in the Netherlands; see also Chapter 2). It is, therefore, not covered here. In the Swedish case, however, paternity leave plays a considerable role as an opportunity to adjust working time to one's personal needs, in particular because it is combined with a wage replacement benefit and because a part of parental leave (now two months) is exclusively reserved for fathers.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup> In Germany, the maximum amount was  $\in$  460 if only one year of parental leave was taken;  $\in$  307 was paid per child for up to two years.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>30</sup> In the Netherlands, the legal right to take time off for care is restricted to a maximum of 10 days; longer care leave can be arranged within the scheme for career breaks (law on work and care), but the financing is through a shift of individual income from another working time period by the carer.

contributions are based on the amount of care that the frail elderly relative requires and can never reach the pension credits that parents receive for childcare. In the British state pension system, both work interruptions for childcare (until the age of 16 years) and eldercare (unlimited) are accredited and can fill gaps in the insurance career ('home responsibilities protection'). While there is no hierarchy of different times for care, the monetary equivalent of the credits is moderate; they only help to achieve the full, but low, state pension. In countries with basic pensions based on citizenship or residence (e.g. Denmark and the Netherlands), care periods do not affect this general claim and discontinuous biographies are, therefore, better protected. However, leave periods affect the protection in second pillar systems. This has to be regulated within collective agreements. As far as the Netherlands is concerned, a report from 2000 analysing the 100 largest pension funds (covering more than 90% of all participants in second pillar pension funds) found that, for more than three-quarters of all insured persons, a regulation existed that allowed them to build up pension claims while availing of a leave scheme (e.g. parental leave, care leave or sabbatical leave).

In recent times, developments in the field of eldercare and workers' rights to take leave for this kind of care have been ambivalent. Whereas in some countries (e.g. Germany and the Netherlands), social protection of carers in this field has been extended (either by leave options or by cash benefits or both), thereby improving relatives' options to care, there is a clear trend in the Scandinavian countries (e.g. Finland and Sweden) to abolish the obligation of children to take care of their parents, as part of the overall trend towards individualisation. Taking into account the general demographic trend and the increasing problems of financing public welfare, it is quite probable that increased time options and benefits for eldercare will necessarily be on the future political agendas of many countries. In the context of a reorganisation of time throughout the life course, this topic can be regarded as one of the crucial fields for regulation.

#### Inactivity

A third field to be analysed is that of so-called inactivity. This notion of inactivity (commonly used, but questionable) means that people are not active in the labour market, neither in (registered) unemployment nor making use of a regulated leave scheme. Inactivity in this sense also covers people involved in care activities, insofar as they cannot make use of a regulated leave scheme.

In the context of the organisation of time over the life course, the question of whether the state should support phases of inactivity (and for whom) must not be neglected. One might suppose that strong financial support for inactivity (a high level of decommodification) strengthens people's chances of organising their time over the life course.

In fact, no European country provides an unconditional basic income for all its citizens. Social assistance schemes are means-tested everywhere (at least before people reach the age of retirement) and are increasingly bound to a required form of behaviour, such as the search for paid work. Nonetheless, a high level of decommodification still exists in some countries for spouses. In spite of the general trend towards individualised taxation, several European countries still give considerable incentives for the second person in the household not to work. Whereas the household profits from tax reductions, the marginal tax burden on the second income is particularly high. The highest tax subsidies for non-employed spouses (compared with a second full-time job) are found in Belgium and Germany, where a second average full-time income in the

household increases the net household income by only about 54% (Belgium) and 63% (Germany).<sup>31</sup> In the UK, on the contrary, the increase would be 92% (Klammer and Daly, 2003, Table 3; data for 1997). In some of the Scandinavian countries (e.g. Sweden and Finland), a family breadwinner's income is taxed at the same tax rate as the income of a single person (Koopmans and Schippers, 2003; data for 2000).

Yet, this is not necessarily a characteristic of individualised tax systems. In the Danish case, spouses are taxed separately, but single earners in a family, nevertheless, profit from considerable tax credits (Dingeldey, 2002). Given the philosophy behind the Danish welfare state, however, this can hardly be interpreted as an instrument used to make women's participation in the labour market unattractive. Instead, the idea is to leave a minimum of existence for each person tax free and to give people in certain life/family phases the option of leaving the labour market for a certain period (Dingeldey, 2002).

In some conservative welfare states (e.g. France and Germany), the inactivity of spouses in the labour market is still supported by free healthcare insurance coverage. In addition, most conservative and Mediterranean welfare states provide derived coverage for spouses through quite generous survivor's pensions. This is particularly the case in Belgium, where spouses can receive up to 80% of their deceased partner's pension; in Greece, the figure used to be 70%<sup>32</sup>; and in Italy and Portugal, among others, 60% is paid. In contrast, in the Scandinavian countries and in the Netherlands, survivor's pensions have been abolished or at least restricted to special groups of survivors, and pension claims are more individualised.

How much the later pension income is reduced by periods of inactivity also depends on the notion of a complete insurance record. In Germany, this is 45 years, while it is 40 in France and Italy, but only 35 in Spain. This implies that a limited number of missing years (e.g. in female working biographies) do not have any impact on the Spanish statutory pension system.<sup>33</sup>

Subsidies for the one-earner family (and the 1.5-earner family) give spouses (often women with children or other care obligations) some freedom to choose whether and how much they want to be engaged in the labour market. Although this form of decommodification must be considered as one approach to allow people to distribute their time according to their preferences and needs, it has led to a critical debate from the gender perspective (Dingeldey, 2000a, 2000b; Deutscher Bundestag, 2002; Klammer and Daly, 2003). In fact, from a life course perspective, it can be criticised that this approach is limited to married partners. The empirical finding is that it has helped to reinforce traditional gender roles and time arrangements (for a comparison between Sweden and Germany, see Gustafsson, 1992). It is therefore limited to sub-groups of the population and, even for them, it covers only a certain part of their potential working life. In spite of the options that derived rights can give to married partners to find their desired household time arrangement and to adjust it over the life course, this group of rights can thus be regarded as inferior to universal rights. Universal rights for the individual citizen (e.g. general access to public healthcare or a right to a citizen-based minimum pension for all elderly citizens) can widen the individual's choice of working time arrangements, independent of his or her marital status. Since

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>31</sup> Assumption: The first person earns as much as an average production worker (APW).

 $<sup>^{\</sup>rm 32}$  50% for people who have become insured since 31 December 1992.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>33</sup> Yet, the number of female beneficiaries of retirement pensions is still quite small in Spain.

universal rights are still most widespread in the Scandinavian welfare states, these countries obviously grant people with discontinuous work histories a better social protection (at least in some branches of social security).

### **Early retirement**

A fourth field to be considered in the context of missing years of employment and social insurance over the life course is the area of early retirement. Early retirement always refers to the legal retirement age and the notion of a full employment career is, therefore, a normative concept. A comparison of the legal retirement age in different European countries reveals that there has been some convergence towards the age of 65 years. However, there are currently still some differences in the first pillar systems (e.g. 60 years for both sexes in France and for British and Austrian women), and age thresholds differ even more when systems for special groups or second pillar systems are included in the comparison.

In some countries (in particular, Sweden and Italy), the retirement age is flexible and the chosen retirement age determines the level of pension. Other countries (e.g. Germany, Austria and Spain) allow early retirement under certain circumstances (e.g. after long-term unemployment) or for certain professional groups. Early retirement usually goes along with pension reductions. In some countries (e.g. UK), early retirement is not possible. Options for late retirement (after the legal retirement age) are more widespread and also offered in France and the UK (VDR, 2003). Usually, this implies increased pension benefits.

Making the retirement age more flexible is, without doubt, a way of giving people more options to organise their time over their working lives, according to their individual needs and preferences. It must be taken into account, however, that this is an individualised option that gives no answer to the question of how people with particular time needs over the life course (e.g. for care) can be compensated. In addition, it should be checked empirically how much the actual age of retirement within a given corridor is influenced by, first, the overall labour market situation and, second, the level of the provided pension reductions or increases. As far as the first is concerned, it can be expected that, in times of high unemployment and labour shortage, older employees are pushed towards retirement, if retirement is possible. As far as the second is concerned, it can be assumed that pension reductions and supplements can be used as a steering instrument.

The existing national differences give some first hints as to how this instrument is already used. Currently, pensions are reduced by 3.6% per year of earlier retirement in Germany, compared with 6% in Sweden and up to 8% in Spain. On the other hand, the pension supplement for retirement beyond the age of 65 years is only 2% per year in Spain, but 7.5% in the UK and even 8.4% in Sweden (BMGS, 2003; European Commission, 2003b; VDR, 2003; and authors' calculations). Obviously, the Spanish regulation mainly aims at making early retirement unattractive, whereas the focus of the Swedish regulations is to encourage people to further postpone their retirement. Plans of the British Labour Government to increase pension supplements to 10% per year of postponed retirement (Greenbook of 2002, *see* VDR, 2003) show that this will probably become a common answer to the political challenge to prolong working life.

Table 11 summarises the main results of the preceding analysis.

Working time option/ arrangement or status	Impact on the individual's income and social security, with country examples	Possible effects and problems from a life course perspective
Unemployment	Still one of the best-covered work interruptions, with income-related benefits in most EU15 countries at least during the first phase (exception: only flat-rate benefit in liberal states of UK and IE). However, big differences in: • level of replacement rate (between 40% in IT	During unemployment: loss of income, in particular in the 'second phase'; loss of labour market attachment (might influence future career). Retirement age: unemployment phases with benefits often covered by insurance-based systems (e.g. DE,
	<ul> <li>and up to 90% in DK);</li> <li>maximum duration of benefits (e.g. 4-24 months in ES, unlimited in BE, often dependent on prior employment and age);</li> <li>requirements for employment prior to unemploy- ment (qualifying period, e.g. requirements higher in DE, DK, AT than in FR, LU, EL);</li> <li>exclusion of certain kinds of work (e.g. exclusion of people with small part-time jobs in DE, SE; often exclusion of self-employed; limited</li> </ul>	FR, IT), but often lack of coverage when no unemployment benefits can be claimed or in case of long unemployment; no negative effect on benefits in pension systems based on citizenship (as the Dutch AOW or the Danish <i>folkepension</i> ); in the second
	protection of young people); • requirements for re-eligibility.	Age groups: young people are often less well protected against unemployment than older workers (limited access, shorter period of benefit payments).
	Access to healthcare: no relevance for access to citizen-based healthcare systems (e.g. in UK, SE, IT), but access can be problematic in insurance-based systems (e.g. DE: only access for unemployed people who can claim unemployment benefits).	
	Access to pensions (see right).	
Maternity (and paternity) leave	Maternity leave: cross-country differences in length, but well-protected, usually with income replace- ment benefits (up to 100% in DE and FR), attachment to the labour market (labour contract) and ongoing access to healthcare. Usually, no or insignificant loss of pension income (see also right).	In most countries, income and social security coverage during maternity leave is granted at a high level. However, where employers have to bear the costs for maternity leave, this can influence their recruitment behaviour and limit the chances of young women in the labour market. Collectively financed systems can limit this danger (example: new
	Paternity leave only relevant in very few countries (SE, DK), where similarly well protected as maternity leave.	maternity fund in DK introduced in 2004).
Parental leave	Parental leave schemes beyond maternity leave exist in many countries, but the time period differs widely. The take up of parental leave usually leads to a considerable loss of income since a legal right	Problem: some parental leave schemes do not contain an employment guarantee (e.g. in FR). In countries where parental leave schemes give
	to claim benefits only exists in a few countries (e.g. SE, FR, LU, DE) and these benefits are usually not linked to the former wage (exception: SE). In some countries, benefits are regulated or supplemented in collective agreements (NL).	parents the right to return to their employer (e.g. DE), this creates an incentive for women to establish a labour market attachment before becoming pregnant.
	Access to healthcare and first pillar pensions can be a problem in countries without universalistic systems, but derived rights and extra credits for children in the pension system (e.g. in DE, ES, UK) limit these problems in the other welfare state regimes.	In SE, income replacement benefits give an incentive for women to work full time before giving birth (to maximise income during parental leave).

# Table 11 Employment interruptions and effect on individual's income and social security

Working time option/ arrangement or status	Impact on the individual's income and social security, with country examples	Possible effects and problems from a life course perspective
Leave for eldercare or care for ill family members	Special schemes exist in only a few countries (NL, SE) and leave is usually limited to a short time or to special situations (e.g. dying family members). Within the limits of these systems, an earning replacement benefit is usually paid and the labour contract is kept. In some countries, there is no special leave scheme (and no employment guarantee), but needy carers can claim cash benefits (e.g. UK, IE); in DE, they are	In other countries or in case of longer leave, usually no job or employment guarantee, loss of income and labour market contact; negative influence on future career. In countries without universalistic healthcare and pension systems, problems for access to the systems and reduced benefits may arise (but are sometimes limited, due to derived rights).
	covered by the pension system.	
Other leave (e.g. for training, sabbaticals)	Leave options are still limited, but increasing, except for DK where some of the existing leave schemes have been stopped due to labour shortages. Existing leave options (e.g. in NL, DE) usually rely	When the leave system does not contain employment guarantee, negative impact on future career is possible.
	on a redistribution of time and/or money of the individual, while the labour contract and, therefore, access to social security system is not interrupted.	Schemes based on redistribution of time/money are mainly financed by the individual, but some support from progressive tax systems.
	Claims to cash benefits (unemployment benefits, insurance pensions) are usually reduced proportionally.	Proportional reduction of income and social security transfers during the leave period and in old age, but access to systems can usually be maintained. In NL, more than three-quarters of all leave-takers can build up occupational pension claims during their leave.
Inactivity	No special scheme. Immediate loss of income in all countries and loss of potential pension income in insurance-based first pillar systems and occupational pension systems. In some countries, still high tax credits if spouse is inactive (see right); highest credits in some of the conservative welfare states (DE, BE), low incentives in liberal states (UK) and in some of the individualised Scandinavian tax systems (SE, FI). Access to healthcare: problematic in insurance- based systems, but sometimes not for married spouses (see right). Survivor's pensions abolished or severely restricted in Scandinavian countries and	In strong breadwinner models (in particular conservative as well as Mediterranean welfare states), inactivity of married women is still significantly supported by joint taxation of couples and by derived social security rights (e.g. access to healthcare, survivor's pensions). An influence on the family formation (e.g. marriage) and women's labour market decisions (in particular in the phase of early parenthood and later in life when there is need for eldercare) can be assumed. Derived benefits and tax credits for spouses give options of realising individual working time arrangements within the household and adjusting them over the (married) life course, but – unlike universal rights – contain a risk
	NL, but in some conservative and Mediterranean countries still widespread and generous (EL: up to 70% of the deceased partner's pension claim; BE: up to 80%).	in perpetuating the traditional gender model.
Early retirement	In many countries, schemes have been restricted or been made more unattractive for the individual employee (limited access, higher pension reductions). In some countries (IT, SE), existence of a flexible retirement age, with pension reductions according to actuarial calculations. Today, pensions are reduced by 3.6% per year of earlier retirement in DE, by 6% in SE, and by up to 8% in ES. Pension supplements for retirement beyond the age of 65 years is credited with 2% per year in ES, but 7.5% in UK and even 8.4% in SE.	Level of pension reductions and pension supplements is increasingly used by governments as a means to prolong working life and to steer labour supply at the transition from work to retirement.

Countries: Austria (AT), Belgium (BE), Denmark (DK), Finland (FI), France (FR), Greece (EL), Ireland (IE), Italy (IT), Luxembourg (LU), Netherlands (NL), Spain (ES), Sweden (SE), United Kingdom (UK)

## Part-time work

Concerning the level of income and social protection of people in part-time work, it is important to examine whether their situation is better or worse in absolute terms, compared with standard full-time employees, and/or in relative terms, compared with their investment in the system (e.g. by contributions).

As far as present cash income from work is concerned, the number of public schemes directly subsidising the gross income of part-time workers is limited. Subsidies (e.g. wage subsidies, subsidies for social security contributions) are often directed to support people with low income or low chances in the labour market, but not directly for people with reduced working time. Several countries (e.g. France, Luxembourg and Germany) provide the opportunity of taking parental leave on a part-time basis and to combine this with cash benefits. The combination of leave and benefits in these schemes usually requires that the person does not exceed a certain income threshold or a maximum number of working hours.

One of the rare schemes that directly subsidises income during part-time work is the German partial retirement scheme. This scheme, if implemented in the respective company according to the legal framework, guarantees elderly participants considerable wage-related subsidies for their part-time income and their contributions to the pension system. In the case of part-time work of parents (with children up to the age of 10 years), there are no subsidies to present income, but there are subsidies for later retirement income. In this case, no additional contributions are paid, but credits to increase the pension are granted.

Whereas direct cash subsidies for part-time workers are rare, tax credits are common in EU countries. Individuals working part time usually profit from lower tax rates, compared with full-time workers, due to progressive tax systems. The more progressive the tax system, the more attractive a part-time job is. At the household level, the situation is more complex because the modus of taxation (joint or separate taxation of couples, or the possibility of choosing between both options as in Ireland and Spain) is an additional factor. In some countries, the taxation of spouses or families does not only give incentives for the inactivity of the second person (see above), but also subsidises part-time work. Among the countries considered, Germany gives the highest monetary incentives for spouses to work part time instead of full time (together with other continental states, such as Belgium and Luxembourg). In the Netherlands, there is a moderate tax incentive to switch from a full-time job to a part-time one. Spouses hardly get any incentive to do so in Spain, Sweden, France or the UK. Except for France, the latter countries tax couples individually and a second full income in the household is not particularly punished.

On the other hand, the financial incentives for non-working spouses to take up a part-time job are very limited in Germany (and also in Belgium and France), moderately so in Sweden and the Netherlands, and quite considerably in Spain. In the UK, taking up a part-time job is financially attractive for inactive spouses since the net household income increases proportionally to the gross household income (Klammer and Daly, 2003; based on data from the European Commission, Eurostat and OECD). As far as small part-time jobs of the second earner are concerned, the German and UK tax systems contain strong incentives, while the Dutch system has weak incentives, and the Spanish and Swedish systems none (Dingeldey, 2000a, 2000b).

Following the EU regulation on the non-discrimination of part-time work, today, regular part-time work usually gives access to all branches of social security. In the Netherlands, particularly, legislation in recent years has aimed at the abolishment of all kinds of discrimination of part-time workers. Part-time workers, as well as full-time workers with low wages, often get an even better return on investment as far as the relation of social security contributions or taxes and potential benefits is concerned.

In the unemployment system, this mainly happens in the field of active labour market policy, where unemployed people, who were formerly part-time workers, often have similar rights and obligations to participate in activation measures as former full-time employees. Cash benefits, on the contrary, are directly related to former income in most countries, but, in some countries, former part-time workers get higher replacement rates (e.g. in Denmark). In the UK, the flat-rate benefits paid to unemployed people have a similar effect, although at a lower level.

In particular, part-time workers can profit more from the public healthcare system (health insurance or national health service) than their full-time counterparts. In Spain, Sweden and the UK, medical treatment in the national health system is tax-financed and all citizens are covered; in these countries, part-time workers have a better return on investment than full-time workers, but pay more in taxes than inactive persons do. In the Netherlands and Germany, the general finding is the same and even more obvious because medical treatment is financed by earnings-related social security contributions. The difference between the Netherlands and Germany is that the Dutch AWBZ health system is a universal system, covering all citizens (as long as they do not leave voluntarily to be insured by private insurance), whereas the German statutory health insurance (and care insurance) only covers employees with an income above a certain threshold (€400/month) and their inactive dependants (spouses and children). People with marginal<sup>34</sup> part-time jobs do not get access to the system through their employment contract. Although a considerable number of them are, in fact, covered through marriage, this is an obvious gap in the social protection record for certain part-time workers.

In old age insurance, the redistributive effects in favour of part-time workers differ considerably from country to country. They are relatively small in Germany, where the pension system is mainly oriented towards the idea of equivalence between individual contributions and the level of pensions. Part-timers do not get less than full-timers for each euro of contributions to the system, but in absolute levels their pension income will usually be much lower than the pension of someone with a continuous full-time career. Some part-timers (in particular part-time working parents and elderly workers in partial retirement) can profit from redistributive schemes: the part-time work of mothers (parents) until the tenth birthday of their youngest child, for example, has been compensated in the pension system since 2001, and an additional credit for three years per child is added to the pension record.

In countries with minimum pensions or basic pensions based on citizenship, part-time workers can profit from redistributional elements to a far greater extent. The Scandinavian countries provide basic pensions for all citizens (e.g. Denmark and the Netherlands) or at least decent minimum

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>34</sup> There is no common European definition of a marginal part-time job. The idea of precariousness in relation to jobs also differs between European countries, as has been pointed out by authors of the European ESOPE project (Düll, 2002; Barbier, 2002).

pensions for citizens with insufficient claims towards pension insurance (in Sweden, since the pension reform of 1999). This makes it much easier for their citizens to choose part-time employment. The UK also has a minimum pension in the first pillar system (Basic State Pension/Category A Retirement Pension), but the level of this pension is below the guaranteed minimum of existence for pensioners (Minimum Income Guarantee) and therefore not sufficient to prevent poverty in old age. In future, however, part-time workers will profit from the new 'State Second Pension' implemented in 2002. In particular, this scheme will increase the claims of employed people with low income from work (e.g. part-timers), compared with the former SERPS system (VDR, 2003).

In Spain, the insurance-based statutory pension system provides a contributory minimum pension, but for this benefit at least 15 years of contributions are required and marginal part-time jobs do not count. Taking up a part-time job in the second half of one's working life (e.g. after a period of child-raising) is also disadvantageous because the calculation of pensions is based on the income during the last 15 years of one's working career. Needy elderly people, however, have the right to receive a non-contributory, means-tested minimum pension.

As this analysis has shown, there are various redistributive elements in favour of part-time workers in most social security systems. In spite of these relative advantages for part-time workers, compared with full-time workers, part-time work might be perceived as unattractive from the individual's perspective. Pension systems with a relatively strong equivalence principle in the pension formula (like the German one) might hinder the take-up of a part-time job because they lead to a loss of potential pension income, compared with a full-time job. This effect is much more limited in countries with a first pillar system based on residence or citizenship (as the Dutch AOW system or the Danish *folkepension*), or where decent benefits are guaranteed for people with insufficient insurance claims (as in the new Swedish *garantiepension*). In these systems, a relative loss of pension income through part-time work only occurs within the second pillar (at the level of occupational pensions) and eventually in the third pillar (private savings).

In countries with strong elements of derived social security benefits (usually based on marriage), the take-up of a part-time job can also be unattractive because it leads to the obligation to pay social security contributions without generating new claims, or existing derived claims are reduced. In the German case, for example, married women who take up a job have to start paying contributions into health and care insurance. Before working, they had been insured in these systems through their husbands without paying any contributions. Other benefits, such as tax credits or survivor's pensions, are reduced or even eliminated in the case of own income. These regulations can be regarded as one important reason for the slow increase of female labour market participation in countries with a strong breadwinner model, in particular the conservative and Mediterranean countries. Social security regulations can, therefore, limit the readiness to take up part-time employment among both full-time workers and inactive people.

In addition, the relatively positive picture of the social protection of part-time workers in some countries does not hold for people with marginal part-time work. In Germany, for example, incentives to take up such work have been increased again (since April 2003), in spite of the fact that these jobs only give very limited access to social protection (for details, see Koch and Bäcker, 2003). The preference for these jobs, especially among married women, results from the fact that

they get their social protection 'cheaper' with no employment or only marginal employment, compared with a regular part-time job or even a full-time job. Thus, social protection systems can help to maintain the traditional breadwinner model, although in a slightly modified form.

Table 12 summarises the main results of the preceding analysis.

Part-time work	Impact on the individual's income and social security, with country examples	Possible effects and problems from a life course perspective
Regular/long part-time work	<ul> <li>security, with country examples</li> <li>Almost everywhere, full access to social security systems (e.g. healthcare and pension systems) is granted today (in particular: NL).</li> <li>Loss of income <i>pro rata</i> (or more in the case of wage discrimination against part-timers – eliminated in NL).</li> <li>Future pension income not affected in universal first pillar system. In insurance-based systems, pension working time reductions reduce the potential pension claim (e.g. DE, FR, SE, IT). In some countries, this effect is limited because minimum pensions are provided (SE, IT), or because only a limited number of years is taken into account (ES is 35 years; 45 years in DE), or because of special credits for certain part-timers (in DE, part-time work of mothers of children below 10 years generates the same pension claims as full-time work).</li> </ul>	As far as access to social security is concerned, most restrictions discriminating against part-time workers have been abolished. As far as the absolute level of benefits is concerned, people with part-time jobs often build up lower claims than full-time workers (in proportion to their income). Long part-time periods bear the risk of poverty in old age, in particular where the public pension system only provides basic benefits (liberal countries) or where benefits are strictly oriented towards an equivalence between individual contributions and pension claim (DE and other conservative countries, although poverty of elderly women is reduced by derived rights here). This has a negative effect on the attitude towards and the take up of part-time work in many countries (e.g. in FR;
		(progressive income tax) and social security schemes. This is the case in universal schemes (DK, NL), as well as in schemes providing minimum benefits (ES) or special support for part-time work (DE).
Marginal/short part-time work	No overall definition of marginal part-time work, but, in some countries, jobs below a certain income and/or time thresholds give only limited access to social security.         Examples: jobs below 12 hours in SE are not covered by unemployment insurance; jobs below €400/month in DE do not give access to unemploy-	Income and time thresholds for small part-time jobs constitute special risks for people's income and social security during working life, as well as in old age. This discourages marginal part-time work in some countries (e.g. SE). In countries with a persistent strong breadwinner model (e.g. DE), marginal part-time work has,
	ment and health insurance, and only generate very limited benefits in the pension system.	nevertheless, become widespread due to existing taxation of married couples and existence of derived rights.
Integrated part-time schemes	Subsidised part-time schemes for special target groups. Privileged situation, compared with regular part-time, due to special cash benefits or social security rights. Most widespread in the field of (partial) parental leave (e.g. in FR, SE, DE, LU). Also existing in the field of partial retirement and for parents working part time (DE).	Integrated part-time schemes for certain situations and life phases can help people to take up part-time options at certain stages of their life because the negative effects on income and social security are limited.

Table 12	Reduced working ho	urs and effect on individual	I's income and social security
----------	--------------------	------------------------------	--------------------------------

Countries: Austria (AT), Belgium (BE), Denmark (DK), Finland (FI), France (FR), Greece (EL), Ireland (IE), Italy (IT), Luxembourg (LU), Netherlands (NL), Spain (ES), Sweden (SE), United Kingdom (UK)

# Flexible distribution of working time

As explained in Chapter 2, this report regards the concepts of working time accounts, time banking and annualisation as functional equivalents. What is crucial in the context of a reorganisation of time over the life course is the fact that all of these terms describe working time systems that enable a flexible distribution of working hours over a period that is longer than the traditional working week. At the same time, none of these terms defines the level of time sovereignty given to the employee within a certain scheme. It, therefore, remains open as to whether the employee can actually use a certain flexible working time system to structure his or her working time according to individual needs.

Following the 1993 EU Directive on certain aspects of the organisation of working time (93/104/EC), many European countries have developed a legislative framework that allows a flexible distribution of working time over longer reference periods, as long as the normal limits (e.g. concerning the maximum weekly working hours) are maintained on average. The maximum reference period varies. Most countries allow a reference period of 12 months, but in others this requires a collective agreement (e.g. Denmark, Ireland, Italy and UK; for overview, see EIROnline, 2003, Table 1). Statistical information on the coverage of employees is still very limited.<sup>35</sup> In Germany, meanwhile, about 40% of all employees are covered by working time accounts. In a 2002 Dutch survey, 28% of respondents (employees) said that they were able to participate in a so-called *verlofspaarregeling* (working time account) and 11% actually used this.<sup>36</sup> The EIRO report concludes that annualisation schemes are most common in Germany, Denmark, France and Spain (followed by a second group of countries including Belgium, Finland, Italy and Luxembourg); whereas coverage is limited or non-existent in other countries such as Austria, Ireland, Greece and Portugal (EIROnline, 2003).

To date, there is hardly any research on the impact of working time accounts or annualised working time schemes on social protection. The following analysis, therefore, concentrates on Germany since working time accounts are most widespread in this country. The German case can serve as an example of how many aspects have to be considered when the relationship between new time options and social security is scrutinised.

When the period of work and its compensation (through salary payments) do not match, as is often the case with 'saved' sabbaticals or long-term working time accounts, the question arises as to when social security contributions have to be paid and which periods are covered by the social insurance system. In 1998, in Germany, the law on social protection for flexible working times (*Gesetz zur sozialrechtlichen Absicherung flexibler Arbeitszeitregelungen*) regulated some of the former problems. Since then, social protection is guaranteed in all branches of social security in most cases where employees have contracts that allow them a flexible distribution of working time and the saving of time for time-out phases.

Nevertheless, there are certain risks for employees with flexible working time schemes, such as sabbaticals or long-term working time accounts. Problems arise in particular when unforeseen developments, on either the employee's side (such as illness, death or unemployment) or the

 $<sup>^{\</sup>rm 35}$  The Eurostat Labour Force Survey does not cover this issue.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>36</sup> Lower take-up rates (6%) for Dutch employees are reported by van Luijn and Keuzenkamp (2004).

employer's side (such as insolvency of the company), bring the contract to an untimely end. If employees cannot fulfil their contracts or use up their time credits (e.g. due to illness or death), a complicated procedure annulling the effects of the flexible working time model is set in motion (Wonneberger, 1998). In the case of the unemployment of an employee who had been saving for a sabbatical, unemployment benefits are not calculated according to the reduced salary, but rather according to the former full salary. Once the sabbatical has started, however, they are calculated on the basis of the reduced income level. If the employer has to put staff on short-time work due to work shortage in the company, workers have to use up a part of their savings in working time accounts before they can claim social security benefits. This limits their time sovereignty and it also means that they have to accept a reduction of social security, namely a reduction of collectively financed cash benefits.

In the case of insolvency of the employer, payment of salaries for the last three months preceding the date of insolvency is guaranteed. As far as savings on long-term working time accounts are concerned, however, there is a large deficit so far. The law stipulates the duty of employers to insure working time credits of their employees against insolvency. Yet, as an empirical investigation has revealed, to date, the majority of German companies with working time accounts do not have insurance covering working time accounts in case of insolvency (Schietinger, 2003).

Similar problems may arise within partial/phased retirement schemes. The current German scheme, introduced in 1996, works in a similar way to a working time account, but with subsidies. When the so-called block model is chosen, the worker continues working full time for the first half of the contracted period (usually five years) and stops working during the second half. The salary is constant during the whole duration of the contracted scheme, at a level of at least 70% of the former full-time salary (50% + a subsidy of at least 20%).<sup>37</sup> Again, there should be an insurance of partial retirement contracts against insolvency of the employer. Although deficits in this field were highlighted in a report presented by the German Labour Ministry at the end of 2001, and in spite of the demands of the trade unions to implement a legal regulation, the government at that time decided not to pass a law in this field, but to leave its regulation to the social partners. Since no significant improvement had been achieved since that time, however, a law was passed obliging companies to insure credits from phased retirement schemes against insolvency from July 2004.

In theory, annualisation schemes and working time accounts should reduce the amount of overtime worked. Although empirical evidence on the relationship between the use of annualisation schemes and overtime is limited, some evidence from Germany and the UK supports this assumption (whereas in other countries, such as Spain, there is no such evidence). In other countries (e.g. Ireland, Italy, France and UK), annualised schemes were often accompanied by a general reduction in working time (EIROnline, 2003). Where annualisation schemes coincide with a reduction of overtime, this is likely to reduce premiums for overtime work and, therefore, the employees' income. In some countries, however, this trend has been offset by increases in basic pay rates (*ibid*).

So far, there is little empirical evidence of job creation through working time accounts or annualised hours (*ibid*). The introduction of flexible working times can help to replace external flexibility (making people redundant) by internal flexibility. What can be regarded as an advantage from the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>37</sup> The partial retirement scheme can, therefore, be called an integrated option, where the time option is combined with collectively financed monetary benefits.

individual employee's perspective is the stabilisation of income (income security) and the increase in job stability (job security). However, the prize of this strategy is that the costs of unemployment are shifted onto the employees. They usually accept a loss of income (in case of labour shortage) in exchange for job security, while costs for the employer and the collective social unemployment insurance are reduced. This may be one reason for the fact that, in some countries (e.g. Denmark and Ireland), employers are much more in favour of flexible working time schemes than employees (*ibid*).

Nonetheless, working time accounts and annualised hours can contain great potential for employees to reorganise their working time over longer periods. To achieve this, certain conditions must be met, such as an overall reduction of working time (or at least a limitation of working hours), some compensation in the basic pay (to make up for the loss of overtime premiums) and some co-determination rights of the employee as far as working times are concerned.

Table 13 summarises the main results of the preceding analysis.

beeune	3	
Flexible distribution of	Impact on the individual's income and social security, with country examples	Possible effects and problems from a life course perspective
working time		
Working time accounts,	High variety of flexible working time schemes	Employees' options to use flexible working time
time banks, annualised	throughout Europe. Working time arrangements	schemes to structure their working time over the life
hours	are particularly widespread in DE (40%);	course depend heavily on the level of time
	annualisation systems also in DK, FR, ES; in NL,	sovereignty that the system allows them. Existing
	the common verlofssparregeling (working time	systems show a wide variety on this point.
	account) has a similar character.	
		Access to and level of social protection for people
	Usually working time arrangements, time banks or	with flexible working time schemes can be negativel
	annualisation systems are characterised by the fact	affected if problems on the employee or employer
	that income and access to social security is stabilised,	side bring the contract to an untimely end (e.g.
	while the working time changes. Therefore, no	because of sickness, unemployment or death of
	particular problems arise as far as access to and	employee, or insolvency of employer). This can lead
	level of social security is concerned, However,	to a loss of (lifetime) income or social security
	severe problems can arise when the arrangement is	transfers for the employee. Particular problems arise
	disturbed (see right).	from insufficient insurance of the employer against
		insolvency (e.g. in DE, where insurance against
	Income can be reduced when working time	insolvency in phased retirement schemes became
	arrangements or annualisation systems reduce	compulsory in July 2004).
	overtime – and overtime premiums.	

Table 13Flexible distribution of working hours and effect on individual's income and social<br/>security

Countries: Austria (AT), Belgium (BE), Denmark (DK), Finland (FI), France (FR), Greece (EL), Ireland (IE), Italy (IT), Luxembourg (LU), Netherlands (NL), Spain (ES), Sweden (SE), United Kingdom (UK)

# Contribution of social security to household income over life course

Due to the different cash benefits provided by different social security schemes and sub-schemes, social security transfers play a different role for different types of household. The ECHP data allow an analysis and comparison of the coverage and weight of cash transfers for different household types and different countries. Table 12 (see above) illustrates the differences for six EU countries.<sup>38</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>38</sup> Social transfers in the ECHP data comprise unemployment benefits, old age pensions, survivor's pensions, family-related benefits, sickness or invalidity benefits, educational allowances and other social benefits. Imputed rent from dwelling ownership is not included.

As the data in Table 14 show, social security benefits are mainly concentrated on two phases in life: the phase when people have children in the household and the phase of retirement, when people are 60 years or older. As far as the latter group is concerned, there are hardly any differences in coverage between the countries analysed: in each country, about 94%–98% of elderly couples receive social security benefits, usually pensions. As far as families with children are concerned, the coverage of benefits is very high in Germany, the Netherlands and UK, where (depending on the age of the minors and the country) between 93% and 100% of all families receive some benefits. In France, the coverage is somewhat lower, particularly for families with teenage children.

What is especially remarkable are the low coverage rates for Spanish and Italian families. In these Mediterranean welfare states, only about one-third of all families with children below 18 years receive cash benefits from their social security systems. If one looks at the weight that social security benefits have for the household income of recipients, however, the picture changes somewhat. As the data reveal, in Italy and Spain, cash benefits play a more important role for the minority receiving such benefits. Irrespective of the type of household and the position in the life course, social security transfers comprise a larger share of the household income of recipients, compared with the situation in Germany, France, the Netherlands and UK. This leads to the assumption that cash benefits can have a certain impact on the participation of parents in the labour market.

Elderly households in all countries receive about 80%–90% of their income from the social security system. Only in the UK, where first pillar pensions are only basic pensions, is the rate much lower (68%).

It has to be taken into account that social transfers comprise a range of benefits, including unemployment benefits. A higher coverage rate and weight of transfers in one country compared with another does not, therefore, necessarily reflect the generosity of one system for different phases in the life course, but can also be caused by different unemployment rates, etc. In a second step, the analysis is thus restricted to family benefits as one important branch of social security.

The data show that cash benefits for children are even more concentrated on the central phases of life. Whereas almost all couples with children who are minors in Germany, the Netherlands and UK receive some family benefits, the rate is much lower in France (51%–80%). Obviously, even some of the French families receiving other kinds of transfer cannot claim family benefits. The data also reveal considerable differences between the Mediterranean countries, showing that family benefits play hardly any role for Spanish families, whereas about one in five Italian families with children aged 0–12 years receive some benefit. It becomes obvious that family-related benefits only play a minor role in the budgets of families with children receiving such benefits. Irrespective of the country and the age of the children, no more than 10% of families' budgets are covered by family benefits in the household budgets of this group (12%) reflects not only the relatively high amount of benefits, but also the low family income due to a low labour market participation rate and a high take-up rate of parental leave of mothers of pre-school children.

The ECHP data illustrate that cash benefits in the Mediterranean states are much more selective and concentrated on needy families, where they play an important role. Among the social security benefits provided, family aid only plays a minor role, at least in Spain. In the other countries, particularly in Germany, the Netherlands and UK, certain cash benefits for families with children are paid irrespective of household income and irrespective of the parents' labour market participation.

Type of household	Germany	UK	Netherlands	France	Spain	Italy
Share of households receiv	/ing social security cash bene	efits (in %)				
0	24	30	39	42	*	13
1	26	18	17	48	19	10
2	98	93	95	87	29	27
3	100	98	100	79	27	34
4	100	93	95	66	38	33
5	77	52	45	55	49	57
6	49	47	43	49	47	59
7	95	97	94	98	97	97
Social security cash benefit	ts as percentage of total hou	sehold income	for households	receiving benet	fits (in %)	1
0	21	20	25	20	*	27
1	12	9	11	14	24	18
2	16	10	9	15	27	14
3	14	10	10	12	25	23
4	11	8	10	12	25	26
5	21	19	26	27	26	40
6	35	32	48	39	48	51
7	83	68	88	85	85	88
Proportion of households r	receiving family cash benefit	s (in %)			1	I
0	*	*	-	*	-	-
1	*	-	*	*	-	*
2	98	91	93	80	7	19
3	100	98	100	74	3	19
4	100	91	94	51	1	12
5	46	11	*	*	*	3
6	11	5	*	*	*	*
7	4	2	*	*	-	3
Family cash benefits as per	rcentage of total household	income for hou	seholds receivin	g benefits (in %	6)	
0	*	*	-	*	-	-
1	*	3	*	*	-	*
2	12	6	5	9	10	7
3	9	6	7	8	5	5
4	7	4	5	6	5	3
5	5	3	*	*	*	2
6	7	6	*	*	*	*
7	13	12	*	*	-	3

Table 14Coverage and level of cash transfers over life course (1999)

### Type of household:

**0** = young single people without children; **1** = young couples without children; **2** = couples with pre-school children (under seven years); **3** = couples with children older than six years and younger than 13; **4** = couples with children older than 12 years and younger than 18; **5** = couples with children aged 18 and older; **6** = Couples without children, female older than 45 years; **7** = elderly couples without children, both spouses over 60 years (for further details, see Chapters 1 and 5). – = no case; \* = 1–10 cases, data not reliable. *Source*: ECHP data

Since family benefits do not increase the average recipient's household income by more than 10% in any country, it can be assumed that their impact on parents' labour market participation is limited. It has to be taken into account that cash benefits are only one factor influencing decisions about labour market participation; other factors (such as tax systems, care facilities, role models) have also to be considered (Klammer and Daly, 2003).

For the retirement phase, social security benefits still play a major role in all countries, with high coverage rates and high shares of recipients' budgets. As mentioned earlier in this chapter, labour market participation and income over the life course are reflected to different degrees in different pension systems. The ECHP data cannot give any information about how individual labour market decisions are affected by the prospective retirement income in different countries.
# Flexible working time options and social security systems

Employment interruptions, part-time work or contracts with shorter working time, and a more flexible distribution of working time do not only have consequences for the social security of employees. They also affect the social security systems themselves and their financial sustainability. This chapter analyses the implications of this.

#### **Employment interruptions**

The term employment interruption is used here to cover all kinds of periods during potential working life when a person does not spend time in paid work. Since this covers such diverse situations as unemployment, maternity/parental leave, care leave, sabbaticals or inactivity, the financial implications for the existing social security systems differ widely.

Employment interruptions cause direct social security expenditure (e.g. for unemployment benefits, social assistance payments, subsidised minimum pensions in old age). They also cause indirect costs by, for example, the loss of taxes and contributions in several fields (income and consumer tax, fewer contributions to social security systems). In a broader sense, additional factors would have to be considered, such as the loss of human capital deriving from employment interruptions and the resulting economic and social costs. These aspects are beyond the scope of this report.

Generally speaking, employment interruptions induce direct costs for the social security systems wherever the respective interruption or activity is perceived and accepted as a social risk. In this case, cash benefits are usually paid. Only two of the situations mentioned above generate a claim to cash benefits in all EU Member States – unemployment and maternity leave. The financial implications for the welfare state, however, differ from country to country, as becomes obvious in the case of unemployment. The financial burden does not only depend on the overall level of unemployment, but also on the eligibility criteria, the wage replacement rate of benefits and, last but not least, the duration of payments. Claims for non-means-tested payments range from four months (lower limit in France and Spain) to unlimited duration (in Belgium), often depending on the person's age and the duration of individual insurance prior to unemployment. Whereas Denmark, Belgium and Finland had the highest per capita spending for unemployment and active labour market policy in 2000, the relative weight of this field (as share of social security expenditure) was highest in Spain (BMGS, 2003).

For the financing of the unemployment systems, it is advantageous when companies choose strategies of internal flexibilisation (e.g. general working time reduction for all employees) rather than strategies of external flexibilisation (reduction of staff by making redundancies). If employees accept a reduction of their salary in exchange for workplace guarantees (as was the case in the German car company VW), they bear the costs of adjustment mainly themselves, whereas, in the case of redundancies, it is primarily the social security systems that pay the bill. Yet, employees do gain some security that might help them to plan their lives over a longer period.

Compared with unemployment benefits, payments for maternity leave have a much more restricted maximum duration (between 14 weeks in Germany and five months in Italy; 16 weeks in most

countries). The expenditure is usually financed by contributions and is part of the healthcare system. Beyond the legal minimum period of maternity leave, it is usually only paid as long as there is a loss of income due to the actual take-up of leave. This implies that the expenditure depends not only on the number of children born, but also on the labour market participation and income level of women prior to pregnancy, as well as, within limits, the duration of maternity leave that mothers actually take. If expenditure goes up, this generates a pressure on social security contributions, but usually not on taxes.

Longer leave for childcare is unpaid in many countries even if parental leave schemes exist, particularly in the Mediterranean countries (except for Italy) and in the liberal countries. The takeup rate of parental leave, therefore, does not play a direct role for the financing of public systems of social protection in these countries. The countries where payments for parental leave matter most are the Scandinavian countries (particularly Sweden), Germany, Austria, France, Luxembourg and Belgium. Given the low birth rates in most European countries, however, expenditure for maternity leave and parental leave currently plays a minor role in most European welfare states. With the exception of Luxembourg (16.6%), no welfare state in the EU in 2000 spent more than 13.1% of its social security budget on benefits for maternity and families, including child allowances (BMGS, 2003).

If the finding for parental leave periods is that social costs (e.g. opportunity costs) are privatised to a considerable degree, this is even more true for eldercare leave. As yet, very few countries provide direct cash benefits for this kind of leave, although private eldercare is an important field of welfare production (particularly in the Mediterranean countries) and helps to reduce social costs. As demographic projections underline, the proportion of elderly people and the need to improve the conditions for leave to provide care (full-time or part-time) will increase. Data from German care insurance reveal that a partial compensation for care leave (as incentive for private home care) is much cheaper than financing nursing homes by social security. Yet, from the perspective of social security systems, this advantage clearly risks a reinforcement of the gender-specific distribution of time and work.

It has to be stated that European welfare states, in particular some of the conservative and Mediterranean welfare states, do in fact heavily subsidise people (usually women) who withdraw from the labour market (become 'inactive') to perform care work. The most important instruments used for this are income taxation and derived rights for spouses (e.g. survivor's pensions). This gives family households some freedom to organise their time needs over the life course, but at the expense of a traditional gender model. A high share of welfare state expenditure (or tax relief) is used to finance this kind of inactivity or employment interruption.

The German system of joint taxation of married couples (with high rewards for the inactivity of the second person in the household) can be taken as an extreme example. The German Institute for Economic Research (DIW) estimated that, for 1998, the existing system of joint taxation of couples led to a loss of more than 60 billion DM of tax money (about €30 billion today), compared with a system of separate taxation with the rate applying to individuals (DIW, 1999a, 1999b). Due to this regulation, (married) couples with children living according to the breadwinner model receive much more financial support through the system of income taxation than through direct monetary family benefits. The distributional effects are questionable, however. Whereas married couples are

heavily subsidised for periods of inactivity, even if they do not have children or other care obligations, single parents (and other single people) receive less support from the welfare state, even if they do care work. This makes it clear that social protection schemes in these countries are not as well prepared for the new time needs over the life course of different groups of the population as are the Scandinavian welfare states, where more benefits are geared to the individual and based on the notion of citizenship (universal schemes).

The different concepts become evident when one compares expenditure for survivors in different welfare state regimes. In 2000, expenditure for survivors (per citizen) reached  $\in$ 703 and  $\in$ 628 in the conservative welfare states of Austria and Belgium, and  $\in$ 523 in the Mediterranean welfare state of Italy, but was only  $\in$ 196 in Sweden and  $\in$ 375 in Denmark (Eurostat data, see BMGS, 2003).

Generally speaking, from a macro perspective, an even distribution of the overall working time volume among the population (i.e. a low share of employment interruptions/inactivity spells in people's working lives) is advantageous for the financial sustainability of social security systems. As Tables 2 and 6 showed, in this respect, the Scandinavian and liberal welfare states (at least the UK) have some advantage, compared with most of the conservative and Mediterranean welfare states, where work (and working time) is very much concentrated, in particular on prime-age men. In order to decompress working life and diminish the unequal distribution of work between men and women, a better labour market integration of young and old people (particularly women of working age) would, therefore, help to ensure the sustainability of social security systems. This could help to save financial resources for a targeted, extended sponsoring of selected time-out periods.

Table 15 (overleaf) summarises the main results of the preceding analysis.

#### Part-time work

One might assume that an increase of part-time work (the part-time rate) would lead to financial problems in social insurance systems, where insured people with low contributions can claim benefits that are more than proportional, compared with their contributions. Examples of this are benefits-in-kind in healthcare systems based on citizenship or minimum pensions in retirement schemes. This financial consequence might not occur, however, when the increase in the number and share of part-time workers results from married women (who already had the right to citizen-based benefits or derived benefits based on their husband's insurance) entering the labour market.

In fact, in most European countries, the rise of part-time work over the last decades has coincided with the increasing participation rates of women in the labour market (especially married women). This applies in particular to countries where today's overall and female part-time rates are high, as in the Netherlands, Germany and the UK. In the Mediterranean countries, part-time rates are still low and part-time work for this reason has not yet had a great impact on the financing of social security systems. The following analysis, therefore, concentrates on those countries where there has been an impact.

Working time option/ arrangement or status	Expenditures and impact on financing of social security systems	Possible effects and problems, with country examples
Unemployment	<ul> <li>Multiple levels of social expenditure:</li> <li>direct social security expenditure (e.g. for unemployment benefits, social assistance payments or, later on, subsidised minimum pensions in old age);</li> <li>indirect costs, e.g. by loss of taxes and contribu- tions in several fields (income and consumer tax, fewer contributions to social security systems);</li> <li>additional indirect costs (e.g. caused by loss of human capital deriving from employment interruptions and resulting economic and social developments).</li> </ul>	Financial problems depend on level of unemployment in country (e.g. high in ES, DE) and on level and duration of payments (low in liberal countries, high in most conservative and Scandinavian countries). Structure of unemployment also plays a role: in the short term, unemployment of young people is cheaper than unemployment of elderly workers (because the latter can often claim higher benefits for a longer time, see Table 11); in the long term, unemployment of young people can induce higher social costs due to loss of human capital over the remaining lifetime. Companies can help to reduce public expenditure for unemployment when they focus on internal flexibility (e.g. training) instead of external flexibility
		(dismissals). Highest per capita-spending on unemployment (including ALM policy) in DK, BE and FI; highest relative weight of this field (as share of social security expenditures) in ES (2000).
Maternity (and paternity) leave	High cash transfers (usually earning replacement benefits, up to 100% of former income). In some countries (e.g. FR, DE), part of the benefit is paid by employer.	In most countries, development of expenditure for maternity leave has been influenced by contrary developments: Whereas the rising labour market participation of (young) women has increased coverage and level of benefits (and, thus, public expenditure in this field), the decrease in fertility (e.g. IT, DE) has led to a decrease in expenditure.
		Spending on paternity leave has risen due to introduction/extension of such systems, but are still not a decisive factor, except for a few countries (SE, DK).
Parental leave	Since many parental leave schemes are unpaid, take-up of parental leave does not play a direct role for financing of public systems of social protection in the majority of European countries. However, parents often receive credits towards the pension system (e.g. ES, DE).	The countries where payments for parental leave matter most within the public social security schemes are the Scandinavian countries (particularly SE), DE, AT, FR, LU and BE. Credits for parents in the pension system are either covered by contributions of all insured persons (e.g. ES) or by taxes (e.g. in DE, three years of tax- financed contributions per child).
		In life course perspective, public expenditure on parental leave can pay back when the leave system helps mothers (parents) to keep in contact with labour market; high payments for long leave or for leave without an employment guarantee bear the risk of supporting women's withdrawal from labour market.
		With exception of LU (16.6%), no welfare state in the EU in 2000 spent more than 13.1% of its social security budget on benefits for maternity and families (including child benefits).

#### Table 15 Employment interruptions and impact on financing of social security systems

Working time option/ arrangement or status	Expenditures and impact on financing of social security systems	Possible effects and problems, with country examples
Leave for sick children and for eldercare	Leave options to care for sick children exist in a number of countries; benefits are in some cases paid by the healthcare system (high income replace- ment rates, 70% in DE, NL; 80% in SE). Leave schemes for eldercare and ill adult relatives only exist in a few European countries (e.g. SE, NL) and are limited in time and field of application. In other countries, direct public expenditure on care leave is limited, but care leave beyond existing leave schemes is subsidised in countries with breadwinner model by tax credits (joint taxation) and derived social security benefits.	Within existing leave schemes, costs mainly arise for healthcare systems. Costs can be limited by take-up behaviour (e.g. when parents prefer to cover time needs for sick children by making use of flexible working time schemes, as in DE). In UK and IE, cash benefits are paid to needy carers, but public expenditure for social services (e.g. homes for elderly people) is much lower than in other countries, particularly the Scandinavian welfare states. The actual rise in costs is mainly caused by cash benefit to elderly people (e.g. NL, DE) and by rising expenditure for professional care, not by benefits for carers. Compared with financing of public eldercare facilities, cash for care is usually the cheaper solution (although more problematic from a gender perspective). A future rise of public expenditure in this field can be
Other leave (e.g. for training)	Most existing leave schemes (e.g. in NL, DE) are financed through a redistribution of time and money by the individual. The state has no direct costs, but contributes to these schemes by accepting	expected, due to demographic changes and individualisation Leave schemes not financed exclusively by employee and employer induce direct public expenditure (tax credits, cash benefits). Yet, they can eventually lead to a win-win situation and to public savings when
	a loss of taxes (particularly in countries with a highly progressive tax rate).	they help to reduce unemployment through job rotation. In addition, financing leave for training can generate a positive return on investment if
	In DK, sabbatical leave generated claims for cash benefits in unemployment insurance, but these options have been stopped (1998). Leave for training is still possible within the job rotation	employees can make use of their better and updated qualifications. This can lead to more economic growth and higher tax income for the state.
	programme and is financed by unemployment insurance (unemployment benefits for the person on leave) and wage supplements paid by the state (for the person on leave and substitute).	From a life course perspective, investing in younger groups in the labour market promises the highest rate of interest. There is, however, still reluctance to take up training leave options.
Inactivity	Inactivity quotas of groups of working age have decreased due to the rising labour market participa- tion of women. The European employment targets aim at a further decrease of inactivity among the working age population. Passive benefits for inactive people (e.g. social assist-	Public expenditure on support of inactivity of the spouse is usually realised by tax credits and derived benefits (in healthcare or pension systems). The highest expenditure (or tax credits) on support of traditional or modified breadwinner model is in some of the conservative countries (e.g. DE, AT) and Mediterranean countries (IT, EL, ES).
	ance benefits) have been reduced in many European welfare states in recent years or have become more targeted to needy citizens or to people actively searching for work (e.g. Britain's 'New Deal' programme). This has led to a shift from passive to activating social security expenditure (e.g. DK since 1993). Universal benefit schemes profit more from an increase in activity than insurance-based systems. High costs for public tax and social security systems still arise from subsidies for the breadwinner families in some countries (see right).	Examples: the system of joint taxation of spouses in DE implied a loss of about €30 billion in potential tax money in 1998, compared with a fully individualised system. In 2000, per capita expenditure for survivors reached more than €700 in AT, but only €375 in DK. The monetary equivalent of this kind of family sponsoring by far exceeds the amount of direct family transfers in many countries. The increasing labour market participation of women leads to a reduction of these costs; also reduction and targeting of derived benefits.
		In general, an even distribution of overall working- time volume among the population (low proportion of employment interruptions/inactivity spells in work- ing life) is advantageous for financial sustainability of social security systems. This situation is characteristic of Scandinavian countries. France (FR), Greece (EL), Ireland (IE), Italy (IT)

Countries: Austria (AT), Belgium (BE), Denmark (DK), Finland (FI), France (FR), Greece (EL), Ireland (IE), Italy (IT), Luxembourg (LU), Netherlands (NL), Spain (ES), Sweden (SE), United Kingdom (UK)

In a historical perspective, the question is whether the growth of part-time work has restricted or increased the growth of social security expenditure. In the Netherlands, with its high part-time rates, part-time work for women has certainly improved the sustainability of the existing social security systems. It has to be taken into account that the Dutch welfare state - which has elements of the Scandinavian, citizen-based welfare state type - provides some health treatment (AWBZ system) and a basic pension (AOW and AnW) for all citizens. These benefits are financed by taxlike contributions on the taxable income of employees. Residents without taxable income have the same rights to benefits within these systems as tax-payers. Women taking up (part-time) employment started to pay social security contributions for some of the (basic) benefits they could have claimed anyway. Other segments of the statutory healthcare system cover employees and allow people to opt out when they earn more than a certain income threshold (in 2002, about €30,700 per year); many part-time workers do not have this option to change to a private health insurance. As far as the second pillar of the pension system is concerned, it is regulated by collective agreements and covers about 90% of the working population (VDR, 2003). Although most Dutch people with part-time jobs are covered, they usually cannot build up claims to the same extent as full-time workers. Due to the so-called franchise system, by which fictitious amounts of AOW claims are taken into account in the second pillar system, they usually do not achieve the same replacement rates. From the perspective of the second pillar system, this makes their pension cheaper in relation to their (former) wages.

The rising number of (part-time) working women and their growing financial independence also allowed the Dutch government to reform survivor's pensions. The new AnW system, implemented in 1996, restricted survivor's pensions to limited groups, such as disabled survivors or widows with children who were still minors, thereby limiting the expenditure for this branch of social security.

In Germany's healthcare and pension system, generous derived rights can be claimed by inactive spouses. The increase of part-time workers has thus led to savings in the field of derived benefits, as it has in the past. However, this has not yet led to a general legal reduction of derived rights. Nonetheless, as a result of the pension reform of 2001, personal income will restrict survivor's pension claims much more than before. The new regulation will lead to savings in the survivors' system at the expense of women with even low labour market income or pension claims.

A special problem in Germany is small part-time jobs ('mini-jobs' earning up to €400 per month and 'midi-jobs' earning up to €800 per month). Special regulations and significantly reduced rates for taxation and social security contributions apply to these. This kind of part-time work has not led to any financial relief for the German welfare state. The financial burden on the social insurance concerned (healthcare and pension system) is not that people can claim more than proportional personal benefits for their contributions; rather, the burden results from the fact that small part-time jobs (in the majority of cases, work carried out by married women) are only made possible because of large subsidies for one-earner and 1.5-earner families through the system of joint income taxation and derived social security rights. In this respect, the option to work for a few hours only, as well as the option not to work (in particular life phases or family forms), are just different examples of decommodification through the tax and social security system.

In the UK, the significance of small part-time jobs (for women) is similar to the situation in Germany. As far as the impact of part-time work on the financing of social security is concerned,

however, there are considerable differences between both countries. In the field of healthcare, the British situation resembles that of the Netherlands since the National Health Service (NHS) provides (basic) health treatment for the whole population. Unlike the Dutch AWBZ, the British NHS is tax-financed. A replacement of inactivity by part-time work has no impact on the number of people who can claim medical treatment, but it strengthens the financial basis for the system, provided that taxes are paid on the part-time salary. This depends on the level of income and the household structure. The tax burden of families with low household income has been reduced considerably by a subsidy introduced in 1999 called the Working Families Tax Credit (WFTC). The intention of this subsidy was to give families incentives to take up a job, even a low paid part-time job, and to reduce their dependency on social assistance benefits. Given this political strategy, the significance of part-time jobs for the sustainability of social protection might be higher for the social assistance scheme (income support) than for the health system.

The second field of the British welfare state is social security, comprising the protection of risks such as old age, survivors, unemployment, cash benefits for maternity, and illness and occupational diseases. This system is partly financed by a global social security contribution related to the employee's wage and partly by taxes. Currently, the employee pays 10% of contributions in the wage bracket between  $\in$ 139 per week (GBP £87) and  $\in$ 918 per week (GBP £575), and the employer pays an additional 11.9% without an upper earnings limit. The rate is reduced for people covered by certain occupational pension systems ('contracting-out'). It follows that the contribution burden for employees (as a proportion of their income) is highest for people earning about  $\in$ 918 per week (upper earnings limit), whereas people with lower (and higher) income contribute less than proportional to the system. Whether or not a growing number of parttime jobs leads to additional financial pressure for the social security system can only be estimated if one looks at the benefits side (see below).

The British system of social security provides three kinds of benefits: contributory benefits, noncontributory benefits and means-tested benefits. Only the first category is financed by contributions; the other two are tax-financed. As far as the contributory benefits are concerned, part-time workers with wages above the lower earnings limit profit more than proportionally from the unemployment system, where flat-rate benefits are paid irrespective of the former level of income and contributions. In the contributory part of the pension system, they can also profit from several regulations. The full amount of the Basic State Pension/Category A Retirement Pension, for example, is paid when 90% of one's working life is covered by 'qualifying years', irrespective of the amount of contributions paid into the system during these years. In addition, the new State Second Pension (the new version of SERPS) particularly favours people with low labour market income. While the increase in female employment, combined with the regulations mentioned, will lead to a higher proportion of women qualifying for their own insurance-based pension, there will be a parallel reduction in citizens dependent on non-contributory benefits (e.g. the Category B Retirement Pension for spouses with insufficient pension income, or the Category D Retirement Pension for needy people, aged 80 years and older). It can, therefore, be concluded that direct contributory social security benefits for part-time workers are higher than their financial contribution to the system, but at the same time this will reduce the expenditure for noncontributory or means-tested benefits.

In insurance systems with a strong correlation between contributions and benefits, the financial balance of the system is not influenced by the increase of part-time work. In particular, this is the

case in pension systems where pension formulas take into account the life-time (insured) income. In pension systems where the pension formula only takes into account the income level of a limited number of insured years (e.g. the last 15 years as in Spain, or the best 25 years as in France), part-time work can influence the sustainability of the system. When only the best years are counted (as in France), people with a mixed full-time/part-time biography can profit. However, the European pension reforms of the 1990s show a clear tendency to extend reference periods and to restrict redistributive measures from which part-timers used to profit (Klammer and Rolf, 1998). Examples of this trend can be seen in France, Italy and Sweden; in the latter two systems, the whole working biography now counts for the calculation of the pension.

This is the same in Germany. However, two integrated part-time options in Germany need to be mentioned:

- Part-time work for parents of children below the age of 10 years. These periods are taken into account as if they had been full-time periods; the additional costs are tax-financed (VAT, Eco-Tax) and are therefore financed by all tax-payers/citizens. A rise in part-time work of mothers (parents), therefore, requires higher tax subsidies to the pension system some decades later (when the insured parents retire). Yet, this increase in own pension rights of mothers will lead to a decrease of expenditure in the field of derived (widows') pensions, meaning that a part of the increase in expenditure is compensated.
- Partial/phased retirement. In this case, additional contributions are paid by the employer, but reimbursed by the National Labour Agency (through tax money) if the employer replaces the old worker with a young unemployed worker. This scheme, which is in fact used as an early retirement scheme, increases the expenditure of the National Labour Agency, but brings some relief for unemployment insurance. Employers, too, have additional costs, but at the same time this scheme gives them some flexibility to adjust personnel.

Summing up these findings, it can be said that, in many systems, or sub-systems, of social security, part-time workers can claim more than proportional benefits for their contributions, compared with full-time workers. This is particularly the case in citizen-based systems (e.g. in healthcare systems), but also in contribution-based social security insurance (e.g. pension systems that provide contributory minimum pensions). In a historical perspective, however, the rise in part-time work has helped to stabilise the existing social security systems. Since part-time work has mainly replaced inactivity, the proportion of the population contributing to the social security systems has actually risen. In addition, part-time workers are building up new individual claims and this reduces expenditure for derived or means-tested benefits.

Table 16 summarises the main results of the preceding analysis.

Working time option/ arrangement or status	Expenditure and impact on financing of social security systems	Possible effects and problems, with country examples
arrangement or status Regular/long part-time work	social security systems In absolute terms, part-time workers, on average, pay lower social security contributions and taxes and, therefore, contribute less to the social security budgets than the average full-time worker. The benefits they can claim, however, are usually at least proportional to their financial contribution to the system. In systems with redistributional elements (e.g. universal or basic benefits, or targeted subsidies for special groups of part-time workers or people with low income, as in DE, FR), they can claim more than proportional benefits and achieve a better return on investment than average full- time workers. In the universal schemes (Scandinavian countries), this is the logical conse- quence of benefits based on citizenship. In countries with minimum benefits (e.g. liberal countries), it follows logically from the aim to prevent poverty.	country examples It could be assumed that the rise of part-time work would cause additional problems for the financial sustainability of social security systems (see left). If a considerable number of existing full-time jobs were replaced by part-time jobs, this would cause financial problems (e.g. within PAYG (pay-as-you-go) pension insurance systems, where, after the shift towards part- time work, the present claims of former full-time workers would have to be financed by the (lower) contributions of present part-time workers). Mixed full-time/part-time work biographies can increase the financial pressure on pension systems when pension claims are based on a limited number of best years (as in FR). However, recent pension reforms have shown a trend to diminish these redistributive elements in favour of part-timers. From a historical perspective, however, the rise of part- time work has improved the financial sustainability of most social security systems because part-time work
	Targeted schemes for special groups of part-time workers (e.g. in DE, parents with children below 10 years, elderly workers in partial retirement) cause extra public expenditure, either tax-financed or contribution-financed.	(of women) has mainly replaced inactivity, not full-time work. This trend decreases the expenditure on, and the need for, derived benefits and increases taxes and social security payments (examples: NL, DE).
Marginal/short part-time work	In some countries (e.g. FR, PT), access to social security does not depend on minimum job requirements; in other countries (e.g. DE, UK), access for people with marginal jobs is limited or impossible. Where small jobs with low income are integrated, public subsidies to social contributions have become widespread (e.g. FR, NL). In countries where people with small part-time jobs do not get direct access to social protection, direct public expenditure is not influenced by the (growing) number of marginal jobs, but there is a cross-financing, in particular through derived benefits and social assistance.	

#### Table 16 Part-time work and impact on financing of social security systems

Countries: Austria (AT), Belgium (BE), Denmark (DK), Finland (FI), France (FR), Greece (EL), Ireland (IE), Italy (IT), Luxembourg (LU), Netherlands (NL), Portugal (PT), Spain (ES), Sweden (SE), United Kingdom (UK)

#### Flexible distribution of working time

An interesting, but complex, field is the impact of working time accounts on the financial resources of social security systems. Since comparative research on this topic is still non-existent and since working time accounts are most widespread in Germany, the following explorative analysis is restricted to that country. The German case can illustrate the relevant aspects and complexity of the topic (see also Ebert, 2002), and can serve as a model for future research.

The way in which working time accounts influence the financing of the German social security system depends on:

- the kind of working time account (short-term, long-term or lifetime account). It is also important whether one regards the phase where credits are built up or the phase where they are dissolved. In addition, how the working time credit is used is relevant (whether as cash payments by the employer, sabbaticals, occupational pensions, or loss of credits);
- the orientation of the accounts and their impact on aggregate factors. It is important whether the working time in total goes up or down, and whether the wage quota increases or decreases;
- the varying impact for different branches of social security.

Given these relationships, the following aspects seem particularly important:

- Working time accounts tend to have a negative impact on the financing and sustainability of social insurance systems when they are used to prolong working hours and to reduce personnel, or when they lead to a decrease of the total wage sum. In the current German situation, there is a high probability that working time accounts are used in this way and the financing of social security, therefore, becomes even more difficult. Working time accounts that are used to reduce overtime would have the opposite effect. In the phase when working time credits are built up, the general tendency is towards a reduction of personnel (on the whole) and an increase in social security contributions. Ebert (2002) concludes, therefore, that long-term working time accounts are usually counter-productive in terms of the financing of social security.
- The impact of working times in the phase when the credit is used is multiple and depends on how the credit is used. From the perspective of social insurance systems, sabbaticals are the ideal option to use up working time credits. In this case, social security contributions have to be paid during the sabbatical and, if substitutes are employed for this period, they too have to pay contributions. Cash payments by the employer in exchange for working time credits are a kind of second best solution because they also mean that taxes and social security contributions have to be paid out of these payments. This, however, only reduces the financial pressure on health and care insurance. What is negative from the perspective of social security systems is the fact that, today, many time credits simply get lost. This leads to losses in taxes and social security contributions. Since the implementation of the fourth law for the introduction of the euro (4. *Euro-Einführungsgesetz*) in 2000, an additional option offered is to enable the employee to use working time credits for an occupational pension system (e.g. to retire earlier or to receive a higher pension). Again, in this case, social insurance systems lose contributions. Ebert (2002), therefore, sharply criticises this way of using up working time credits, and also because of adverse selection problems.

As far as the sub-system of social security is concerned, the following general rules apply. For statutory pension insurance, it is the number of employees that counts: with a growing number of employees, there is a tendency towards decreasing contribution rates and vice versa. The average wage and the total sum of wages, on the contrary, are practically irrelevant to the financial balance of the system. Within unemployment insurance (another branch of social security with dynamic cash benefits), the relevance of the different factors is similar, but the level of adjustment in both directions is even larger, due to the fact that changes in the number of people in employment/unemployment directly influence the amount of benefits to be paid. When companies use working time accounts to reduce their personnel, this produces financial pressure on the systems; contribution rates are likely to rise. In social security branches that mainly offer services and benefits-in-kind (healthcare and care systems), the expenditure side is hardly influenced by the factors mentioned. Changes in the total sum of wages are relevant; contribution rates are likely to changes of this indicator.

It can be concluded that long-term working time accounts in Germany, in most cases, have a negative impact on the financing and sustainability of social insurance systems. In phases of an imbalanced labour market and a shortage of labour demand, they hinder the progress of a general working time reduction and an interpersonal redistribution of paid labour. In the long term, due to demographic developments, it is not realistic to suppose that working time credits will be used for breaks or free time. If this assumption is true, there is not only a negative impact on the financing of social security systems in the short term, but also in the long term. In addition, the new option of saving for early retirement is contradicting European endeavours to increase the employment rate of elderly people and the actual retirement age.

Without doubt, long-term working time accounts can be an interesting means of distributing working time over working life. However, from the perspective of social insurance systems, working time accounts (like some other forms of reduced and more flexible employment) are an example of the trend of companies to externalise expenditure, thereby creating new problems for the financial sustainability of social security systems.

Table 17 summarises the main results of the preceding analysis.

Working time option/ arrangement or status	Expenditure and impact on financing of social security systems	Possible effects and problems, with country examples
	The collections between flexible condition time.	
Working time	The relations between flexible working time	Working time arrangements have a high potential for
accounts, time banks, annualised hours	models and social security systems are complex, particularly in the case of long-term working time	a more flexible distribution of time over the life course and can be advantageous for both employers and
annualised nours		employees. They can also contribute to the financial
	depends on the specific welfare state regime;	stability of social security systems, e.g. when used to
	their actual impact is still not high in most	reduce overtime.
	countries, due to low coverage to date.	
	countries, due to low coverage to date.	An analysis of the situation in Germany concludes,
	In DE (where coverage of working time arrange-	however, that long-term working time accounts today,
	ments is already 40%), their impact on financing	in most cases, have a negative impact on the financing
	of social security mainly depends on:	and sustainability of social insurance systems. In phases
	<ul> <li>the kind of working time account (short-term,</li> </ul>	of an imbalanced labour market and a shortage of
	long-term or lifetime account);	labour demand, they hinder the progress of a general
	<ul> <li>the impact of working time arrangements on</li> </ul>	working time reduction and an interpersonal
	aggregate factors, e.g. working time, wage	redistribution of paid labour.
	quota;	
	<ul> <li>the social security branch under consideration.</li> </ul>	Other problems are that working time credits quite
		often get lost or are used to retire earlier or to receive
	Working time accounts tend to have a negative	a higher occupational pension. In these cases, no socia
	impact on financing and sustainability of social	security contributions are paid into the social insurance
	insurance systems when they are used to prolong	systems. This tends to increase the financial pressure
	working hours and to reduce personnel, or when	on these systems, in particular on unemployment
	they lead to a decrease of the total wage sum.	insurance, followed by pension insurance.
	In the period when time credits are used up,	
	sabbaticals are ideal to improve the financial	
	situation of the social insurance systems, followed	
	by cash benefits in exchange for working time.	
	However, when time credits get lost or are con-	
	verted into (additional) occupational pension	
	claims or early retirement, social security contribu-	
	tions (or taxes) to the general social security	
	system are not being paid.	

### Table 17 Flexible distribution of working time and impact on financing of social security systems

Source: Authors' analysis

Countries: Austria (AT), Belgium (BE), Denmark (DK), Finland (FI), France (FR), Greece (EL), Ireland (IE), Italy (IT), Luxembourg (LU), Netherlands (NL), Spain (ES), Sweden (SE), United Kingdom (UK)

# Adapting social security to flexible life courses

An investigation of the relationships between time options over the life course and social security has to examine a triangle and the mutual influences between a) the welfare state regime, b) the broad range of possible time options/arrangements, and c) the implications of different time options/arrangements on social security in a certain regime type (see Figure 1). This is because different time options/arrangements can have different implications for the individual's social security protection, but also for the welfare system itself and its financial sustainability.

#### Summary

As the macro analysis in Chapter 1 has made obvious, the common welfare state typology is a useful tool to analyse the labour market integration of men and women over the life course. The four welfare state regimes reveal significant differences in this regard: while a high labour market integration of both sexes over the whole life course is typical for the Scandinavian regime, all of the three other regime types still show strongly gendered patterns. The conservative countries show the most obvious concentration of working time (on prime-age men), while, in the liberal countries, younger groups are better integrated into the labour market. The Mediterranean countries show a bifurcation of women's labour market integration: due to the lack of part-time work, women work either full time or are inactive in the labour market.

It has been shown that part of the cross-regime disparities can obviously be ascribed to institutional factors, although different mechanisms are at work here. In the Scandinavian countries, a range of leave options with income replacement benefits, high coverage of childcare, combined with universal benefits and an individualised tax system, seem to encourage and enable people to establish a long-lasting contact with the labour market. The low level of decommodification in the liberal welfare states, and the resulting necessity to be active in the labour market, leads to some similar patterns in these countries. The high concentration of working time on prime-age men in most 'conservative' countries reflects the fact that not only leave options have an impact on actual time arrangements and time use. So, too, do underlying gender and age models that are directly and indirectly shaped and reinforced by, among other things, taxation systems, the role of individual and derived rights, eligibility criteria for social security benefits and the availability of public services to cover care needs.

The analysis in Chapter 3 of time options/arrangements and their impact on the individual's social protection has shown that one has to differentiate between interruptions of the working career, part-time work and systems that allow a flexible distribution of working time. Interruptions of working life are not always a matter of choice: unemployment is increasingly becoming part of working biographies in many European countries. Although unemployment is still one of the best-covered social risks, existing social security systems differ greatly with regard to access to unemployment schemes, eligibility and re-eligibility criteria, duration of benefits and income replacement rate of benefits. Deficits in social protection mainly occur in the case of long-term unemployment in later stages of life by cash benefits. For the future development of one's career, access to active labour market programmes plays a decisive role. Deficits in pension income mainly occur in occupational pension systems. This particularly affects pensioners in those countries where second pillar systems are of relatively high significance (as in the UK).

Most countries to date offer some leave schemes, at least for maternity leave. The right to take leave, however, is often not used when no benefits or only low flat-rate benefits are paid. In fact, many existing parental leave schemes in EU countries do not provide cash benefits (except for Sweden, where parental leave is accompanied by income-related cash benefits). In the case of care for elderly people – a field of growing importance – the options are even more limited, and most countries (with the exception of Sweden and the Netherlands) do not even have a right to take eldercare leave. For all leave systems, a second important aspect from the life course perspective is the question of whether employment security (the right to return to the former employer) is given. If this is not granted (as in the French parental leave scheme), a period of leave can turn out to be a trap for one's future career.

Schemes for sabbaticals or training leave (as in the Netherlands or Germany) are often based on a redistribution of time and money by the leave-taker. This gives people some time options and the continuation of the work contract has the advantage that access to existing branches of social security is usually granted. If these time-saving systems are used for care work (e.g. of elderly people) or other socially useful activities, however, it has to be asked whether there should not be some collective support for this. So far, the state contributes to these schemes through the income tax system only; a highly progressive tax rate can help to make these schemes more attractive.

The latter also holds true for part-time work. Part-time workers (as well as full-time workers with low income) can profit from redistributive elements in many social security systems and often receive more than proportional benefits, compared with people working full time. In some countries, there are additional targeted subsidies for special groups of part-time workers (e.g. in Germany, for parents working part time or elderly workers in partial retirement). However, the take-up of part-time work still contains an additional risk of poverty, particularly in countries with social insurance systems oriented towards the principle of equivalence. From a life course perspective, the total duration of periods of part-time work is a decisive factor (e.g. for later pension claims). Special social risks are connected with marginal part-time jobs. Although a general definition is missing in this field, in some countries (e.g. Germany, Sweden and UK), people with short working hours or income from work below certain thresholds have no, or only limited, access to social security. Again, the decisive question for people's social security protection over the life course is whether marginal part-time jobs only have a minor weight in one's employment career (e.g. in the entrance phase) or whether one becomes trapped in such jobs.

Working time schemes that allow a flexible distribution of time over a longer period of time (such as working time accounts) can help individuals to organise time over the life course according to their needs. As far as social security protection is concerned, however, long-term schemes contain some risks. One serious shortcoming is that many time credits, to date, are not insured against the insolvency of the employer.

Independent of existing rights to interrupt working life or to adjust the number of working hours, the general finding is that universalistic and individualised social security schemes (e.g. healthcare systems or pension systems based on citizenship, rather than on the individual work record) give people some freedom to make use of different time schemes and options offered. In this respect, the Scandinavian countries and the Netherlands provide a better institutional background for a flexible distribution of time over the life course than some of the continental/conservative countries.

In fact, the latter group of countries do supply some mechanisms that can help people to choose different time arrangements in the household. The systems of income taxation and derived rights to social security give married partners certain opportunities to choose their preferred working time arrangement and to adjust it over time. However, this approach can be criticised for several reasons – mainly because it reinforces the traditional breadwinner gender model, but also because it restricts choice to a certain subgroup of the population (spouses), whereas young people, single people or single parents do not have the same range of choice. The German system of joint taxation of spouses, with very high marginal tax rates for the second earner, for example, can be assumed to have a considerable influence not only on the labour supply of married women, but also on the time allocation within the family. Decisions early in the life course in this field (such as when children are born) often have an impact on the whole future life course of partners (particularly women).

Different time options and their take-up also have an impact on the expenditure and financial sustainability of social security systems. In principle, all kinds of leave schemes that provide cash benefits (and/or other benefits, such as access to training measures) cause direct social expenditure. However, so far, leave schemes have not contributed much to the financial crisis of most welfare states. Firstly, many leave schemes (e.g. several European parental leave schemes) are unpaid. Secondly, from the available data, many schemes have had low take-up rates until recently (e.g. sabbatical leave schemes). Thirdly, due to demographic change and low fertility, maternity leave (the best paid leave scheme in a cross-country comparison) plays a minor role financially, compared with other social security systems (such as old age pensions). Finally, public expenditure; the Danish job rotation programmes, where an employee's training leave is combined with employment chances for unemployed people, served as an example of this.

Other kinds of work interruption, particularly unemployment and inactivity (meaning 'not active in the labour market'), threaten the financial sustainability of many social security systems to a much greater degree. Unemployment causes public expenditure and the loss of social security contributions and taxes on many levels, particularly in countries with high unemployment (e.g. Spain) and in countries that provide long-term and high cash benefits (e.g. the conservative and Scandinavian countries). Inactivity rates have gone down and should go down further, according to European targets. However, inactivity (in particular the inactivity of spouses) still induces high collective costs, mainly in countries that still support a breadwinner-type model (e.g. Germany). In the Scandinavian countries, inactivity is much lower.

One might assume that the rise of part-time jobs would endanger the financial basis of social security since part-time workers in absolute terms pay less into the social security system, while being capable of claiming more than proportional benefits, compared with full-time workers. In a historical perspective, however, this hypothesis does not hold true since part-time work has mainly replaced the inactivity of women, who already had access either to universal or to derived benefits. As far as small or marginal part-time work is concerned, some countries (e.g. France and the Netherlands) collectively support these jobs by reduced contribution rates or benefits that are more than proportional. In countries where small jobs do not give (full) access to social protection, costs nevertheless arise indirectly, for example, when social assistance or minimum pensions have to be paid. In fact, social costs depend on the level of distribution or (lifetime) concentration of such jobs among the population. From the perspective of the financial sustainability of welfare states, an

even distribution of working time among the whole population and a low concentration of poor quality jobs is a desirable goal.

Long-term working time accounts can help employees to adjust their time over the life course. Such accounts can also be advantageous for employers. As far as the financial impact on social security systems is concerned, however, the analysis comes to a more pessimistic result. In theory, working time accounts can help to reduce overtime and redistribute working time more evenly among the population, with positive effects for the financing of social security. In Germany, however, where working time accounts are most widespread, they currently do not contribute to a more equal distribution of working time and money among the population, but rather decrease the financial basis for the social security system and, therefore, tend to increase the financial pressures of the system.

#### **Policy implications**

As far as social security is concerned, the challenge to be met in the context of a new, more flexible organisation of time over the life course can be described as finding a new balance between commodification and decommodification, to use the terminology of Esping-Andersen (1990).

Commodification in this sense means that help for integration, or reintegration, in the labour market has to be offered. This can include assistance at the beginning of one's working life, after periods out of the labour market or after periods of reduced or precarious labour market participation (e.g. for people who interrupt paid work for unpaid care work or for those who become unemployed). It can also include support for mobility (regional mobility, job mobility) in case of job changes. The topic of commodification has been much promoted recently by the shift towards an active welfare state. However, in spite of the general trend towards activation, countries differ greatly in the degree and targeting of the help offered, as well as in the level of coercion they exercise.

Decommodification, in contrast, means independence from the labour market through the right to leave the labour market in certain situations and life phases, and in particular, through financial support for these phases. This has not been made superfluous by the shift towards the active welfare state. On the contrary, there is a need to rethink and redefine under what circumstances and for which phases people are not expected to gain their living through work, and how these periods (before, during and after the potentially active phase) can be covered.

Preparing and empowering people with regard to flexible time arrangements over the life course includes protection against unacceptable flexibility, as well as empowerment for desired flexibility. Among the key questions to be tackled in the policy arena are the following:

- How can continuity in working life be supported and involuntary discontinuity be avoided?
  - How can risks and insecurities that might be connected with certain types of atypical jobs (e.g. fixed-term contracts, small part-time jobs), as well as involuntary interruptions of the work biography and career breaks, be minimised?
  - How can dead-end roads be prevented and upward mobility supported?
  - How can training and lifelong learning contribute to employability throughout working life?
  - How can working conditions be improved in a way that occupational diseases are avoided and the legal retirement age can be reached or even postponed?

- How can desired flexibility and discontinuity in terms of time use be enabled?
  - What options should be regulated to allow people to adjust their working time according to their needs and preferences in different phases of their lives?
  - How can the wishes of employers and employees regarding flexibility of working times be reconciled?
- *How can transitions be supported?* 
  - What kind of help should be provided to master transitions in working life?
  - How can people be empowered to actively face and manage risks connected to different time arrangements and employment interruptions?
- How can a 'decompression' of working time be achieved?
  - How can the trend towards a compression of the working biography at both ends be reversed to give room for different time needs during working life?
  - How can the entrance and exit phases of working life be remodelled through social security schemes?
- How can cash benefits and other forms of financial support be reallocated?
  - What new questions concerning intertemporal and interpersonal redistribution of money arise from new time arrangements over the life course, and how should they be solved?
  - What interruptions in the work biography should be covered by collectively financed cash benefits?
  - How can decent pension claims be achieved by people with discontinuous working biographies?
  - How can the transferability of claims (e.g. occupational pension claims) be improved for people with discontinuous careers?

These fields of action can be regarded as crucial for social policy in the context of a reorganisation of time over the life course.

### Bibliography

- Albrecht, J.W., Edin, P.E., Sundström, M. and Vroman, S.B., 'Career interruptions and subsequent earnings: A re-examination using Swedish data', *Journal of Human Resources*, Vol. 34, No. 2, 1998, pp. 294–311.
- Anxo, D. 'Working time patterns among industrialised countries: A household perspective', in *Working time and workers' preferences in industrialised countries: Finding the balance* Jon C. Messenger (ed), Routledge, London, 2004, pp. 60–107.
- Anxo, D. and O'Reilly, J., 'Working time regimes and transitions in a comparative perspective', in *Working time changes: Social integration through transitional labour market*, J. O'Reilly, M. Lallement and I. Cebrián (eds), Edward Elgar, Cheltenham, 2000.
- Anxo, D. and O'Reilly, J., 'Working time transitions and transitional labour markets', in *The dynamic of full employment: Social integration by transitional labour markets*, G. Schmid and B. Gazier (eds), Edward Elgar, Cheltenham, 2002.
- Arbeidsinspectie, Voorjaarsrapportage Cao-afspraken 2002, Ministerie van Sociale Zaken en Werkgelegenheid, Den Haag, 2002.
- Barbier, J.-C., 'Precariousness' of employment: Linguistic and conceptual differences, political discourse and academic debate in five countries, Paris, 2002.
- Barthèlémy, J. and Cette, G., 'Le développement du temps vraiment choisi', *Droit social*, February 2002.
- Bettio, F. and Villa, P., 'A Mediterranean perspective on the breakdown of the relationship between participation and fertility', *Cambridge Journal of Economics*, Vol. 22, No. 2, 1998, pp. 137–171.
- BMGS (Bundesministerium für Gesundheit und Soziale Sicherung), Sozial-Kompass Europa. Soziale Sicherheit in Europa im Vergleich, BMGS, Bonn, 2003.
- Cebrián, I., Davia, M.A., Hernanz, V. and Moreno, G., 'Flexibility in the Spanish labour market: Working time and temporary employment', in *Regulating working time transitions in Europe*, J. O'Reilly *et al* (eds), Edward Elgar, Cheltenham, 2003.
- Cully, M., Woodland, S., O'Reilly, J. and Dix, G., Britain at work as depicted by the 1998 Workplace Employee Relations Survey, Routledge, London, 1999.
- Den Dulk, L., Work–Family arrangements in organisations: A cross-national study in the Netherlands, Italy, the United Kingdom and Sweden, Thela-Thesis, 2001.
- Den Dulk, L., Doorne-Huiskes, A. and Schippers, J. (eds), *Work–Family arrangements in Europe*, Netherlands School for Social and Economic Policy Research, Thela-Thesis, 1999.
- Deutscher Bundestag, Bericht der Bundesregierung zur Berufs- und Einkommenssituation von Frauen und Männern, Bundestags-Drucksache 14/8952, Berlin, 2002.
- Dingeldey, I., 'Einkommensteuersysteme und familiale Erwerbsmuster im europäischen Vergleich', in Erwerbstätigkeit und Familie in Steuer- und Sozialversicherungssystemen. Begünstigungen und Belastungen verschiedener familialer Erwerbsmuster im Ländervergleich, I. Dingeldey (ed.), Leske und Budrich, Opladen, 2000a, pp. 11–47.
- Dingeldey, I., 'International comparison of tax systems and their impact on the work–family balancing', in *Thematic network, working and mothering: Social practices and social policies, available provision and policy deficits,* 4th Report to the European Commission, Paris/Frankfurt, 2000b, pp. 105–129.
- Dingeldey, I., 'Das deutsche System der Ehegattenbesteuerung im europäischen Vergleich', WSI-Mitteilungen, 3, 2002, pp. 154–160.
- DIW (Deutsches Institut für Wirtschaftsforschung), 'Ehegattensplitting nicht mehr zeitgemäß', *DIW-Wochenbericht*, 40/99, 1999a, pp. 713–723.
- DIW (Deutsches Institut für Wirtschaftsforschung), Alternativen zur Ehegattenbesteuerung aus verfassungsrechtlicher, steuersystematischer und ökonomischer Sicht, Gutachten des DIW und

des Instituts für Steuerrecht der Westfälischen Wilhelms-Universität Münster im Auftrag der Hans-Böckler-Stiftung, Berlin/Münster, 1999b.

- Düll, N., Defining and assessing precarious employment in Europe: A review of main studies and services, ESOPE Project, Deliverable 1, Munich, 2002.
- Ebert, T., *Langfrist-Arbeitszeitkonten und Sozialversicherung*, Edition der Hans-Böckler-Stiftung 66, Düsseldorf, 2002.
- EIROnline, Annualised hours in Europe, European Industrial Relations Observatory (EIRO), 2003. Available at: http://www.eiro.eurofound.eu.int/2003/08/study.
- Esping-Andersen, G., The three worlds of welfare capitalism, Cambridge, 1990.
- European Commission, *The Stockholm and Barcelona targets: Increasing employment of older workers and delaying the exit from the labour market,* Commission Staff Working Paper, SEC 429, Brussels, 2003a.
- European Commission, *Employment in Europe 2002*, Office for Official Publications of the European Communities, Luxembourg, 2003b.
- European Commission, *Employment in Europe 2003*. *Recent trends and prospects*, Office for Official Publications of the European Communities, Luxembourg, 2003c.
- European Commission, Social protection in the EU Member States and the European Economic Area. Situation on 1 January 2003 and developments, 2003d. Available on MISSOC website: www.europa.eu.int/comm/employment\_social/missoc/index\_en.html
- European Foundation for the Improvement of Living and Working Conditions, *Working time developments and the quality of work*, European Industrial Relations Observatory (EIRO), 2001. Available at: http://www.eiro.eurofound.eu.int/2001/11/study/index2.html.
- European Foundation for the Improvement of Living and Working Conditions (ed.), *Reconciliation* of work and family and collective bargaining, European Industrial Relations Observatory (EIRO), 2001a. Available at: http://www.eiro.eurofound.eu.int/other\_reports/ work\_family\_ life.pdf
- European Foundation for the Improvement of Living and Working Conditions (ed.), *Lifelong learning and collective bargaining*, European Industrial Relations Observatory (EIRO), 2001b. Available at: http://www.eiro.eurofound.eu.int/other\_reports/lifelong\_learning.pdf
- Fagan, C., Working time preferences and work–life balance in the EU: Some policy considerations for enhancing the quality of life, European Foundation for the Improvement of Living and Working Conditions, Office for Official Publications of the European Communities, Luxembourg, 2003.
- Glick, P.C., 'The family cycle', American Sociological Review, Vol. 12, Issue 2, 1947, pp. 164–174.
- Glick, P.C., 'Updating the life cycle of the family', *Journal of Marriage and the Family*, Vol. 39, No. 1, 1987, pp. 5–13.
- Gustafsson, S., 'Separate taxation and married women's labour supply: A comparison of West Germany and Sweden', *Journal of Population Economics*, Vol. 5, 1992, pp. 61–85.
- Haas, L. and Hwang, P., 'Parental leave in Sweden', in *Parental leave: Progress or pitfall?*, P. Moss and F. Deven (eds), Netherlands Interdisciplinary Demographic Institute, The Hague, 1999.
- Klammer, U. and Daly, M., 'Die Beteiligung von Frauen an europäischen Arbeitsmärkten', in *Erwerbstätige Mütter. Ein europäischer Vergleich*, U. Gerhard, T. Knijn and A. Weckwert (eds), Beck, München, 2003, pp. 193–217.
- Klammer, U. and Klenner, C., 'Geteilte Erwerbstätigkeit gemeinsame Fürsorge. Strategien und Perspektiven der Kombination von Erwerbs- und Familienleben in Deutschland', in Wohlfahrtsstaat und Geschlechterverhältnis im Umbruch. Was kommt nach dem Ernährermodell? Jahrbuch für Europan und Nordamerika-Studien 7, S. Leitner, I. Ostner and

M. Schratzenstaller (eds.), VS Verlag für Sozialwissenschaften, Wiesbaden, 2004, pp. 177–207.

- Klammer, U. and Rolf, G., 'Auf dem Weg zu einer gerechteren Alterssicherung? Rentenreformpolitik in Deutschland und Italien im Vergleich', *Zeitschrift für Sozialreform*, 11/12, 1998.
- Klammer, U. and Tillman, K., *Flexicurity Soziale Sicherung und Flexibilisierung der Arbeits- und Lebensverhältnisse*, Projektendbericht, Ministerium für Arbeit und Sozialies, Qualifikation und Technologie des Landes Nordhein-Westfalen, MASQT 1106, Düsseldorf, 2002.
- Klenner, Ch., Pfahl, S. and Reuyß, S., *Arbeitszeiten-Kinderzeiten-Familienzeiten. Bessere Vereinbarkeit durch Sabbaticals und Blockfreizeiten?*, Projektendbericht an das MASQT NRW, Düsseldorf, 2002. Available at: www.arbeitszeiten.nrw.de/pdf/sabbati2.pdf
- Koch, A. and Bäcker, G., 'Mit Mini- und Midi-Jobs aus der Arbeitslosigkeit? Die Neuregelungen zur Beschäftigungsförderung im unteren Einkommensbereich', *Sozialer Fortschritt*, Vol. 3, 2003, pp. 94–102.
- Koopmans, I. and Schippers, J.J., *Female employment and family formation: The institutional context*, Paper prepared for the joint meeting of MoCho, FENICS, CynSoc and AGIR, Brussels, 18–20 February 2003.
- Koopmans, I., Jaspers, T., Knijn, T. and Plantenga, J., Zorg in het huidige stelsel van sociale zekerheid en pensioenen. Een vergelijking tussen zes landen, De Graaff, Utrecht, 2003.
- Kooreman, P. and Wunderink, S., The economics of household behaviour, Macmillan, London, 1997.
- Madsen, K., 'The Danish model of "flexicurity": A paradise with some snakes', in *Labour market and social protection reforms in international perspective: Parallel or converging tracks?*, H. Sarfati and G. Bonoli (eds), International Social Security Association, Geneva, 2002.
- Mermet, E. and Gradev, G., *Collective bargaining in Europe, 2002*, European Trade Union Institute (ETUI), Brussels, 2003.
- Messenger, J.C. (ed.), Working time and workers' preferences in industrialised countries: Finding the balance, Routledge, London, 2004.
- Naegele, G., Barkholdt, C., De Vroom, B., Goul Andersen, J. and Krämer, K., *A new organisation of time over working life*, European Foundation for the Improvement of Living and Working Conditions, Office for Official Publications of the European Communities, Luxembourg, 2003.
- Nätti, J., 'Labour market policies and paid leave models: The cases of Belgium, Denmark and Finland', in *Lifetime working hours and new work organisation*, J.-Y. Boulin and R. Hoffman (eds.), European Trade Union Institute (ETUI), Brussels, 1999.
- Plantenga, J., 'Parental leave and equal opportunities An international comparison of tax systems and their impact on the work–family balancing', in *Thematic network, working and mothering: Social practices and social policies, available provision and policy deficits,* 4th Report to the European Commission, Paris/Frankfurt, 2000, pp. 196-206.
- Plantenga, J., 'The Netherlands', in *Part-time work in Europe*, M. Klein (ed.), Campus Verlag, Frankfurt/New York, 1997.
- Plantenga, J. and Koopmans, I., 'Freistellungsregelungen für Sorgearbeit und ihre praktische Bedeutung im internationalen Vergleich', *WSI-Mitteilungen*, Vol. 3, 2002, pp. 161–168.
- Portegijs, W., Boelens, A. and Keuzenkamp, S., *Emancipatiemonitor 2002*, Sociaal en Cultureel Planbureau, Den Haag, 2002.
- Schietinger, M., Insolvenzsicherung von Arbeitsguthaben: Rahmenbedingungen, Absicherungsmodelle, Entscheidungskriterien, Ministerium für Wirtschaft und Arbeit des Landes Nordrhein-Westfalen, Düsseldorf, 2003.

- Supiot, A., *Au-delà de l'emploi: Transformation du travail et devenir du droit du travail en Europe*, Report for the European Commission, Flammarion, Paris, 1998.
- Van Luijn, H. and Keuzenkamp, S., Werkt verlof? Gebruik van regelingen voor verlof en aanpassing van de arbeitdsduur, SCP, The Hague, 2004.
- VDR (Verband Deutscher Rentenversicherungsträger) (ed.), *Rentenversicherung im internationalen Vergleich 2003*, DRV-Schriften 45, Frankfurt am Main, 2003.
- Wonneberger, W., 'Das Gesetz zur sozialrechtlichen Absicherung flexibler Arbeitszeitregelungen', *DB*, Vol. 19, 1998, pp. 982–987.
- Ziefle, A., 'Die individuellen Kosten des Erziehungsurlaubs: Eine empirische Analyse der kurz- und längerfristigen Folgen für den Karriereverlauf von Frauen', *Kölner Zeitschrift für Soziologie und Sozialpsychologie*, Vol. 56, No. 2, 2004.

Appendix
Working time options in six European countries

	France	Germany	Netherlands	Spain	Sweden	UK
<ol> <li>Reduce/increase working hours</li> <li>Law, statutory arrangements</li> <li>Collective agreements at sector level</li> <li>Collective agreements at local level</li> <li>(companies/organisations)</li> </ol>	<ul> <li>right to ask for reduction</li> <li>yes</li> <li>yes</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>reduction yes</li> <li>reasons why</li> <li>yes</li> </ul>	<ul><li>both</li><li>yes</li><li>yes</li></ul>	<ul> <li>right to ask for reduction</li> <li>yes, but rare</li> <li>yes, but almost unused</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>only parents</li> <li>80 or 90% of legislation by CA</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>only parents: right to ask for reduction <sup>c</sup></li> <li>yes</li> </ul>
<ol> <li>Maternity leave</li> <li>Law, statutory arrangements</li> <li>Collective agreements at sector level</li> <li>Collective agreements at local level</li> <li>Companies/organisations)</li> </ol>	<ul><li>paid %</li><li>no</li><li>yes</li></ul>	<ul> <li>paid</li> <li>no</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>paid</li> <li>yes (8% of CAs <sup>e</sup>)</li> <li>yes (9% of firms)</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>paid</li> <li>yes, but not used</li> <li>yes, but not used</li> </ul>	paid % ª • possible • possible	<ul> <li>paid %</li> <li>yes, but rare</li> <li>yes</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>3 Paternity leave</li> <li>Law, statutory arrangements</li> <li>Collective agreements at sector level</li> <li>Collective agreements at local level</li> <li>(companies/organisations)</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>paid (%)</li> <li>yes</li> <li>yes</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>no</li> <li>yes</li> <li>no</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>paid</li> <li>yes (15% CAs)</li> <li>yes (6% of firms)</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>paid</li> <li>yes, but not used</li> <li>yes, but not used</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>paid %</li> <li>possible</li> <li>possible</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>paid %</li> <li>yes</li> <li>yes</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>4 Parental leave</li> <li>Law, statutory arrangements</li> <li>Collective agreements at sector level</li> <li>Collective agreements at local level</li> <li>Companies/organisations)</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>paid %</li> <li>?</li> <li>yes</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>paid %</li> <li>yes</li> <li>yes</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>unpaid</li> <li>yes (55% of CAs)</li> <li>yes (16% of firms)</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>unpaid</li> <li>possible, but rare</li> <li>yes, informal</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>paid %</li> <li>yes</li> <li>yes</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>unpaid</li> <li>?</li> <li>some have</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>5 Care leave         <ul> <li>Law, statutory arrangements</li> <li>Collective agreements at sector level</li> <li>Collective agreements at local level</li> <li>Companies/organisations)</li> </ul> </li> </ul>	<ul> <li>unpaid</li> <li>yes</li> <li>yes</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>paid % <sup>f</sup></li> <li>yes</li> <li>yes</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>paid %</li> <li>yes</li> <li>yes (26% of firms)</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>paid</li> <li>yes</li> <li>yes</li> </ul>	paid % • yes • yes	<ul><li>unpaid</li><li>no</li><li>some have</li></ul>
<ul> <li>6 Sabbaticals and career breaks         <ul> <li>Law, statutory arrangements</li> <li>Collective agreements at sector level</li> <li>Collective agreements at local level</li> <li>Companies/organisations)</li> </ul> </li> </ul>	<ul> <li>right to ask</li> <li>yes</li> <li>yes</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>unpaid</li> <li>yes, but rare</li> <li>yes, but rare</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>financial facility <sup>b</sup></li> <li>yes (35% of CAs)</li> <li>yes (15% of firms)</li> </ul>	• no • yes • yes	<ul> <li>12 municipalities</li> <li>yes</li> <li>yes</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>no</li> <li>no</li> <li>some have</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>7 Educational leave         <ul> <li>Law, statutory arrangements</li> <li>Collective agreements at sector level</li> <li>Collective agreements at local level</li> <li>Companies/organisations)</li> </ul> </li> </ul>	<ul> <li>paid %</li> <li>yes</li> <li>yes</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>most Länder</li> <li>yes</li> <li>yes</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>no (but see 9)</li> <li>yes</li> <li>yes</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>yes</li> <li>yes (public admin)</li> <li>yes</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>unpaid</li> <li>yes</li> </ul>	<ul><li>no</li><li>no</li><li>some have</li></ul>
	• yes • yes • yes	<ul> <li>yes <sup>9</sup></li> <li>yes (frequent)</li> <li>yes (frequent)</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>yes <sup>9</sup></li> <li>yes (53% of CAs)</li> <li>yes (64% of firms)</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>no</li> <li>yes, but not used</li> <li>yes, but not used</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>proposal (2002)</li> <li>yes</li> <li>yes</li> </ul>	оц оц оц
<ul> <li>Flexible retirement</li> <li>Law, statutory arrangements</li> <li>Collective agreements at sector level</li> <li>Collective agreements at local level (companies/organisations)</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>paid % <sup>9</sup></li> <li>yes</li> <li>yes</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>paid % <sup>9</sup></li> <li>yes</li> <li>yes (frequent)</li> </ul>	• no • yes • yes	<ul> <li>paid %</li> <li>yes</li> <li>yes, frequent</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>paid %</li> <li>yes</li> <li>yes</li> </ul>	ог о о о

## Legend:

% sign means that it is partially paid;

a = only companies with more than 14 employees;

 $^{b}$  = no legal right, but a financial arrangement;

<sup>c</sup> = parents of children under six years can apply for reduced working hours or flexible working hours; <sup>d</sup> = research in 2001 in the service sector (commercial and non-commercial) by Remery *et al* (2002);

<sup>e</sup> = figures on collective agreements (CAs) date from 2000 and present % of CAs with additions to/deviations from the law;

f = only if children are ill;

g = only a legal framework, no legal right.

European Foundation for the Improvement of Living and Working Conditions

#### Working time options over the life course: Changing social security structures

Luxembourg: Office for Official Publications of the European Communities

2005 – VIII, 88 p. – 21 x 29.7 cm

ISBN 92-897-0925-1

#### SALES AND SUBSCRIPTIONS

Publications for sale produced by the Office for Official Publications of the European Communities are available from our sales agents throughout the world.

#### How do I set about obtaining a publication?

Once you have obtained the list of sales agents, contact the sales agent of your choice and place your order.

#### How do I obtain the list of sales agents?

- Go to the Publications Office website http://publications.eu.int/
- Or apply for a paper copy by fax (352) 2929 42758

How can employees juggle better the conflicting time constraints which arise at the so-called 'rush hour of life' – time for having and raising children, caring for dependants, investing in lifelong learning, building a house and progressing in their career? With the Lisbon Agenda, the European Union has committed itself to a fundamental reform process, including a restructuring of its labour markets, social security systems and working time regimes. This report looks into the potential re-shaping of time, income and social security provision over an individual's life course. Its uses the model of the life course perspective – how to distribute time and income over the life course – to plot out various scenarios for re-distributing time in line with an individual's personal needs. The overall aim is to show how flexible time arrangements over the life course can lead to better individual quality of life – without impacting negatively on income level and social security benefits.

The European Foundation for the Improvement of Living and Working Conditions is a tripartite EU body, whose role is to provide key actors in social policymaking with findings, knowledge and advice drawn from comparative research. The Foundation was established in 1975 by Council Regulation EEC No. 1365/75 of 26 May 1975.





Publications.eu.int

**Publications Office**